
NOTICE OF ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
 
Notice is hereby given that the annual stockholders’ meeting of Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (the 
“Company”) will be conducted virtually via Event Link on Wednesday, June 8, 2022 at 10:00 
a.m. with the following agenda:  
 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

• The Chairman will call the meeting to order.  
 

II. Certification of Notice and Quorum 
 

• The Corporate Secretary will certify that notices of the meeting have been duly sent 
to the stockholders of record date as required by the By-Laws. He will also attest to 
the attendance at the meeting and whether a quorum is present. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, a quorum shall consist of stockholders owning majority of the 
outstanding capital stock (exclusive of treasury stock) participating in person, in 
absentia, or by proxy.  

 
III. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held last May 25, 2021 

 
• The Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held last 25 May 2021 will be 

submitted for approval.  
 
IV. President’s Report – Annual Sustainability Report 

 
• The President of the Company will give a report and provide the operational highlights 

of 2021. 
 

V. Ratification of the Acts, Resolutions and Proceedings of the Board of Directors and 
Officers up to June 8, 2022 

 
• For ratification of the stockholders are all acts of the Board of Directors and 

Management conducted in the ordinary course of the Company’s business.  
 

VI. Ratification of the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended Dec. 31, 2021 
 

• The 2021 Audited Financial Statements of the Company will be submitted for 
ratification of the stockholders.  

 
VII. Election of Directors (including independent directors) to serve for 2022-2023 

 
• The stockholders will approve the election of the regular and independent directors to 

hold office until the next Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and until their respective 
successors have been elected and qualified. The nominees were evaluated on the 
basis of all qualifications required by the Company’s By-Laws, Manual on Corporate 
Governance, and that no provision on disqualification would apply to them. 

 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Njg2N2E4ODAtNTc2YS00OTU5LWJmM2UtNDE3M2UzOTgyMDA4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22036b84b7-26b8-441d-87c1-f3590d3f2ed1%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2247d9798b-e65a-45bd-9371-7f2b4d448da6%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


VIII. Appointment of External Auditor  
 

• The stockholders will approve the appointment of  Isla Lipana & Co. as the Company’s 
external auditor.  

 
IX. Amendment of By-Laws to change the date of the annual stockholders’ meeting to 

June 8  
 

• Approval by the stockholders will be sought for the amendment of the By-Laws by 
changing the date of the annual stockholders’ meeting from the first Monday of April 
to June 8 of every year. 

• A resolution on this agenda item will be presented to the stockholders for adoption by 
the affirmative vote of stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital 
stock voting in absentia or voting through the Chairman of the meeting as proxy. 

 
X. Approval of the issuance of fixed-rate bonds  

 
• Approval by the stockholders will be sought for the issuance by the Company of fixed-

rate bonds not exceeding thirty five percent (35%) of the value of its Deposited 
Property or up to the allowable leverage under the Real Estate Investment Trust 
(REIT) Act of 2009 (“REIT Law”) and its implementing rules and regulations (“REIT 
Law IRR”). 

• A resolution on this agenda item will be presented to the stockholders for adoption by 
the affirmative vote of stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital 
stock voting in absentia or voting through the Chairman of the meeting as proxy. 
 

XI. Other Matters 
 

XII. Adjournment 
 
Only stockholders on record as of April 22, 2022 are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, this 
meeting.  
 
Stockholders intending to participate by remote communication should notify the stock transfer 
agent of the Company of their intention to attend the 2022 ASM by emailing 
info@professionalstocktransfer.com or jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com by 5:00 
P.M. of 6 June 2022. Such Stockholders must provide or attach in the email the requirements 
listed in Section I (1) (a) or I (1) (b), as the case may be, under Exhibit “1” in order to be validated. 
 
Stockholders may vote by remote communication, or in absentia subject to validation procedures.  
 
The procedures for participating in the meeting through remote communication and for casting 
votes in absentia will be set forth in the Information Statement. 
 
Please refer to Exhibit “1” for the full details on the submission of proxies, procedure for voting, 
and participation in the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
The Corporation’s Information Statement, Management Report, and 2021 Audited Financial 
Statements will be made available in the company website at https://www.creit.com.ph/ and in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange EDGE disclosure system no later than 16 May 2022. 

mailto:info@professionalstocktransfer.com
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
https://www.creit.com.ph/


 
San Juan City, Philippines, 16 May 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 __________________________________ 

JAIME P. DEL ROSARIO 
Corporate Secretary 

 
 
 



Exhibit “1” 
 

PROCEDURE FOR VOTING AND PARTICIPATION VIA REMOTE COMMUNICATION 
 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (the “Company”) shall be conducting its 2022 Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting on 8 June 2022, at 10:00 A.M. via remote communication (“2022 ASM”). In this regard, 
stockholders of record as of 22 April 2021 (“Stockholders”), shall be entitled to attend, participate, 
and vote in the 2022 ASM, in accordance with the procedure outlined below: 
 

I. VOTING IN ABSENTIA 
 

1. The Stockholders who would like to vote in absentia shall register at Registration 
Link from 18 May 2022 to 1 June 2022, where they will be asked to provide the 
following information: 
 

a. For individual Stockholders: 
i. Full name; 
ii. Address; 
iii. Birthdate; 
iv. Email address; 
v. Phone number; 
vi. Mobile number; 
vii. Current photograph, with face fully visible; 
viii. Scanned copy of valid government-issued ID; and 
ix. For Stockholders with joint accounts, a scanned copy of an 

authorization letter signed by the other Stockholders, indicating 
who among them is authorized to cast the vote for the account. 
 

b. For corporate Stockholders: 
i. Corporate Name; 
ii. Address; 
iii. Email address; 
iv. Phone number; 
v. Mobile number; 
vi. Scanned copy of the Secretary’s Certificate or Board Resolution 

authorizing the representative of the corporation to cast the vote; 
vii. Current photograph of the representative authorized to cast the vote 

for the corporation, with face fully visible; and 
viii. Scanned copy of valid government-issued ID of the authorized 

representative.   
 
The submissions of Stockholders shall immediately be validated by the stock 
transfer agent of the Company, Professional Stock Transfer, Inc., in coordination 
with the Corporate Secretary. 
 

2. Upon validation, a Stockholder shall be sent a username and password to the 
email address he/she has provided during registration. The Stockholder shall use 
this username and password to log in to the voting page at Voting Link to be able 
to cast his/her vote in all the matters included in the agenda of the Company’s 
2022 ASM. 

https://creit-asm-2022.firebaseapp.com/PreRegistration2022ASM
https://creit-asm-2022.firebaseapp.com/PreRegistration2022ASM
https://creit-asm-2022.firebaseapp.com/login


 
When a Stockholder has finished voting, he/she shall be shown a summary of the 
votes he/she has cast. If the Stockholder is satisfied, he/she may click the “Submit” 
button; otherwise, the Stockholder may click the “Back” button to make any desired 
changes in his/her votes. 
 
The registered Stockholders shall be allowed to vote until 11:59 P.M. of 1 
June 2022. The votes shall be considered cast for all the shares of the 
Stockholder. 
 

3. The Stockholders who register and vote in absentia are deemed to have given 
their permission to the collection, use, transfer, disclosure, sharing, storage, and 
other forms of processing (collectively “Processing”), by the Company or any 
relevant third party, of the personal data they have provided. The Processing of 
the Stockholders personal data shall be used for the purpose of voting in absentia 
during the 2022 ASM, including for any reason necessary or incidental thereto. 
 

II. VOTING BY PROXY 
 
The Stockholders of the Company may also vote by completing the proxy form attached 
to the Information Statement. The completed and signed proxy form shall be submitted by 
the Stockholder to the Company’s stock transfer agent, through electronic mail and/or 
personal service, from 22 April 2022 until 30 May 2022. Please refer to the details 
provided below: 
 
Through Electronic Mail: 
PROFESSIONAL STOCK TRANSFER, INC. 
Ms. Jeneline P. Serafica – info@professionalstocktransfer.com; 
jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com 
 
Through Personal Service: 
PROFESSIONAL STOCK TRANSFER, INC. 
10th Floor Telecom Plaza  
316 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, 
1209 Makati City 
 
Contact Person: Ms. Jeneline Serafica info@professionalstocktransfer.com; 
jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com 
 
For the purpose of validation, the Stockholder must include the following in transmitting 
the completed and signed proxy form: 

1. Full name of contact person; 
2. Phone or mobile number of contact person; 
3. Scanned copy of valid government-issued ID of the Stockholder and his/her 

appointed proxy (if not the Chairman of the Company); and 
4. For corporate Stockholders, scanned copy of Secretary’s Certificate or Board 

Resolution authorizing the representative to act as the proxy. 
 

III. TABULATION OF VOTES 

mailto:%E2%80%93%C2%A0info@professionalstocktransfer.com
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
mailto:%E2%80%93%C2%A0info@professionalstocktransfer.com
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph
mailto:jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com.ph


 
Thereafter, the stock transfer agent of the Company shall tabulate the votes cast in 
absentia and by proxy. The results shall be verified by the Company’s independent 
auditor, Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
The total votes made in absentia and by proxy, as well as the number of shares 
represented by the same, shall be announced during the 2022 ASM. 
 

IV. PARTICIPATION IN THE 2022 ASM THROUGH REMOTE COMMUNICATIONS 
 

1. The Stockholders may attend the meeting on 8 June 2021, at 10:00 A.M., through 
the following link: Event Link. The 2022 ASM shall be broadcasted live via 
Microsoft Teams, which may be accessed either through a web browser or the 
Microsoft Teams application. 

2. The Stockholders who have not voted in absentia or submitted their proxies may 
still attend the 2022 ASM through the link provided above. However, to be included 
in the determination of the quorum, they must notify the stock transfer agent of the 
Company of their intention to attend the 2022 ASM by emailing 
info@professionalstocktransfer.com or 
jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com by 5:00 P.M. of 6 June 2022. 
Such Stockholders must provide or attach in the email the requirements listed in 
Section I (1) (a) or I (1) (b), as the case may be, in order to be validated. 

3. In view of the foregoing, the quorum for the 2022 ASM shall be determined based 
on the following: 

a. The Stockholders who were validated and voted in absentia; 
b. The Stockholders who submitted their proxy forms and were validated; and 
c. The Stockholders who notified the Corporate Secretary of their intention to 

attend the 2022 ASM and were validated. 
4. During the 2022 ASM, Stockholders will be given the opportunity to raise any 

questions or comments, by submitting the same in a chat box that will be made 
available to them throughout the live broadcast. The Company shall acknowledge, 
read out loud, and address such questions or comments. 
 
The Stockholders are, however, encouraged to furnish all questions, concerns, or 
comments to the Company prior to the 2022 ASM, by emailing the same to the 
stock transfer agent of the Company at info@professionalstocktransfer.com, 
jenny.serafica@professionalstocktransfer.com and/or to the Corporate Secretary 
at corpsecretary@creit.com.ph by 5:00 P.M. of 6 June 2022. These questions, 
concerns, or comments shall be answered during the 2022 ASM. Any unanswered 
questions shall be addressed via email. 
 

 
 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_Njg2N2E4ODAtNTc2YS00OTU5LWJmM2UtNDE3M2UzOTgyMDA4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22036b84b7-26b8-441d-87c1-f3590d3f2ed1%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2247d9798b-e65a-45bd-9371-7f2b4d448da6%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
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PROXY 
 

The undersigned stockholder of CITICORE ENERGY REIT CORP. (the “Company”) hereby 
appoints the Chairman of the meeting, as attorney-in-fact or proxy, with power of substitution 
and delegation, to represent and vote all shares registered in the name of the undersigned 
stockholder, at the virtual Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of the Company on June 8, 2022 
at 10:00 a.m., through Microsoft Teams, and any adjournment/s thereof, as fully and to all 
intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do if present and acting in person, 
hereby ratifying and confirming any and all acts which such proxy may do in or upon any and 
all matters which may properly come before any said meeting, or any adjournment/s thereof, 
upon the following proposals: 
 

1. Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on May 25, 2021 
 

                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 

2. Election of Directors 
 
       Vote for all nominees listed below: 

 
Edgar B. Saavedra 
Oliver Y. Tan 
Manuel Louie B. Ferrer 
Jez G. Dela Cruz 
 

Leonilo G. Coronel (independent director) 
Pacita U. Juan (independent director) 
Jose M. Layug, Jr. (independent director) 
Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco (independent 
director) 
 

 
      Withhold authority for all nominee listed above 
 
      Withhold authority to vote for the nominees listed below 
 
 ________________________  ________________________ 
 ________________________  ________________________ 

________________________  ________________________ 
 
 

3. Ratification of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements  
 

                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 

4. Appointment of Isla Lipana & Co. as external auditor 
 

                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 

5. Ratification of all acts of Management and the Board of Directors 
 

                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 

6. Approval of the Amendment of By-Laws changing the date of the annual stockholders’ 
meeting from the first Monday of April to June 8 of every year. 
 

                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 



7. Approval of the issuance by the Company of fixed-rate bonds not exceeding thirty five 
percent (35%) of the value of its Deposited Property or up to the allowable leverage 
under the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) Act of 2009 (“REIT Law”) and its 
implementing rules and regulations (“REIT Law IRR”). 

 
                      Yes                      No                  Abstain       
 

 
8. At their discretion, the proxies named above are authorized to vote upon such other 

matters as may properly come before the meeting.  
 
 
 

 
__________________________ 

Date 

 
__________________________________________ 

Printed Name of Stockholder 
 

__________________________________________ 
Signature of Stockholder/ Authorized Signatory 

 
This proxy should be received by the Corporate Secretary from 22 April 2022 until 30 May 
2022, the deadline for the submission of proxies. 
 
This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner as directed herein by the 
stockholder(s). If no direction is made, the votes will be cast for the election of all nominees 
and this proxy will be voted “Yes” for the approval of the matters stated above and for such 
other matters as may properly come before the meeting in the manner described in the 
information statement and/or as recommended by management or the board of directors. 
 
A proxy submitted by a corporation should be accompanied by a corporate secretary’s 
certificate quoting the board resolution designating a corporate officer to execute the proxy. 
Meanwhile, a proxy executed by a broker must be accompanied by a certification under oath 
stating that the broker has obtained the written consent of the account holder.  
 
A stockholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time before the right granted is 
exercised. A proxy is also considered revoked if the stockholder attends the meeting in person 
and expresses his intention to vote in person. This proxy shall be valid for five (5) years from 
the date hereof unless otherwise indicated in the box herein provided.  
 
No director or executive officer, nominee for election as director, or associate of such director, 
executive officer, or nominee of the Company, at any time since the beginning of the last fiscal 
year, has any substantial interest, direct or indirect by security holdings or otherwise, in any of 
the matters to be acted upon in the meeting. 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 20-IS 
 

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

 
 
1. Check the appropriate box: 
 

[  ] Preliminary Information Statement 
 
[X] Definitive Information Statement 

 
2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
 
3. Philippines 
 Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization 
 
4. SEC Identification Number CS201010780      
 
5. BIR Tax Identification Code 007-813-849-00001 
 
6. 11F Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza, 276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue, San Juan City 
 Address of principal office                    
 
 1500 
 Postal Code 

 
7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (02) 8826-5698 
 
8. June 8, 2022 at 10:00 am via remote communication 
             Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders 
 
9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders: May 

16, 2022 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA 

(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants): 
 
 Title of Each Class          Number of Shares of Common Stock 
      Outstanding or Amount of Debt Outstanding 
 
 Common Shares     6,545,454,004 
 
 
11. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed in a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes     X       No _______ 
 
 If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein:  
              
             The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. – Common Shares  
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A. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 
Item 1. Date, time and place of meeting of security holders. 
 

(a) The annual stockholder’s meeting of Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (the “Company” or “CREIT”) is 
scheduled to be held on June 8, 2022 at 10:00 a.m. through remote communication via Microsoft 
Teams, using the following link: Please click here 
 
The principal office and complete mailing address of the Company, where the meeting will be 
presided, is at 11th Floor, Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza, 276 Col. Bonny Serrano Ave., San 
Juan City. 

 
(b) Approximate date on which copies of the information statement are first to be sent or given to 

security holder: May 16, 2022 
 
As described in the Procedure for Voting and Participation via Remote Communication, attached herein as Exhibit 
“1”, stockholders shall submit their questions, comments, or concerns, prior to the ASM by emailing the same to 
the Corporate Secretary of the Company at corpsecretary@creit.com.ph. Further, during the ASM, stockholders 
may raise any questions or comments, through a chat box that will be available to them throughout the live 
broadcast of the ASM. The Company will, as far as practicable, acknowledge, read out loud, and answer all 
questions and comments raised. 
 
Item 2. Dissenters' Right of Appraisal 
 
A stockholder of the Company has the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his shares in the 
following instances: (a) in case any amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or 
restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect superior to 
those of outstanding shares or any shares of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of corporate 
existence; (b) in case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially 
all of the corporate property and assets as provided in the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines (the 
“Revised Corporation Code”); (c) in case of investment of corporate funds in any other corporation or business or 
for any purpose other than the Company’s primary purpose; and (d) in case of merger or consolidation.  
 
The stockholder concerned must have voted against the proposed corporate action in order to avail himself of the 
appraisal right. As provided in the Revised Corporation Code, the procedure in the exercise of the appraisal right 
is as follows:  
 

a. The dissenting stockholder files a written demand within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote 
was taken. Failure to file the demand within the thirty-day period constitutes a waiver of the right. Within 
ten (10) days from demand, the dissenting stockholder shall submit the stock certificate/s to the Company 
for notation that such shares are dissenting shares. From the time of the demand until either the 
abandonment of the corporate action in question or the purchase of the shares by the Company, all rights 
accruing to the shares shall be suspended, except the stockholder’s right to receive payment of the fair 
value thereof.  
 

b. If the corporate action is implemented, the Company shall pay the stockholder the fair value of his shares 
upon surrender of the corresponding certificate/s of stock. Fair value is determined by the value of the 
shares of the Company on the day prior to the date on which vote is taken on the corporate action, 
excluding any appreciation or depreciation in value in anticipation of the vote on the corporate action. 
 

c. If the fair value is not determined within sixty (60) days from the date of the vote, it will be determined by 
three (3) disinterested persons (one chosen by the Company, another chosen by the stockholder, and the 
third one chosen jointly by the Company and the stockholder). The findings of the appraisers will be final, 
and their award will be paid by the Company within thirty (30) days following such award, provided the 
Company has sufficient unrestricted retained earnings. Upon such payment, the stockholder shall 
forthwith transfer his shares to the Company. No payment shall be made to the dissenting stockholder 
unless the Company has unrestricted retained earnings sufficient to cover such payment.  
 

d. If the stockholder is not paid within thirty (30) days from such award, his voting and dividend rights shall 
be immediately restored.  
 

There are no matters to be taken up at the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 8, 2022 which would entitle a 
dissenting stockholder to exercise the right of appraisal. 
 
 
Item 3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon 
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(a) No director or executive officer of the Company or nominee for election as such director or officer 
has any substantial interest, direct or indirect, in any matter to be acted upon at the annual 
stockholders’ meeting, other than election to office (in the case of directors). 
 

(b)  Likewise, none of the director or executive officer of the Company or nominee for election as 
such director or officer has informed the Company of his/her opposition to any matter to be taken 
up at the meeting. 

 
B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

  
Item 4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 
 

(a) As of April 30, 2022, CREIT has 6,545,454,004 issued and outstanding common shares. Each share 
is entitled to (1) one vote in accordance with the By-Laws of the Company. 

 
(b) The record date for purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to vote is April 22, 2022. 
 
(c) Stockholders are entitled to cumulative voting in the election of directors of the Company, as provided 

for in the Revised Corporation Code. Under Section 23 of the Revised Corporation Code, a 
stockholder may vote such number of shares for as many persons as there are directors to be elected 
or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to 
be elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same 
principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit: Provided, That the total number of votes cast 
by him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the Company 
multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. The stockholder must be a stockholder of 
record as of April 22, 2022 in order that he may exercise cumulative voting rights. There are no 
conditions precedent to the exercise of the stockholders’ cumulative voting right. 

 
(d) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 
 
 (1) The names, addresses, citizenship, number of shares held, and percentage to total of persons 

owning more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding voting shares of the Company as of April 30, 
2022: 

 
Title of 
Class 

Name and Address 
of Record 

Owner/Relationshi
p with Company 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner/Relationshi

p with Record 
Owner 

Citizenshi
p 

No. of 
Shares Held 

% 
Held 

Commo
n 

Citicore 
Renewable Energy 
Corp. (“CREC”) - 
Stockholder 

Edgar B. Saavedra 
 
Mr. Saavedra is the 
ultimate beneficial 
owner of CREC. 

Filipino 3,117,641,13
2 

 

47.63
% 

Commo
n 

Citicore Solar 
Tarlac 1, Inc. 
(“CST1”) - 
Stockholder 

Edgar B. Saavedra 
 
Mr. Saavedra is the 
ultimate beneficial 
owner of CST1. 

Filipino 918,720,864 14.04
% 

 
Total number of shares of all record and beneficial owners is 6,545,454,004 common shares 
representing 100% of the total issued and outstanding common shares. 

 
 (2) Security Ownership of Directors and Management as of April 30, 2022: 

 
The names, citizenship, number of shares held and percentage to total of persons forming part of the 
Board and Management of the Company as of April 30, 2022 are as follows: 

 
Title of 
Class  Name of Beneficial Owner  Amount and Nature of 

Beneficial Owner  Citizenship  Percentage  

Common  Edgar B. Saavedra  
Chairman of the Board 

1 
(Direct)  Filipino  Nil  

Common  Oliver Y. Tan  
Director, CEO, and President  

1  
(Direct)  
50, 000 

(Indirect) 
Filipino  Nil  

Common  Manuel Louie B. Ferrer   
Director 

1  
(Direct)  Filipino  Nil  

Common  Jez G. Dela Cruz  1  Filipino  Nil  
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Director and Treasurer  (Direct)  

Common  
Leonilo G. Coronel  
Independent Director   

1  
(Direct)  
295,000 

(Indirect)  
Filipino  Nil 

Common  Jose M. Layug, Jr.  
Independent Director  

1  
(Direct)  Filipino  Nil  

Common  Pacita U. Juan  
Independent Director  

1  
(Direct)  Filipino  Nil  

Common  Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco  
Independent Director  

1  
(Direct)  Filipino  Nil  

N/A Mia Grace Paula S. Cortez 
Chief Financial Officer 0 Filipino Nil 

N/A Raymund Jay S. Gomez 
Compliance Officer 0 Filipino Nil 

N/A Jaime P. Del Rosario 
Corporate Secretary 0 Filipino Nil 

Common James A. Jumalon 
Asst. Corporate Secretary 

10,000 
(Indirect) Filipino Nil 

N/A Michelle A. Magdato 
Investor Relations Officer 0 Filipino Nil 

Aggregate Shareholdings of Directors 
and Officers as a Group  355,008   Nil  

 
The indirect shareholding of Oliver Y. Tan are lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) under the 
name of a family member. The indirect shareholdings of Leonilo G. Coronel and James A. Jumalon are 
lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino). 
 
No director or member of the Company’s management owns 2.0% or more of the outstanding capital 
stock of the Company. 
 
(3) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more 
 

There are no voting trusts or similar agreements with respect to any portion of the outstanding shares, 
nor any agreement which may result in a change of control of the Company. 

 
(4) Changes in Control 
 

There are no voting trusts or similar agreements with respect to any portion of the outstanding shares, 
nor any agreement which may result in a change of control of the Company. 
 

(5) Foreign Ownership level as of April 30, 2022: 
 

Class of Securities Total Outstanding 
Shares 

Shares Owned by 
Foreigners 

Percent of 
Ownership 

Common Shares 6,545,454,004 255,997,040 3.91% 
 

Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers 
 

Directors and Executive Officers 
 

As of April 30, 2022, CREIT is governed by a Board of eight (8) directors, composed of the following:   
  
1. Mr. Edgar B. Saavedra, Chairman of the Board;  
2. Mr. Oliver Y. Tan, Director, CEO, and President;  
3. Mr. Manuel Louie B. Ferrer, Director;  
4. Mr. Jez G. Dela Cruz, Director;  
5. Mr. Leonilo G. Coronel, Independent Director;    
6. Atty. Jose M. Layug, Jr., Independent Director;  
7. Ms. Pacita U. Juan, Independent Director; and   
8. Ms. Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco, Independent Director.   

  
The directors shall hold office for one (1) year or until their successors are elected and qualified. The 
annual meeting of the stockholders shall be held every first Monday of April each year.   
  
The Board is responsible for the direction and control of the business affairs and management of CREIT, 
and the preservation of its assets and properties. No person can be elected as director of CREIT unless 
he or she is a registered owner of at least 1 voting share of CREIT.   
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Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular (M.C.) No. 19, Series of 2016, the Company adopted its Manual 
on Corporate Governance (Manual). In accordance with Section VI (5) (a) of the Manual, the Board shall 
have at least two (2) independent directors, or such number as to constitute at least one-third (1/3) of the 
members of the Board, whichever is higher. At present, four (4) members of the Board are independent 
directors.   
  
Meanwhile, the Amended Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of CREIT provide that the eight (8) 
directors shall include such number of independent directors as may be required by law.  

 
Attendance of Directors to Board and Board Committee Meetings 

 
Board of Directors' Meetings  

  
The record of attendance of the directors at the meetings of the Board of Directors held from 1 January 
2021 to 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

 

  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. of   
Meetings Held  

(Regular and Special)  

No. of   
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Edgar B. Saavedra  May 25, 2021  6  6 100  

Member  Manuel Louie B. Ferrer  May 25, 2021  
  6   

6  
  

100  
  

Member  Oliver Y. Tan  May 25, 2021  
  6   

6  
  

100  
  

Member  Jez G. Dela Cruz  May 25, 2021  
  

6  
  

6  
  

100  
  

Member  
(Independent)  Leonilo G. Coronel  May 25, 2021  

  
6  
  

6  
  

100  
  

Member  
(Independent)  Jose M. Layug, Jr.  May 25, 2021  

  
6  
  

6  
  

100  
  

Member  
(Independent)  Pacita U. Juan  May 25, 2021  

  
6  
  

6  
  

100  
  

Member  
(Independent)  

Elizabeth Anne C. 
Uychaco  

May 25, 2021  
  

6  
  

6  
  

100  
  

 
Executive Committee  

  

Board  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. of  
Meetings Held  

(Regular and Special)  

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Edgar B. Saavedra  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
Member  Oliver Y. Tan  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

Member  Manuel Louie B. 
Ferrer  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

Member  Jez G. Dela Cruz  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
  
  

Audit and Risk Oversight Committee Meetings  
  

Board  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. Of Meetings Held  
(Regular and Special)  

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Leonilo G. Coronel  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
Member  Jose M. Layug, Jr.  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

Member  Elizabeth Anne C. 
Uychaco  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

  
Related Party Transaction Review & Compliance Committee Meetings  

  

Board  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. Of Meetings Held  
(Regular and Special)  

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Jose M. Layug, Jr.  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

Member  Elizabeth Anne C. 
Uychaco  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
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Member  Leonilo G. Coronel  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
  

Nominations, Compensation & Personnel Committee Meetings  
  

Board  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. of Meetings Held  
(Regular and Special)  

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Jez G. Dela Cruz  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
Member  Pacita U. Juan  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
Member  Leonilo G. Coronel  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

  
Environmental, Social & Governance Committee Meetings  

  

Board  Name  Date of 
Election  

No. of Meetings Held  
(Regular and Special)  

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended  

%  

Chairman  Pacita U. Juan  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  
Member  Oliver Y. Tan  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

Member  Manuel Louie B. 
Ferrer  May 25, 2021  0  0  0  

 
 
Selection of Nominees for Directors 

 
The Nomination, Compensation, and Personnel Committee (“NCPC”)1 processed and evaluated the 
nominations for Directors in accordance with the guidelines required by law. The deadline for submission 
of nominations for election to the Board was on 29 April 2022, which was also the date of the meeting of 
the NCPC. The NPCC resolved that the following nominees are qualified for election to the Board at the 
ASM on June 8, 2022: 
 

a) Edgar B. Saavedra 
b) Oliver Y. Tan 
c) Manuel Louie B. Ferrer 
d) Jez G. Dela Cruz 
e) Leonilo G. Coronel (Independent Director) 
f) Jose M. Layug, Jr. (Independent Director) 
g) Pacita U. Juan (Independent Director) 
h) Elizabeth Ann C. Uychaco (Independent Director) 

 
The NCPC screened and approved the eight (8) nominees for election to the Board in accordance with 
the Manual on Corporate Governance. The NCPC assessed the said candidates’ background, educational 
qualifications, work experience, expertise, and stature as would enable them to effectively participate in 
the deliberations of the Board. 

 
In the case of the Independent Directors, the NCPC reviewed their business relationships and activities 
to ensure that they have all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications for Independent Directors 
as set forth in the Manual on Corporate Governance, the rules and regulations of the Securities Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”), the SRC, and the SRC’s Implementing Rules and Regulations. 

 
The NCPC determined that they have all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications for election to 
the Board.  
 
Below are the information on the nominees, including their educational background, business experience, 
and directorships in other reporting companies: 
 

 
Name Age Citizen- 

ship 
Position/s Term of 

Office 
Directorships Held 

in Other Companies/ 
Business Experience 

Edgar B. 
Saavedra 

 

46 Filipino 
 

Chairman of 
the Board 

Yearly; re-
elected as 
Chairman 
on May 
25, 2021 

Chairman of the Board, MWMTI, MTI, 
Altria, PH1, Cebu2World, CIHI, CMCI, 
MLI, Wide-Horizons, Citicore Power Inc. 
(“CPI”), CREC, Citicore Negros 
Occidental, Citicore Bataan, Citicore 

 
1 The NCPC is composed of Jez G. Dela Cruz (Chairman), Pacita U. Juan (Member), and Leonilo G. Coronel 
(Member). 
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and has 
served as 
such since 
December 
2018 

Solar Cebu, Inc., Citicore South 
Cotabato, Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore 
Tarlac 2, Citicore Bulacan, Citicore Solar 
Energy Corporation (“CSEC”), Greencore 
Power Solutions 1, Inc. (“GPS1”), 
Greencore Power Solutions 2, Inc. 
(“GPS2”), Greencore Power Solutions 3, 
Inc. (“GPS3”), Sunny Side Up Power 
Corp. (“SSUPC”), Rio Norte Hydropower 
Corp. (“RNHC”), Himamaylan Biomass 
Power Inc.,  Corebiomass Power Inc., 
Verdecore Power Solutions, Inc. 
(“VPSI”), Sikat Solar Holdco Inc. 
(“SSHI”), Citicore Solar Holdings, Inc. 
(“CSHI”), Citicore Biomass Corporation, 
Citicore Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., 
Citicore Candlewick Biotech Corp., 
Citicore Candlewick Plantations Inc., 
Citicore Summa Water Corporation, 
Citicore Summa Water Iloilo, 
Incorporated, Citicore Summa Water 
Iloilo Bulk, Incorporated, Citicore Summa 
Water Lapu-Lapu, Incorporated, MCC-
Citicore Construction, Inc. and CitiRetail 
Power Corp. 
Director and Vice President, MCFI 
Director, GMCAC and GMI 

Oliver Y. 
Tan 

43 Filipino Director, 
CEO, and 
President 
  

Yearly; re-
elected as 
President 
and CEO 
on May 
25, 2021 
and has 
served as 
such since 
December 
2018 

Director, CEO and President of CPI, 
CREC, Citicore Negros Occidental, 
Citicore Bataan, Citicore Solar Cebu, 
Inc., Citicore South Cotabato, Citicore 
Tarlac 1, Citicore Tarlac 2, Citicore 
Bulacan, CSEC, GPS1, GPS2, GPS3 
and SSUPC 
Director and President, CIHI, CMCI, 
RNHC, Himamaylan Biomass Power Inc.,  
Corebiomass Power Inc., VPSI, SSHI, 
CSHI, Citicore Biomass Corporation, 
Citicore Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., 
Citicore Candlewick Biotech Corp., 
Citicore Candlewick Plantations Inc., 
Citicore Summa Water Corporation, 
Citicore Summa Water Iloilo, 
Incorporated, Citicore Summa Water 
Iloilo Bulk, Incorporated, Citicore Summa 
Water Lapu-Lapu, Incorporated, MCC-
Citicore Construction, Inc. and CitiRetail 
Power Corp. 
Director and Treasurer, MTI and MLI 
Director, CMCI and MWCCI 
Director and Corporate Secretary, FSMI 
and IRMO  

Manuel 
Louie B. 
Ferrer 

46 Filipino Director 
 

Yearly; re-
elected as 
Director 
on May 
25, 2021 
and has 
served as 

Chairman of the Board and President, 
MCFI 
Vice Chairman of the Board, PH1 
Director and President, GMCAC, 
MWMTI, MTI, Altria, Cebu2World, and 
Wide-Horizons 
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such since 
December 
2018 

Director, CPI, CREC, Citicore Bataan, 
Citicore Negros Occidental, Citicore 
Solar Cebu, Inc., Citicore South 
Cotabato, Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore 
Tarlac 2, Citicore Bulacan, CSEC, GPS1, 
SSUPC, RNHC, GPS2, Himamaylan 
Biomass Power, Inc., Corebiomass 
Power Inc., VPSI, SSHI, CSHI, Citicore 
Biomass Corporation, Citicore 
Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., Citicore 
Candlewick Biotech Corp., Citicore 
Candlewick Plantations Inc., Citicore 
Summa Water Corporation, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo, Incorporated, 
Citicore Summa Water Iloilo Bulk, 
Incorporated, Citicore Summa Water 
Lapu-Lapu, Incorporated, MCC-Citicore 
Construction, Inc., PH1, MLI, and GMI 
Managing Director, MagicWorx Licensing 
Inc. 
Former Associate Marketing Engineer, 
OCB International Co., Ltd 

Jez Dela 
Cruz 

36 Filipino Director 
and 
Treasurer 

Yearly; 
elected as 
Treasurer 
on May 
25, 2021 

Director, CPI, CREC, GPS3, GMCAC, 
and GMI 
AVP for Corporate Finance and Planning 
– Megawide 
Senior Manager – BPI Capital 
Corporation 

Leonilo G. 
Coronel 

75 Filipino Independen
t Director 
 

Yearly; 
elected as 
Independe
nt Director 
on May 
25, 2021 

Vice Chairman and Director, Philippine 
National Bank 
Director, DBP Daiwa Securities, RBB 
Microfinance Foundation, Software 
Ventures International Corporation 
Previous Independent director, 
Megawide Construction Corp. 

Jose M. 
Layug, Jr. 

50 Filipino Independen
t Director 

Yearly; 
elected as 
Independe
nt Director 
on May 
25, 2021 

Senior Partner, Puno and Puno Law 
Offices 
Dean, University of Makati School of Law 
President, Developers of Renewable 
Energy for Advancement, Inc. 
Independent Director, Vivant 
Corporation, and Hacienda Plantations, 
Inc. 

Pacita U. 
Juan 

66 Filipino Independen
t Director 

Yearly; 
elected as 
Independe
nt Director 
on May 
25, 2021 

President, M.D, Juan Enterprises, Inc. 
Vice President for Finance and 
Treasurer, Centro Mfg. Corporation 
Treasurer, Peace and Equity Holdings, 
Inc. 

Elizabeth 
Anne C. 
Uychaco 

65 Filipino Independen
t Director 

Yearly; 
elected as 
Independe
nt Director 
on May 
25, 2021 

Senior Vice President, SM Investment 
Corporation 
Director and Vice Chairman, Belle 
Corporation 
Chairman, NEO Group 
Director, Republic Glass Corporation, 
Goldilocks and PULS 

 
The Certification of Independent Directors is attached as Exhibit “2”. 
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Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors  
 
The table below sets forth the officers of CREIT, as of December 31, 2021. 
 

Name 
 

Age Citizen- 
ship 

Position Term of 
Office 

Directorships Held 
in Other Companies/ 
Business Experience 

Mia Grace 
Paula S. 
Cortez 

39 Filipino Chief Financial 
Officer 

Yearly Director and Chairman, Citicore Energy 
Solutions, Inc. 
Director and Treasurer, Citicore Tarlac 1, 
CSEC, SSUPC,    Citicore Biomass 
Corporation 
Director, GPS1, GPS2, Himamaylan 
Biomass Power Inc., Corebiomass 
Power Inc., VPSI,  
Director, Cebu2World 
AVP & Group Comptroller, Megawide 
Construction Corp. 
Senior Manager, Punongbayan & 
Araullo 

 
Raymund 
Jay S. 
Gomez 

50 Filipino Compliance 
Officer 

Yearly Director, Altria, CIHI, CMCI, MLI, MTI, 
and MWMTI 
Chief Legal Officer, Compliance Officer, 
and Data Protection Officer – Megawide 
Construction Corp. 
VP-Human Resources, Legal, and 
Regulatory Affairs Department, 
Beneficial Life Insurance Company, Inc. 
AVP-Legal and Corporate Services 
Department, Aboitiz Equity Ventures, 
Inc. 
Former Director of Corporate Legal 
Affairs and Litigation Department, JG 
Summit Holdings, Inc. 

Michelle A. 
Magdato 

33 Filipino Investor 
Relations 

Officer 

Yearly None. 

Jaime P. 
Del 
Rosario  

35 Filipino Corporate 
Secretary 

Yearly Director and Corporate Secretary, 
Citicore Energy Solutions, Inc., Citicore 
Negros Occidental, Citicore  Bataan, 
Citicore Cebu, Citicore South Cotabato, 
Citicore Tarlac 2, Citicore Bulacan, Inc., 
SSHI, CSHI, MCC-Citicore Construction, 
Inc., CitiRetail Power Corp.,  
Director, Citicore Property Managers, 
Inc. 

James A. 
Jumalon 

35 Filipino Assistant 
Corporate 
Secretary 

Yearly None. 

 
Significant Employees 
 
No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business, since the Company 
considers the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success of its 
performance. 
 
Family Relationships 
None of the Company’s executive officers are related to each other or to its Directors and substantial 
Shareholders 
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is not aware of the occurrence during the past five (5) years until present of any of the 
following events that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of any Director or executive 
officer: 
 

(a) Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any Director, or any business of a Director, 
nominee for election as Director, or executive officer who was a Director, general partner or 
executive officer of said business either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two (2) years 
prior to that time; 

(b) Any Director, nominee for election as Director, or executive officer being convicted by final 
judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign; 
 

(c) Any Director, nominee for election as Director, or executive officer being subject to any order, 
judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, 
commodities or banking activities; and 

(d) Any Director, nominee for election as Director, or executive officer being found by a domestic 
or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign 
body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory 
organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment 
has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

 
However, as of the date hereof, Directors Edgar B. Saavedra, Oliver Y. Tan, Manuel Louie B. Ferrer, and 
Jez G. Dela Cruz are parties to the following cases: (a) Criminal Case No. R-LLP-21-01781-CR, entitled 
“People of the Philippines v. Manuel Louie B. Ferrer, et al.” for violation of Section 2-A of Commonwealth 
Act No. 108 as amended by PD No. 715 (Anti-Dummy Law), pending before the Regional Trial Court, 
Branch 68, Lapu-Lapu City, Cebu; and (b) OMB Case No. OMB-C-C-20-0156 and entitled “National 
Bureau of Investigation, represented by Palmer U. Mallari v. Steve Y. Dicdican, Manuel Louie B. Ferrer, 
Edgar B. Saavedra, Oliver Y. Tan, Jez Dela Cruz, et al.”, pending before the Office of the Ombudsman, 
for violation of Sections 3(e) and (j) of Republic Act No. 3019 or the “Anti-Graft and Corrupt Practices Act” 
and Section 4(g) of Republic Act No. 6713 or the “Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards for Public 
Officials and Employees”.  
 
Certain Relationship and Related Transactions  

 
The transactions and outstanding balances of the Company as at and for the three months ended March 
31 with related parties are as follows: 
 

 
Transactions 

Outstanding balance 
Receivables (Payables) 

 

 
Related parties 2022 2021  

March 31,  
2022 

December 31, 
2021 

Terms and 
conditions 

Parent Company       
Advances to  80,169,267 265,850,948   (204,835,943)  (124,666,676) Refer to (a). 
Assignment of loans  
   payable 

 
- 

 
(1,011,570,2

48) 

  
- 

 
- 

Refer to (b) 
and Note 10. 

Assumed interest 
payable 

  -   
(13,024,012) 

 -  - See Note 
10. 

    (204,835,943)  (124,666,676)  

Issuance of shares - 607,330,352  - - 
Refer to (c) 
and Note 10. 

Entities under common 
control 

      

Lease income 331,791,550 -  35,395,664 2,456,998 
Refer to (e) 
and Note 4. 

Advances to - 87,021,747  - - Refer to (a). 
Purchase of property 1,754,116,6

29 
-  - - Refer to (f) 

and Note 8. 
Property management 
fee 

1,494,264 -  - - Refer to (h). 

Fund management 
fee 

498,088 -  - - Refer to (i). 

Issuance of shares - 229,680,216  - - 
Refer to (c) 
and Note 10. 
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(a) Advances 
 
Advances to (from) related parties are made to finance working capital requirements or to assume 
receivables and payables to (from) related parties and/or third parties.  Advances to (from) related parties 
are unsecured, with no guarantee, non-interest bearing, collectible (payable) in cash both on demand and 
after more than 12 months and are expected to be collected (settled) in cash or offset with outstanding 
liability (receivable).  As at December 31, 2021, the Parent Company and the Company agreed to offset 
all related party receivables and payables resulting in a net payable to the Parent Company amounting to 
P124.67 million. These are considered as non-cash transactions. 
 
The offset amounts as at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 
  Amount 

Receivables   265,850,948 
Payables  (390,517,624) 
  (124,666,676)  

 
There was no offsetting as at and for the period ended March 31, 2022.  
 
Details of net payable to the Parent Company as at reporting periods are as follows: 
 

 March 31, 2022 
December 31, 

2021 
Current 136,314,196  56,144,929 
Non-current 68,521,747  68,521,747 
 204,835,943 124,666,676 

 
In December 2021, the Company and the Parent Company agreed that portion of the net payable 
amounting to P56.14 million is to be settled in cash upon demand by the Parent Company while the 
remaining balance of P68.52 million is to be settled in cash after more than 12 months from  December 
31, 2021.  These are non-interest bearing and not covered by guarantees or collaterals.  
 
(b) Loan assignment 

 
The loan assignment was recognized as part of due to a related party.  Details and movement of due to 
a related party pertaining to the loan assignment for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

   Notes Amount 
Assignment of loan   10 1,011,570,248 
Cash settlement   10 (31,611,570) 
Subscription of shares   11 (c) (602,465,066) 
Ending amount subsequently classified as 
advances    377,493,612 

 
(c) Shares subscriptions 
 
Details of additional shares subscriptions for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 
Conversion of 

 advances Land properties exchange Total 
Parent Company 8, 13 602,465,066 4,865,286 607,330,352 
CST1 8, 13 - 229,680,216 229,680,216 
  602,465,066 234,545,502 837,010,568 

 
(d) Key management compensation 
 
Except for the directors’ fees that the Company pays to each of the independent directors, there are no 
other arrangements for the payment of compensation or remuneration to the directors of the Company 
in their capacity as such.  Directors’ fees for the periods ended March 31, 2022  amounted to  
P0.79 million (March 31, 2021 - nil) (Note 16).  
 
The Company’s management functions are being handled by the Parent Company and another related 
party at no cost.  No other short-term or long-term compensation was paid to key management 
personnel for the periods ended. 
 
(e) Lease and sale agreements 
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The Company entered into various lease contracts, as a lessor, with related parties as follows: 
 
• Sublease agreement of below land properties to related parties: 
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac with Citicore Solar Tarlac 2, Inc.  
(CST2) (formerly nv vogt Philippines Solar Energy Four, Inc.)  
The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on November 1, 2021 with the 
Company’s right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider 
changes in circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee 
vis-a-vis the three-year historical plant generation and market prices.  The Company 
recognized lease income related to this property for the year ended December 31, 2021 
amounting to P8.09 million  
(Note 14). 
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Rizal, Silay City, Negros Occidental with Citicore Solar Negros 
Occidental, Inc. (CSNO) (formerly Silay Solar Power, Inc.)  

 
The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on January 1, 2022 with the Company’s 
right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes in 
circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee vis-a-vis the 
three-year historical plant generation and market prices.  
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu with Citicore Solar Cebu, Inc. 
(CSCI) (formerly First Toledo Solar Energy Corp.)  
 
The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on January 1, 2022 with the Company’s 
right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes in 
circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee vis-a-vis the 
three-year historical plant generation and market prices.   
 

• Lease contract of the land property located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac City, Tarlac with CST1 
 
 The agreement is effective for 25 years commencing on November 1, 2021 until October 31, 

2046 with the Company’s right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to 
consider changes in circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the 
lessee vis-a-vis the three-year historical plant generation and market prices. The Company 
recognized lease income related to this property for the year ended December 31, 2021 
amounting to P9.68 million (Note 14). 
 

• Assignment of Solar Energy Service Contract of the Clark Solar Plant and the subsequent lease of 
the plant to the Parent Company 

 
On October 13, 2021, the Company assigned SESC No. 2014-07-086 of the Clark Solar Plant 
to its Parent Company, thereby establishing the Parent Company as the operator of such plant.  
On the same date, the Company, as a lessor, and its Parent Company, as lessee, executed a 
lease contract for latter’s use of the Clark Solar Plant in line with the assignment of SESC.  The 
assignment was approved by the DOE on December 25, 2021 (Note 2).  The lease agreement 
is effective for almost  
18 years commencing on November 1, 2021 and ending on September 3, 2039 with the 
Company’s right to re-evaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider 
changes in circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the Parent 
Company vis-a-vis the three-year historical plant generation and market prices.  No rental 
income was recognized from this lease agreement during 2021 considering that the DOE only 
approved the assignment on December 24, 2021 effective December 25, 2021. Hence, 
commencement date of the contract was moved to January 1, 2022. 

 
In addition, subject also to the Company’s right over the leasehold properties, the Company 
and related party-lessees can continue and may further extend the lease period in a way that is 
beneficial to both parties.  The monthly lease payment for the lease agreements above is 
equivalent to the sum of fixed and variable lease rates. 
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The lease agreements commencing January 1, 2022 will result in the recognition of rental income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the statements of total comprehensive income as 
these lease agreements are classified as operating leases and corresponding lease receivables 
under trade and other receivables in the statements of financial position, if any.   

 
(f) Purchase of property and lease agreement 
 
In 2022, the Company executed a deed of absolute sale for the purchase of several parcels of land located 
in San Ildefonso, Province of Bulacan from Citicore Solar Bulacan, Inc. (CSBI) (formerly Bulacan Solar 
Energy Corporation), entity under common control with an aggregate area of 253,880 square meters for 
a total consideration of P1.75 billion (see Note 8). There are no outstanding balance from this transaction. 
 
Also in 2022, the Company and CSBI entered into a lease agreement for the same property for a period 
of 25 years commencing on January 1, 2022. 

 
(g) Memorandum of agreement for future sale transaction 
 
The Company entered into a memorandum of agreement with Citicore Solar South Cotabato, Inc. (CSSCI) 
(formerly nv vogt Philippine Solar Energy One, Inc.), entity under common control, for the future sale of 
land properties owned to the Company. 
 
This will result in the recognition of investment properties in the statements of financial position for the 
land properties that will be acquired. 
 
(h) Memorandum of agreement for future lease agreement 
 
The Company entered into a memorandum of agreement with CSSCI for the subsequent lease of land 
properties owned by CSSCI to the Company. 
 
This will result in the recognition of rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term for the 
leaseback to the related parties.  These will be classified as operating leases in the statements of total 
comprehensive income and corresponding lease receivables under trade and other receivables in the 
statements of financial position, if any, upon the consummation of the agreement. 
 
(i) Property management fee 
 
On August 9, 2021 the Company entered into a property management agreement with Citicore Property 
Managers, Inc. (CPMI) for property management services of the Company. CPMI will receive a 
management fee based on certain percentage of the Company’s guaranteed base lease.  Payment in 
cash is due and payable 10 days from receipt of billing statement.  
 
(j) Fund management fee 
 
On July 26, 2021, the Company entered into a fund management agreement with Citicore Fund Managers, 
Inc. (CFMI) for the fund management services of the Company. CFMI will receive a management fee 
equivalent to a certain percentage of the Company’s guaranteed base lease, plus a certain percentage of 
the acquisition price for every acquisition made by it on behalf of the Company, plus a certain percentage 
of the sales price for every property divested by it on behalf of the Company. Payment in cash is due and 
payable 10 days from receipt of billing statement. 
 
Property management and fund management agreement commenced in 2022 aligned with the date of 
Company’s listing to PSE. Property management fee and fund management fee amounted to P1.49 
million and P0.5o million, respectively, in 2022 (nil in 2021). 
 
On July 26, 2021, the BOD approved the Company’s material related party transaction policy to adhere 
with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10, Series of 2019 which include: the identification of related parties, 
coverage of material related party transactions, adjusted thresholds, identification and prevention or 
management of potential or actual conflicts of interests arising out of or in connection with the material 
related party transactions, guidelines in ensuring arm’s length terms, approval of material related party 
transactions, self-assessment and periodic review of policy, disclosure requirements, whistleblowing 
mechanisms, and remedies for abusive material related party transactions.  The BOD, with the assistance 
of the Related Party Transaction Review and Compliance Committee (“RPTRCC”), shall oversee, review, 
and approve all related party transactions to ensure that these are conducted in the regular course of 
business and on an arm’s length basis and not undertaken on more favorable economic terms to the 
related parties than with non-related or independent parties under similar circumstances.  The RPTRCC 
shall be granted the sole authority to review related party transactions.  Those falling within the materiality 
thresholds set by the Company’s BOD shall require the approval of the Chief Executive Officer and/or 
President or the BOD, as the case may be.   
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The table below sets out the principal transactions of the Company with related parties as of December 
31, 2021: 

Related Party Relationship Nature of Transaction 
Transaction 

Value (₱) 

Outstanding 
Balance as of  
December 31, 

2021 
Lease Income     
Citicore Tarlac 1 under common 

control(a) 
Contract of Lease dated July 
26, 2021 for Armenia property 
(138,164 sqm) 

8,195,035 -- 

Citicore Tarlac 2 under common 
control(a) 

Sub Lease Agreement dated 
July 26, 2021 for Dalayap 
property (10.533731 hectares) 

7,121,860 -- 

Total   15,316,894 -- 
     

Other     

CREC Parent 
company(b) 

Advances granted, non-
interest bearing, on demand 

227,942,488 — 

Citicore Power Ultimate parent  Advances granted, non-
interest bearing, on demand 

87,021,747 — 

     

CREC Parent 
company(c) 

Assignment of loans payable (1,011,570,248) (139,228,236)  

     

CREC Parent 
Company(d) 

Assumed interest payable (13,024,012)  — 

     

CREC Parent 
company(e) 

Issuance of shares 607,330,352 607,330,352 

Citicore Tarlac 1 under common 
control(e) 

Issuance of shares 229,680,216 229,680,216 

 
 
Item 6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers 
 

(a)   Executive Compensation 
 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE  
Annual Compensation  

(In Php Millions)  
  
The Company’s executive officers have been, and will continue to be, compensated by the Sponsors and 
the Citicore Group.  The table below sets forth the compensation of the President and CEO and top three 
highest compensated officers of the Company for the years indicated:  
  

Name and Principal Position  Period  
Salary  

(₱ million)  
Bonus  

(₱ million)  

Other Annual 
Compensation 
and Benefits  

(₱ million)  
Total   

(₱ million)  
CEO and top three highest 
compensated officers*                 
Oliver Tan, President and CEO  
Jez Dela Cruz, Treasurer  
Raymund Jay Gomez, Compliance 
Officer  
Mia Grace Paula Cortez, CFO  

  
2021  

   
28.60  2.86  5.15  36.62  

Oliver Tan, President and CEO  
Jez Dela Cruz, Treasurer  
Raymund Jay Gomez, Compliance 
Officer  

2020  25.11  2.36  3.91  31.38  
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Mia Grace Paula Cortez, CFO  
All officers and directors as a group 

unnamed  
  

2021  
  

30.37  
  

3.00  
  

5.25  
  

38.63  
  2020  26.09  2.44  3.99  35.53  
 
Compensation of Directors  

 
Under the By-Laws of CREIT, by resolution of the Board, each director, shall receive a reasonable per 
diem allowance for his attendance at each Board meeting. As compensation, the Board shall receive and 
allocate an amount of not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax of the 
Company during the preceding year. Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned among 
directors in such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders 
representing at least majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the 
stockholders.   
 
On July 26, 2021, the Board, approved the giving of Fifty Thousand Pesos (PhP 50,000.00) Director’s per 
diem, per Board meeting, and a Twenty Five Thousand Pesos (PhP 25,000.00) monthly allowance in the 
form of reimbursable expenses for each regular director.  
 
Standard Arrangements and Other Arrangements 
 
There are no other arrangements for compensation either by way of payments for committee participation 
or special assignments other than reasonable per diem. There are also no outstanding warrants or options 
held by CREIT’s CEO, other officers and/or directors. 
 
Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control Arrangements 
 
While the Company has no special retirement plans for its employees, it provides retirement benefits in 
accordance with R.A. No. 7641 or the “Retirement Pay Law”, and other applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. Also, there is no existing arrangement with regard to compensation to be received by any 
executive officer from CREIT in the event of a change in control of the Company. Aside from its employees, 
CREIT has also entered into employment contracts with its foreign experts. The contracts with foreign 
nationals usually include benefits, such as housing, medical and group life insurance, vacation leaves, 
and company vehicle. Further, employment contracts include provisions regarding CREIT’s ownership of 
any invention developed during the course of employment, liquidated damages in the event of contract 
pre-termination, and a non-compete clause prohibiting the employee, for a period of one (1) year after the 
termination of the contract, from engaging, directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of or in conjunction 
with any person, corporation, partnership or other business entity that is connected with the business of 
CREIT. 

 
Item 7. Independent Public Accountants 
 

The accounting firm of Isla Lipana & Co. served as CREIT’s external auditor for the last fiscal year. The 
handling partner of Isla Lipana & Co is Mr. Pocholo Domondon. There was no change in or disagreement 
with the external auditor on accounting and financial disclosures. 
 
In accordance with CREIT’s Manual on Corporate Governance, the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee 
(“AROC”) recommends the appointment of the external auditor. The AROC is composed of Leonilo G. 
Coronel (Chairman), Jose M. Layug, Jr. and Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco. 
 
The approval of the re-appointment of Isla Lipana & Co as external auditor for the current year, with Mr. 
Pocholo Domondon as the handling partner, will be undertaken during the ASM. 
 
Representatives from Isla Lipana & Co. will be present during the stockholders’ meeting and will have an 
opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so. It is also expected that the attending 
representatives will be able to respond to appropriate questions. 

 
Item 8. Compensation Plans 
 

No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to any plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash 
compensation may be paid or distributed. 

 
 
C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 

 
 

Item 9. Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange 
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 No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to any plan pursuant to authorization or issuance of 
securities other than for exchange. 

 
Item 10.  Modification or Exchange of Securities   
    

No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to the modification of any class of securities of 
the Company, or the issuance or authorization for issuance of one (1) class of securities in exchange 
for outstanding securities of another class. 

 
 
Item 11. Financial and Other Information 
 

CREIT did not have any disagreements with its internal auditors or independent accountants on any matter 
of accounting principles or practices, financial statements, disclosures, or auditing scope or procedures. 
 
For CREIT’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis and Changes in and Disagreements with 
Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure, please refer to the Management’s Report attached 
to this Information Statement as Exhibit “3”. 
 
Additionally, CREIT’s Consolidated Audited Financial Statements for the period ending 31 December 
2021 is to be incorporated in the Information Statement by reference as Exhibit “4”. 

 
 
Item 12.  Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions and Similar Matters 

 
No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to any transaction involving: (a) merger or 
consolidation into or with any other person or of any other person into or with CREIT; (b) acquisition by 
the Company or any of its security holders of securities of another person; (c) acquisition of any other 
going business or of the assets thereof; (d) sale or other transfer of all or any substantial part of the assets 
of the Company; or (e) liquidation or dissolution of the Company.   

 
Item 13.  Acquisition or Disposition of Property 
 
 No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to any transaction to any acquisition or disposition 

of property by CREIT requiring the approval of the stockholders. 
 
 
Item 14.  Restatement of Accounts 
 

No action is to be taken during the ASM with respect to restatement of any asset, capital, or surplus 
account of the Company. 

 
 
D.  OTHER MATTERS 
 
Item 15.   Action with Respect to Reports 
 

(1) The approval of the minutes of the ASM held on 25 May 2021 will be taken up during the meeting. The 
matters taken up during the ASM on 25 May 2021, prior to the listing of the Company with the Philippine 
Stock Exchange, were as follows: 

 
a) Call to Order 
b) Certification of Notice and Quorum 
c) Election of Directors 
d) Appointment of the External Auditor 
e) Adjournment 

 
The Company was not yet listed when it held its ASM last 25 May 2021. One hundred percent of the 
outstanding shares or fifteen million thirty-one thousand three hundred sixty-six (15,031,366) of the then 
outstanding shares were present and represented and voted for and in favor of the election of the 
nominated directors and the appointment of Isla Lipana & Co. as the Company’s external auditor. 
 

(2) The ratification of the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 will be taken 
up during the ASM. 

 
Item 16.   Matters Not Required to be Submitted 
 

There are no matters to be taken during the meeting that will not require the vote of the stockholders as 
of the record date. 
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Item 17.   Amendment of Charter, Bylaws or Other Documents 
 

Approval by the stockholders will be sought for the approval of the amendment of the By-Laws by changing 
the date of the annual stockholders’ meeting from the first Monday of April to June 8 of every year. 
 
A resolution on this agenda item will be presented to the stockholders for adoption by the affirmative vote 
of stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock voting in absentia or voting 
through the Chairman of the meeting as proxy. 

 
 
Item 18.  Other Proposed Action 
 

Ratification of the Acts of the Board of Directors and Management 
 
The resolution to be adopted will be the ratification and approval of all acts of the Board, its Committees, 
corporate officers, and management from 25 May 2021 up to the date of the ASM. 
 
The regular and special meetings of the Board were held on the following dates: 
 

a) 25 May 2021 (Regular Meeting) 
b) 26 July 2021 (Regular Meeting) 
c) 12 October 2021 (Special Meeting) 
d) 20 October 2021 (Special Meeting) 
e) 04 November 2021 (Special Meeting)  
f) 23 November 2021 (Special Meeting) 
g) 19 January 2022 (Regular Meeting) 
h) 9 March 2022 (Regular Meeting) 
i) 11 May 2022 (Regular Meeting) 

 
At these meetings, matters discussed included the presentation of detailed operations and financial 
reports. In addition to these reports, the Board approved acts pertaining to obtaining government permits 
and clearances, execution of contracts, availment of services from banks and other acts necessary for 
various projects of CREIT. 

 
Approval of the Issuance of Bonds 

 
Approval by the stockholders will be sought for the issuance by the Company of fixed-rate bonds not 
exceeding thirty five percent (35%) of the value of its Deposited Property or up to the allowable leverage 
under the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) Act of 2009 (“REIT Law”) and its implementing rules and 
regulations (“REIT Law IRR”). Under the REIT Law IRR, Deposited Property is defined as the total value 
of the REIT's assets reflecting the fair market value of the total assets held by the REIT. 
 
A resolution on this agenda item will be presented to the stockholders for adoption by the affirmative vote 
of stockholders representing at least 2/3 of the outstanding capital stock voting in absentia or voting 
through the Chairman of the meeting as proxy. 

 
Item 19. Voting Procedures 
 
The stockholders as of 22 April 2022 may vote during the Company’s ASM on 8 June 2022. 
 

a) The vote required for approval and/or election 
 
The vote required for the election of Directors and all other questions (except in cases otherwise provided 
by the Company) is the vote of at least a majority of the outstanding capital stock. 

 
b) The method by which votes will be counted 

 
Article II, Section 7 of the By-laws provides that at all meetings of stockholders, a stockholder may vote in 
person or by proxy. Section 23 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines provides that in stock 
corporations, every stockholder entitled to vote shall have the right to vote in person or by proxy the 
number of shares of stock standing, at the time fixed in the bylaws, in his own name on the stock books 
of the corporation, or where the by-laws are silent, at the time of the election. 
 
In accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 06, Series of 2020, voting during the ASM will be done 
through remote communication. In this regard, the manner and procedure by which the shareholders may 
vote is described in Exhibit “1”. 
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Each stockholder shall have one (1) vote for each share of stock entitled to vote and recorded in his name 
in the books of CREIT. 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. will verify the votes tabulated. 
 

UNDERTAKING: The Company will provide without charge its Annual Report or SEC Form 17-A to its 
stockholders upon receipt of written request addressed to: The Office of the Corporate Secretary, 11th 
Floor, Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza, Col. Bonny Serrano Ave., San Juan City. 
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SIGNATURE PAGE 
 
 
After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this report 

is true, complete and correct.  This report is signed in the City of San Juan on the 16th day of May 2022. 

 
 
 
              
 
 
 
                                                                                         ___________________________________ 
               JAIME P. DEL ROSARIO 
                    Corporate Secretary 
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Exhibit “3” 
 
 
Management Report 
 

I. Management's Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation  
 
On May 25, 2021, the Company amended its articles of incorporation to, among others, change the primary 
purpose of the business from operation of renewable energy power-generating plant to a REIT Company.  
Upon SEC approval on the amended Articles of Incorporation, the Company also executed several lease 
contract with solar operating plants, lessees whereby Armenia and Dalayap properties shall commence 
lease contract on November 1, 2021 and Toledo and Silay properties shall commence on January 1, 2022. 
 
On October 13, 2021, the Company assigned its Service Contract to operate the Clark Solar Plant to CREC 
and accordingly, on the same date, executed lease contract beginning November 1, 2021 for a period 18 
years. The assignment of service contract was approved on December 24, 2021, hence, the 
commencement date of the lease was moved to January 1, 2022.  
 
The foregoing financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 
pertains to the operation and maintenance of the Clark Plant while the lease income for Dalayap and 
Armenia represents two months duration only in 2021.  
 
The Company is expected to fully operate as a REIT Company beginning January 1, 2022 with the infusion 
of two properties also in Bulacan and Cotabato in 2022.  
 
 
 For the three months ended March 31,  

 2022 2021 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 

 
₱ thousands 

(Audited) 
₱ 

thousands  
    
Sale of electricity ........................................  — 58,226 (58,226) (100.0%) 
Rental income ............................................  331,792 — 331,792 100.0% 
Revenues ..................................................  331,792 58,226 273,566 469.8% 
Cost of services ..........................................  19,680 18,101 1,579 8.7% 
Gross profit ...............................................  312,112 40,125 271,987 677.9% 
Operating expenses ...................................  8,080 1,059 7,021 663.1% 
Income from operations ..........................  304,032 39,066 264,966 678.3% 
Finance costs .............................................  (4,383) (15,638) 11,255 72.0% 
Other expenses – net .................................  680 90 590 651.8% 
Income before income tax .......................  300,329 23,518 276,811 1,177.0% 
Income tax expense ...................................  30 — 30 100.0% 

Net income ................................................  300,299 23,518 276,781 1,176.9% 
 

 
Results of Operations 

 
Review of results for the three (3) months ended March 31, 2022 as compared with the results for the 
three (3) months ended March 31, 2021 
 
Revenues increased by 470% or P273.57 million 
 
Revenues for the period amounted to P331.79 million, 470% or P273.57 million higher from the same 
period last year. The Company’s revenue in 2022 mainly consists of lease revenue from its freehold 
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properties amounting to P87.42 million, leasehold properties amounting to P174.88 million and solar 
plant amounting to P70.49 million which lease agreement mostly commenced beginning January 1, 
2022. In 2021, revenue consists mainly of sale of electricity from the Company’s clark solar plant which 
was assigned to its Parent Company beginning January 1, 2022 as approved by the Department of 
Energy. 
 
Direct Costs increased by 9% or P1.58 million 
 
Direct costs amounted to P19.68 million and were higher by 9% or P1.58 million. The increase is related 
to the amortization of right of use asset which were recognized on November 1, 2021 amounting to 
P53.94 million in 2022 amounting to P128.36 million as the lease contracts were assigned to the 
Company on the said effective dates. The Company also recognized in 2022 the related property and 
fund management fee which were based on the fixed based rental revenue. The said increase was 
offset by the transfer of operations and maintenance activities and related cost to its Parent Company 
upon assignment of the solar contract to the latter. 
 
Gross Profit increased by 678% or P271.99 million 
 
Gross profit amounted to P312.11 million for the first three months of 2022, translating to a gross profit 
margin of 94%. The increase is related to the Company’s expansion of leasing activities beginning 2022 
arising from various acquisition and transfers of freehold and leasehold assets. 
 
Other Operating Expenses increased by 663% or P7.02 million 
 
Net Other Operating Expenses for the three-month period amounted to P8.08 million. The increase is 
mainly related to expenses incurred from the Company’s initial public offering attributable to secondary 
offer and hence are not deductible against the Company’s additional paid-up capital. 
 
Finance cost decreased by 72% or P11.26 million 
 
The decrease in finance cost is mainly related to the decrease in finance cost charged by a local bank 
from the Company’s loans. In May 2021, the loan was assumed by the Parent Company via debt-to-
equity conversion, hence, by the end of 2021, the Company is unlevered. Finance cost for the period 
ending 2022 is mainly related to finance cost on long term lease contract which are accounted for under 
PFRS 16, Leases.  
 
Other Income (Charges) increased by 652% or P0.59 million 
 
Other charges - net, which consists of finance income, unrealized foreign currency gains and losses 
and other income (expenses) amounted to P0.68 billion, 652% higher from year-ago levels. The 
increase is mainly related to the increase in interest income, mainly related to the proceeds it received 
from its IPO. 
 
Tax Expense increased by P30 thousand 
 
The Company’s tax expense in 2022 mainly relates to final taxes on interest income earned. The 
Company has zero current taxes in 2022 as the dividends declared in March 2022 were considered as 
deduction from its taxable income. Meanwhile, the Company is under an income tax holiday in 2021 
from its BOI registered activity of sale of electricity as granted under the Renewable Energy Act of 
2008. 
  
Net Income increased by 1,177% or P276.78 million 
 
Net income amounted to P300 million compared to year ago level of P23.52 million. The increase is 
mainly related to commencement of the Company’s lease contracts on its freehold properties in 
Armenia, Tarlac City and San Ildefonso, Bulacan City, its leasehold properties in Brgy. Talavera, Toledo 
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City, Cebu, Silay City, Negros Occidental and Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City and its solar farm in Clark 
Freeport Zone, Pampanga. 

 
 
FY2021 vs FY2020 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Review of results for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared with the results for the year 
ended December 31, 2020.  
 

 For the year ended December 31,  

 2021 2020 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 

 
₱ thousands 

(Audited) 
₱ 

thousands  
    
Sale of electricity ........................................  334,519 269,077 65,442 24.3% 
Rental income ............................................  17,774 — 17,774 100.0% 
Revenues ..................................................  352,293 269,077 83,216 30.9% 
Cost of services ..........................................  74,208 94,624 20,416 (21.6) 
Gross profit ...............................................  278,085 174,453 103,632 59.4% 
Operating expenses ...................................  56,973 7,988 (48,984) 613.2% 
Income from operations ..........................  221,112 166,465 54,647 32.8% 
Finance costs .............................................  (29,439) (64,054) 34,615 54.0% 
Other expenses – net .................................  26,005 1,704 24,302 1426% 
Income before income tax .......................  217,680 104,115 113,565 109.1% 
Income tax expense ...................................  8,200 — 8,200 100.0% 

Net income ................................................  225,880 104,115 121,816 117.0% 
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 compared with year ended December 31, 2020 

Revenues 

The Company’s revenues pertain to sale of electricity and lease revenues amounting to ₱352.3 million 
and  ₱269.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Revenues increased by P83.2 million or 31%. The Company’s land rental income amounting to P17.8 
million which represents rental from two properties which commenced on November 1, 2021. 
Meanwhile, electricity sales increased by P65.4 million primarily due to the feed in tariff rate adjustment. 
 
Cost of services 

The Company’s cost of services decreased by P20.4 million or 22% or amounted to ₱74.2 million and 
₱94.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively which majority pertain to 
depreciation of the Clark Solar Power Plant reported under property, plant and equipment.  The 
decrease in costs of services pertains to the reversal of retirement benefit obligation amounting to P5.5 
million and the recalibration of the accrual of taxes and licenses with actual tax payments which resulted 
to a decrease in expense by P16.7 million. 
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Gross Profit 

The Company’s gross profit stands at ₱278.1 million and ₱174.5 million  for the years ended December 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in gross profit is in line with the increase in revenue and 
decrease cost of services in 2021. 
 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses increased by ₱49.0 million, or 613% from ₱8.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 to ₱57.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to 
expenses related to the Company’s initial public offering (IPO). For purposes of recognition, IPO cost 
are allocated between the primary and secondary shares where the amount allocated to secondary 
shares are recognized in profit or loss while the amount allocated to primary shares will be deducted 
against Additional Paid In Capital at the time of offer.  
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net decreased by ₱58.9 million, or 94% from ₱63.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱3.4 million  for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due 
to the decrease in the Company’s interest expense as a result of the Company’s capital restructuring 
initiatives. 
 
Income before income tax 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s income before income tax increased by ₱113.6 million, or 
109% from ₱104.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱217.7 million  for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 due to significant increase in gross profit and decrease in finance costs. 
 
Income tax benefit 

The Company’s income tax benefit increased by ₱8.2 million, or 100% from nil for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 for the year ended December 31, 2021, due to the recognition of deferred tax asset 
on Net Operating Losses arising from non-ITH activities. The Company’s sale of electricity is covered 
by its seven-year income tax holiday with BOI. 
 
Net income 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱121.8 million, or 117% from 
₱104.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱225.9 million  for the year ended December 
31, 2021. 
 
 For the year ended December 31,  

 2020 2019 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 

 
₱ thousands 

(Audited) 
₱ 

thousands  
    
Sale of electricity ..................................  269,077 248,011 21,066 8.5% 
Rental income .......................................  — — — — 
Revenues .............................................  269,077 248,011 21,066 8.5% 
Cost of services ....................................  94,624 98,376 3,752 3.8% 
Gross profit .........................................  174,453 149,635 24,818 16.6% 
Operating expenses .............................  7,988 3,387 (4,601) (135.9%) 
Income from operations .....................  166,465 146,248 20,217 13.8% 
Finance costs .......................................  (64,054) (68,727) 4,672 6.8% 
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 For the year ended December 31,  

 2020 2019 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 

 
₱ thousands 

(Audited) 
₱ 

thousands  
    
Other expenses – net ...........................  1,704 2,050 346 16.9% 
Income before income tax .................  104,115 79,571 24,544 30.8% 
Income tax expense .............................  — — — — 

Net income ..........................................  104,115 79,571 24,544 30.8% 
 

 

Year ended December 31, 2020 compared with year ended December 31, 2019 

Revenues 

The Company’s total revenues increased by 8% or P21.1 million from P248.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 to P269.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Increase in revenue was 
due to increase in output generation for the period as a result of normalized irradiation and outages 
from 2019. 
 
Cost of services 

The Company’s cost of services decreased by P3.8 million or 4% from ₱94.6 million in 2020 to P98.4 
million in 2019 primarily due to the Company’s cost management initiatives in operating and managing 
the Clark Plant. 
 
Gross Profit 

The Company’s gross profit stands at ₱174.5 million in 2020 to P149.6 million in 2019 which translated 
to an increase of P24.8 million or 17% due to the increase in revenue and cost of service reductions. 
 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses increased by ₱4.6 million, or 136% from ₱3.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 to ₱7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to 
higher business taxes as a result of higher revenues and recognition of provision on doubtful accounts 
amounting to P1.9 million. 
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net decreased by ₱4.3 million, or 65% from ₱66.7 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 to ₱62.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to a 
decrease in finance costs resulting from a partial principal loan repayment of ₱5 million, and the 
granting by the Government of a 30-day grace period for all loans with principal and/or interest falling 
due within the ECQ period without incurring any additional interest, penalties, fees and other charges 
pursuant to the Bayanihan Act. 
 
Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱24.5 million, or 31% from ₱79.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to ₱104.1 million  for the year ended December 31, 
2020. The increase is driven by the increase in gross profit and reduction in other expenses – net. 
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 For the year ended December 31,  

 2019 2018 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 

 
₱ thousands 

(Audited) 
₱ 

thousands  
    
Sale of electricity ..................................  248,011 260,381 (12,371) (4.8%) 
Rental income .......................................  — — — — 
Revenues .............................................  248,011 260,381 (12,371) (4.8%) 
Cost of services ....................................  98,376 139,352 40,976 29.4% 
Gross profit .........................................  149,635 121,029 28,606 23.6% 
Operating expenses .............................  3,387 47,121 43,734 92.8% 
Income from operations .....................  146,248 73,908 72,340 97.9% 
Finance costs .......................................  (68,727) (87,622) 18,895 21.6% 
Other expenses – net ...........................  2,050 27,130 (25,080) (92.4) 
Income before income tax .................  79,571 13,416 66,154 493.1% 
Income tax expense .............................  — — — — 

Net income ..........................................  79,571 13,416 66,154 493.1% 
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared with year ended December 31, 2018 

Revenues 

The Company’s total revenues decreased by P12.4 million from P260.4 million to P248.0 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Decrease in revenue was due 
to decrease in output generation of the Clark solar plant as a result of unusually lower irradiation for 
the period and various external outages. 
 
Cost of services 

The decrease in the Company’s cost of services by ₱41.0 million, or 29% from ₱139.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱98.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, is due to the 
change in the estimated life of the transmission lines and solar panel modules of the Company for the 
Clark Solar Power Plant from 23 years to 15 to 30 years, respectively which was approved by the Board 
in 2019. 
 
Gross Profit 

As a result of the lower cost of services, the Company’s gross profit increased by ₱28.6 million, or 24% 
from ₱121.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱149.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses decreased by ₱43.7 million, or 93% from ₱47.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 to ₱3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to 
management fee billing of P33 million, receivable write-off of P4 million and increase in various other 
costs. 
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net increased by ₱6.2 million, or 10% from ₱60.5 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 to ₱66.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to the 
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decrease in foreign exchange gain or loss and interest charges arising from foreign currency 
denominated loan from a shareholder. 
 
Net income  

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱66.2 million, or 493% from ₱13.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱79.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 
 
FINANCIAL POSITION 

Review of financial conditions as of March 31, 2022 as compared with financial conditions as of  
December 31, 2021 

 
 As of 

 
March 31,  

2022 
December 
31, 2021 

Increase 
(decrease) % Change 

 ₱ thousands ₱ thousands  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  .......................  1,061,429 49,014 1,012,415 2,065.6% 
Trade and other receivables .......................  3,073 41,893 (38,820) (92.7%) 
Prepayments and other current assets .......  31,618 54,208 (22,590) (41.7%) 
 1,096,120 145,115 951,004 655.3% 
Noncurrent Assets     
Trade and other receivables, net of current    
      portion  ..................................................  116,720 85,982 30,738 35.7% 
Property, plant and equipment - net  ..........  1,316,400 1,331,185 (14,785) (1.1%) 
Investment properties, net ..........................  2,168,108 288,013 1,880,095 652.8% 
Right-of-use assets - net ............................  37,028 37,559 (531) (1.4%) 
Deferred income tax assets, net .................  8,200 8,200 — 100.0% 
Other noncurrent assets  ............................  11,860 12,766 (906) (7.1%) 
 3,658,316 1,763,705 1,894,611 107.4% 
Total Assets  .............................................  4,754,436 1,908,821 2,845,615 149.1% 
Current Liabilities     
Trade payables and other liabilities ............  50,818 51,397 (579) (1.1%) 
Due to related parties .................................  136,314 56,145 80,169 142.8% 
Lease liabilities ...........................................  2,170 1,264 906 71.7% 
 189,302 108,806 80,496 74.0% 
Noncurrent Liabilities     
Lease liabilities, net of current portion ........  230,355 103,132 127,222 123.4% 
Due to related parties, net of current 
portion .........................................................  68,522 68,522 — 0.0% 
Retirement benefit obligation ......................  315 315 — 0.0% 
 299,192 171,969 127,222 74.0% 
Total Liabilities  ........................................  488,494  280,775  207,719 74.0% 
Equity     
Share capital ...............................................  1,636,363 1,374,545    261,818 19.0% 
Additional paid in capital .............................  2,307,336 2,465 2,304,871 93,501.4% 
Remeasurement on retirement benefits .....  51 51 — 0.0% 
Retained earnings ......................................  322,192 250,985     71,208 28.4% 
Total Equity  ..............................................  4,265,942 1,628,046 2,637,896 162.0% 
Total Liabilities and equity  .....................  4,754,436 1,908,821 2,845,615 149.1% 
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ASSETS 
 
Current Assets increased by 655% or by P951 million  
 
The following discussion provides a detailed analysis of the increase in current assets: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents increased by 2,066% or P1.01 billion 

 
The increase in cash and cash equivalents is related to proceeds it received from its sale of primary 
shares in 2022 in which majority of funds was earmarked for the acquisition of Cotabato property and 
cash generated from its operations. 
 
Trade and Other Receivables decreased by 93% or by P38.82 million 

 
The decrease in trade and other receivables is mainly related to the collection of receivables from 
Transco from the sale of electricity during the fourth quarter of 2021. The balance of trade receivables 
mainly relates to actual recovery of the arrears FIT rate adjustment from the output it generated from 
January 2016 to December 2020 which payment schedule is expected to be collected within one year. 
 
Prepayments and Other Current Assets decreased by 42% or by P22.59 million  

 
Prepayments and other current assets decreased by P22.59 million due to reclassification to additional 
paid-up capital (APIC) of the deferred transactions as of December 31, 2021 amounting to P35.66 
million. Upon listing and issuance of the primary shares in 2022, said cost were deducted against the 
APIC. The decrease was offset by the prepaid rentals for the Toledo and Negros Occidental properties 
which are paid at the beginning of the year as stipulated in the lease contracts. 
 
Non-Current Assets increased by P1.89 billion or 107% 
 
The following discussion provides a detailed analysis of the increase in non-current assets: 
 
Trade and other receivables – noncurrent increased by P30.74 million or 36% 

 
The increase in noncurrent portion of trade and other receivables is mainly related to straight line 
adjustment of the Company’s lease revenue in accordance PFRS 16, Leases. The related receivable 
is to be recovered upon billing to lessee based on the contractual lease schedule. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment decreased by 1% or by P14.78 million  

 
The movement in the Company’s property, plant and equipment is mainly related to the depreciation 
charges for the period. 
 
Investment Properties increased by 653% or by P1.88 billion  

 
Investment properties increased due to the acquisition of Bulacan property amounting to P1.75 billion 
in 2022 and the recognition of leasehold asset and related lease liability on long term lease contract in 
Toledo, Cebu and Silay City, Negros Occidental totaling to P128.35 million. Meanwhile, amortization of 
leasehold asset amounted to P1.06 million during the period. 
 
Right of Use Assets decreased P0.53 million or 1% 
 
The movement in the right of use asset account which pertains to leasehold right on the land where its 
Clark solar plant is located pertains to amortization charges for the period. 
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Deferred tax assets amounted to P8.20 million 
 

There is no movement in the Company’s deferred tax asset for the period. 
 
Other Non-Current Assets decreased by 7% or P0.91 million  

 
The decrease in Other Non-Current Assets is mainly due to assignment of restricted funds to its Parent 
Company as the related loan which requires the set-up of the restricted fund was also transferred or 
assigned to the Parent Company in 2021. 
 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
 
Current Liabilities increased by 74% or by P80.50 million 
 
The following discussion provides a detailed analysis of the increase in current liabilities: 
 
Trade and Other Payables decreased by 1% or by P0.58 million 
The decrease is mainly due to payments made to supplier from the operations and maintenance and 
IPO related activities that it availed during the last quarter of 2021.  
 
Due to related parties increased by 143% or P80.17 million 
The increase is mainly related to proceeds from secondary offering which were not yet transmitted to 
the Parent Company.   
 
Lease liabilities – current portion increased by 72% or by P0.91 million 
The increase is due to the recognition of right of use asset and related lease liabilities from lease 
contracts which commenced in 2021 amounting to P128.36 million. As a result, current portion of lease 
liabilities increased as well. 
 
Non-Current Liabilities increased by 74% or P127.22 million 
 
The following discussion provides a detailed analysis of the increase in non-current liabilities: 
 
Lease liabilities – noncurrent portion increased by 123% or by P127.22 million 

 
The increase is due to the recognition of right of use asset and related lease liabilities from lease 
contracts which commenced in 2021 amounting to P128.36 million. The amount was reduced by 
payments during the period and reclassifications to current portion. 
 
Due to related parties – noncurrent amounted to P68.52 million 

 
This account pertains to liabilities to Parent Company which are not to be demanded within one year. 
There are no movements in this account. 
 
Retirement benefit obligation amounted to P0.31 million 
This account pertains to retirement obligation of the Company’s employees as computed by an actuary 
as of the end of December 31, 2021. There are no movements in this account. 
 
Equity increased by 162% or by P2.64 billion 

 
On February 22, 2022, the Company successfully listed its shares with the PSE via the offer of (i) 
1,047,272,000 new common shares with a par value of P0.25 per share issued and offered by the 
Company as Primary Offer Shares, and (ii) 1,134,547,000 existing Shares offered by the Parent 
Company, Selling Shareholder, pursuant to a Secondary Offer Shares with Option shares 
up3,27,273,000 which were exercised at such date. All the shares offered by the Company and the 
Parent Company were sold at an offer price of P2.55 per share. The Company recognized Additional 
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Paid-Up Capital (APIC) arising from this transaction amounting to P2.4 billion in 2022. Transaction 
costs attributable to Primary Shares which were treated as deduction to APIC amounted to P103.85 
million. Net income during the period amounted to P300.30 million while dividend payments for the 
period which were taken from the earnings in 2021 amounted to P229.09 million. 

 

 As of December 31, 

 2021 2020 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 
 ₱ thousands ₱ thousands  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  ........................  49,014 71,738 22,723 31.7% 
Trade and other receivables ........................  41,893 258,905 (217,013) -83.8% 
Prepayments and other current assets ........  54,208 11,601 42,607 367.3% 
 145,115 342,244 197,129 57.6% 
Noncurrent Assets     
Trade and other receivables, net of current    
      portion  ...................................................  85,982 — 85,892 100.0% 
Property, plant and equipment - net  ...........  1,331,185 1,390,338 (59,952 (4.3%) 
Investment properties, net ...........................  288,013 — 288,013 100.0% 
Right-of-use assets - net .............................  37,559 39,685 (2,126) (5.4%) 
Deferred income tax assets, net ..................  8,200 — 8,200 100.0% 
Other noncurrent assets  .............................  12,766 8,975 3,791 42.2% 
 1,763,705 1,438,998 324,708 22.6% 
Total Assets  ..............................................  1,908,821 1,781,242 127,579 7.2% 
Current Liabilities     
Trade payables and other liabilities .............  51,397 125,611 (74,213) (51.9%) 
Due to a related party ..................................  56,145 — 56,145 100.0% 
Loans payable .............................................  — 126,446 (126,446) (100.0%) 
Lease liabilities ............................................  1,264 294 969 329.6 
 108,806 252,351 (143,545) (56.9%) 
Noncurrent Liabilities     
Loans payable, net of current portion ..........  — 909,809 (909,809) (100.0%) 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion .........  103,132 51,061 52,072 102.0% 
Due to related parties, net of current 
portion ..........................................................  68,522 — 68,522 100.0% 
Retirement benefit obligation .......................  315 2,916 (2,601) (89.2%) 
 171,969 963,786 (791,817) (82.2%) 
Total Liabilities  .........................................  280,775  1,240,797  (935,362) (76.9%) 
Equity     
Share capital ................................................  1,374,545 540,000    834,546 154.5% 
Additional paid in capital ..............................  2,465 — 2,465 100.0% 
Remeasurement on retirement benefits ......  51 — 51 100.0% 
Retained earnings .......................................  250,985 25,105     225,880 899.8% 
Total Equity  ...............................................  1,628,046 565,105 1,062,941 188.1% 
Total Liabilities and equity  ......................  1,908,821 1,781,242 127,579 7.2% 

 

As of December 31, 2021 compared with as of December 31, 2020 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.9 billion as of December 31, 2021, which was ₱127.6 
million, or 7% higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.8 billion as of December 31, 2020. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents dcreased by ₱22.7 million or 32% to ₱49.0 million  as of 
December 31, 2021, compared to ₱71.7 million as of December 31, 2020, due to payments made 
related to the Company’s IPO. 
 
Trade and other receivables - current 

The Company’s trade and other receivables – current increased by ₱0.1 million to ₱41.9 millionas of 
December 31, 2021, compared to ₱42.0 million as of December 31, 2020, due to recognition of straight 
line PFRS lease adjustment amounting to P2.5 million. 
 
Due from related parties 
 
The Company’s due from related parties decreased by ₱216.9 million or 100% due to collection of said 
advances. 
 
Other current assets 

The increase of ₱42.6 million or 367% in the Company’s other current assets from ₱11.6 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱54.2 million as of December 31, 2021, is mainly related to payments made to 
consultants in relation to the Offer.  These will be recognized as a deduction against additional paid-in 
capital upon completion of the Offer. 
 
Trade and other receivables – noncurrent  

The Company’s trade and other receivables – noncurrent increased by ₱86.0 million or 100%  as a 
result of recognition of feed in tariff rate adjustment which shall be payable over the five-year period. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net is comprised of the Clark Solar Power Plant leased 
out to CREC as the solar power plant operator, amount to ₱1,331.2 million as of December 31, 2021 
which is ₱59.2 million or 4% lower compared with ₱1,390.3 million as of December 31, 2020.  The 
decrease is due to depreciation charges for the period. 
 
Investment properties 

The Company’s investment properties, which comprise of parcels of land leased out to solar power 
plant operators, amount to ₱234.5 million as of December 31, 2021. The increase is mainly related to 
asset-for-share of Armenia property in 2021. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets increased by ₱51.3 million or 129%  from ₱39.7 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱91.0 million as of December 31, 2021 due to additional lease contract 
executed between the Company and the owner of Dalayap property for the lease of land where Citicore 
Solar Tarlac 2 operates its solar plant. Movement in the right-of-use assets was also offset by the 
amortization of such assets for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
Deferred tax asset 
 
The Company’s increase in deferred tax asset of ₱8.2 million or 100% from nil as of December 31, 
2020, to ₱8.2 million as of December 31, 2021 was due to recognition of Net Operating Loss Carried 
Over on Lease Segment. For tax purposes, sale of electricity is still under income tax holiday. 
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Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit, increased by ₱3.8 million 
or 42% from ₱9.0 million as of December 31, 2020 to ₱12.8 million as of December 31, 2021 due to 
additional security deposits required to be made by the Company under its lease contract with Clark 
Development Corporation. 
 
Liabilities 
 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱280.8 million  as of December 31, 2021, which was ₱935.4 
million, or 77% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,216.1 million  as of December 31, 2020. 
 
Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable decreased by ₱74.2 million or 59%  from ₱125.6 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱51.4 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the decrease in accrued interest 
pursuant to the assignment of its bank loan to CREC. 
 
Due to related parties – current portion 

The Company’s due to related parties – current portion amounted to ₱56.1 million as of December 31, 
2021 and pertains to the portion of the loan payable of the Company expected to be settled within one 
year which was reclassified from due to related parties – net of current portion.  The Company’s due to 
related parties pertains to the amount of the loan payable of the Company which was assigned by the 
Company to CREC and which was not converted to equity. 
 
Loans payable – current 

The Company did not have any loan payable – current as of December 31, 2021, compared to ₱126.4 
million as of December 31, 2020.  Pursuant to the Conversion of Advances, the Company’s assigned 
its bank loan payable to CREC. 
 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱1.0 million or 330%  from ₱0.3 million  as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱1.3 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the reclassification of current lease 
liabilities from the non-current portion. 
 
Loans payable – net of current portion 

The Company did not have any loan payable – net of current portion as of December 31, 2021. The 
decrease in the amount of P909.8 million as of December 31, 2020 was due to the assignment of bank 
loan payable to CREC in 2021. 
 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion increased by ₱52.1 million or 102% from ₱51.1 
million as of December 31, 2020, to ₱103.1 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the increase in 
right-of-use assets brought about by the additional lease contract executed by the Company with the 
owner of Dalayap property. 
 
Due to related parties – net of current portion 

The Company’s due to related parties – net of current portion increased by ₱68.5 million or 100%  from 
nil as of December 31, 2020, to ₱68.5 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the reclassification of a 
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portion of the loan payable of the Company expected to be settled beyond one year.  The Company’s 
due to related parties pertains to the amount of the loan payable of the Company which was assigned 
by the Company to CREC and which was not converted to equity. 
 
Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱1,628.0 million as of December 31, 2021, which increased by 
₱1,062.9 million or 188%, from ₱565.1 million as of December 31, 2020, mainly relating to various debt 
to equity conversion and asset for share swap which increased capital stock by P834.5 million and the 
net income for the period amounting to P225.6 million. 

 
 As of December 31, 

 2020 2019 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 
 ₱ thousands ₱ thousands  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  ........................  71,738 47,065 24,673 52.4% 
Trade and other receivables ........................  258,905 128,630 130,275 101.3% 
Prepayments and other current assets ........  11,601 11,443 158 1.4% 
 342,244 187,138 155,106 82.9% 
Noncurrent Assets     
Property, plant and equipment - net  ...........  1,390,338 1,449,497 (59,159) (4.1%) 
Right-of-use assets - net .............................  39,685 41,811 (2,126) (5.1%) 
Other noncurrent assets  .............................  8,975 8,668 306 3.5% 
 1,438,998 1,499,976 (60,978) (4.1%) 
Total Assets  ..............................................  1,781,242 1,687,114 94,128 5.6% 
Current Liabilities     
Trade payables and other liabilities .............  125,611 78,380 47,231 60.3% 
Loans payable .............................................  126,446 120,914 5,532 4.6% 
Lease liabilities ............................................  294 21 273 1287.4% 
 252,351 199,315 53,036 26.6% 
Noncurrent Liabilities     
Loans payable, net of current portion ..........  909,809 974,342 (64,533) (6.6%) 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion .........  51,061 51,410 (349) (0.7%) 
Retirement benefit obligation .......................  2,916 — 2,916 100.0% 
Other non-current liabilities ..........................  — 1,057 (1,057) (100.0%) 
 963,786 1,026,809 (63,023) (6.1%) 
Total Liabilities  .........................................  1,240,797  1,226,124  (9,987) (0.8%) 
Equity     
Share capital ................................................  540,000 540,000    — — 
Retained earnings (deficit) ...........................  25,105 (79,010)     104,115 (131.8%) 
Total Equity  ...............................................  565,105 460,990 1,062,941 22.6% 
Total Liabilities and equity  ......................  1,781,242 1,687,114 127,579 5.6% 
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As of December 31, 2020 compared with as of December 31, 2019 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.8 billion as of December 31, 2020, which was ₱94.1 
million, or 6% higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.7 billion as of December 31, 2019. 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents increased by ₱24.7 million or 523% to ₱71.7 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱47.1 million as of December 31, 2019, due to cash generated from 
the Company’s operations and lower debt service in 2020 as the Company availed of the deferments 
granted under the Bayanihan Act. 
 
Trade and other receivables 

The Company’s trade and other receivables increased by ₱3.7 million or 10% to ₱42.0 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱38.3 million as of December 31, 2019, due to higher revenue billings 
for the months of November and December compared with 2019. 
 
Due from related parties 

The Company’s Due from related parties increased by ₱126.6 million or 140% to ₱216.9 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱90.4 million as of December 31, 2019, due to cash sweep policy of 
the Group to consolidate unutilized cash at the holding level. 
 
Other current assets 

The increase of ₱0.2 million or 1% in the Company’s other current assets from P11.4 million as of 
December 31, 2019 to ₱11.6 million as of December 31, 2020, is mainly related to advance payments 
made to a service provider, who will be billed after rendering full service. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net consisted of the Clark Solar Power Plant, and 
amounted to ₱1,390.3 million  as of December 31, 2020, which is ₱59.2 million or 4.1% lower compared 
with ₱1,449.5 million as of December 31, 2019.  The decrease is due to depreciation charges for the 
period. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets decreased by ₱2.1 million or 5% from ₱41.8 million as of December 
31, 2019, to ₱39.7 million as of December 31, 2020 due to amortization of such assets recognized in 
2020. 
 
Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit increased slightly by P0.3 
million or 4%  due to small adjustments on bill deposits. 
 
Liabilities 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱1,216.1 million as of December 31, 2020, which was 
₱10.0 million, or 1% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,226.1 million as of December 31, 
2019. 
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Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable increased by ₱47.2 million or 60% from ₱78.4 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱125.6 million as of December 31, 2020 due to the deferral by the Company of 
its principal loan repayment and interest due on its loan payable, resulting in higher interest accrual for 
the year. 
 
Loans payable – current 

The Company’s loans payable - current increased by ₱5.5 million or 5% from ₱120.9 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱126.4 million as of December 31, 2020 due to increase in expected principal 
payments for the next year based on the loan amortization schedule with the bank. 
 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱0.3 million or 1,287%  from ₱21,201 as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱0.3 million as of December 31, 2020 due to increase in expected lease 
payment for the next year. 
 
Loans payable – noncurrent 

The Company’s loans payable - noncurrent decreased by ₱64.5 million or 7% from ₱974.3 million as 
of December 31, 2019, to ₱909.8 million as of December 31, 2020 due to principal payments made 
during the period. 
 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion decreased by ₱0.3 million or 1% from ₱51.4 
million as of December 31, 2019, to ₱51.1 million as of December 31, 2020 due to lease payments 
made during the period. 
 
Retirement Benefit Obligation 

The Company’s retirement benefit obligation increased by ₱2.9 million or 100% due to recognition of 
post-employment benefit obligation based on the provisions of Republic Act 7641, Retirement Law. 
 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

The Company’s other noncurrent liabilities of ₱1.1 million as of December 31, 2019 represents asset 
retirement obligations in 2019 relating to restoration costs of the leased land to its original condition 
upon the termination of the lease agreement.  In 2020, the Company reversed the full amount of 
provision as management assessed that this is no longer expected to be settled or incurred upon 
termination of the lease agreement. 
 
Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱565.1 million as of December 31, 2020, which increased by ₱104.1 
million or 23%, from ₱461.0 million as of December 31, 2019, mainly relating to net income for the 
period. 
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 As of December 31, 

 2019 2018 
Increase 

(decrease) % Change 
 ₱ thousands ₱ thousands  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  .........................  47,065 86,794 (39,730) (45.8%) 
Trade and other receivables ........................  128,630 63,454 65,176 102.7% 
Prepayments and other current assets ........  11,443 12,599 1,155 (9.2%) 
 187,138 162,847 24,290 14.9% 
Noncurrent Assets     
Property, plant and equipment - net  ............  1,449,497 1,508,465 (58,969) (3.9%) 
Right-of-use assets - net ..............................  41,811 — 41,811 100.0% 
Other noncurrent assets  ..............................  8,668 10,110 (1,442) (14.3%) 
 1,499,976 1,518,576 (18,600) (1.2%) 
Total Assets  ...............................................  1,687,114 1,681,423 5,691 0.3% 
Current Liabilities     
Trade payables and other liabilities ..............  78,380 62,609 15,770 25.4% 
Due to related parties ...................................  — 10,875 (10,875) (100.0%) 
Loans payable ..............................................  120,914 120,914 164 0.1% 
Lease liabilities .............................................  21 — 21 100.0% 
 199,315 194,234 5,081 2.6% 
Noncurrent Liabilities     
Loans payable, net of current portion ...........  974,342 1,095,265 (120,923) (11.0%) 
Lease liabilities, net of current portion ..........  51,410 — 51,410 100.0% 
Other non-current liabilities ..........................  1,057 10,505 (9,449) (89.9%) 
 1,026,809 1,105,771 (78,961) (7.1%) 
Total Liabilities  ..........................................  1,226,124  1,300,004  (73,880) (5.7%) 
Equity     
Share capital ................................................  540,000 540,000    — — 
Retained earnings (deficit) ...........................  (79,010) (158,581)     79,571 (50.2%) 
Total Equity  ................................................  460,990 381,419 79,571 20.9% 
Total Liabilities and equity  .......................  1,687,114 1,681,423 5,691 0.3% 
 
 
As of December 31, 2019 compared with as of December 31, 2018 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.7 billion as of December 31, 2019, which was ₱5.7 million 
higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.5 billion as of December 31, 2018. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased by ₱39.7 million or 46% to ₱47.1 million as of 
December 31, 2019, compared to ₱86.8 million as of December 31, 2018, due to debt service made 
during the year. 
 
Trade and other receivables 

The Company’s trade and other receivables decreased by ₱25.2 million or 40% to ₱38.3 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱63.5 million as of December 31, 2019, due to collections of overdue 
accounts with Transco. 
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Due from related parties 

The Company’s Due from related parties increased by ₱90.4 million or 100%, due to cash sweep policy 
of the Group to consolidate unutilized cash at the holding level. 
 
Other current assets 

The decrease of ₱1.2 million or 9% in the Company’s other current assets from P12.6 million as of 
December 31, 2019 to ₱11.4 million as of December 31, 2019, is mainly related to change in timing of 
insurance payment and covered period which reduced prepaid insurance by the same amount. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net consisted of the Clark Solar Power Plant amounted 
to ₱1,449.5 million  as of December 31, 2019, which is ₱59.0 million or 4% lower compared with 
₱1,508.5 million as of December 31, 2018.  The decrease is due to depreciation charges for the period. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets increased by ₱41.8 million or 100% as a result of adoption of the 
new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases, where operating leases are required to be recognized 
as right of use assets. 
 
Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit decreased by P1.4 million 
or 14%  due to reclassification of prepaid rental to right of use assets as a result of adoption of the new 
accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. 
 
Liabilities 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱1,226.1 million as of December 31, 2019, which was 
₱73.0 million, or 6% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,300.0 million as of December 31, 
2018. 
 
Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable increased by ₱15.8 million or 25% from ₱62.6 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱78.4 million as of December 31, 2020 due to accrual of government related 
taxes. 
 
Loans payable – current 

The Company’s loans payable - current increased insignificantly by ₱0.2 million from ₱120.7 million as 
of December 31, 2018, to ₱120.9 million as of December 31, 2019 due to increase in expected principal 
payments for the next year based on the loan amortization schedule with the bank. 
 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱21,201 or 100%  as a result of adoption of the 
new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. 
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Loans payable – noncurrent 

The Company’s loans payable - noncurrent decreased by ₱120.9 million or 11% from ₱1,095.3 million 
as of December 31, 2018, to ₱974.3 million as of December 31, 2019 due to principal payments made 
during the period. 
 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion increased by ₱51.4 million or 100% as a result 
of adoption of the new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. 
 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

The Company’s other noncurrent liabilities of ₱10.5 million as of December 31, 2018 decreased by 
P9.4 million or 90% to P1.1 million as of December 31, 2019 due to reclassification lease equalization 
as a result of adoption of the new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. In 2018, the provision for 
lease equalization pertains to the additional liability resulting from the application of straight-line method 
to lease payments under the lease of land. 
 
Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱461.0 million as of December 31, 2019, which increased by ₱79.6 
million or 21%, from ₱381.4 million as of December 31, 2019, mainly relating to net income for the 
period. 
 
Material Events and Uncertainties 
 
There are no other material changes in CREIT’s financial position and operating results, including 
revenues, by five percent (5%) or more and no condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. 
Further, there are no material events and uncertainties known to management that would impact or 
change the reported financial information and condition of CREIT.  
 
Other than the impact of COVID-19 on the business which is disclosed in Note 25 of the audited 
financial statements or Exhibit “4”, there are no known trends or demands, commitments, events or 
uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in increasing or decreasing CREIT’s 
liquidity in any material way.  CREIT does not anticipate having any cash flow or liquidity problems. It 
is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing arrangement 
requiring it to make payments.  
 
There are no material off-balance transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations), and other relationships of CREIT with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period.  
 
CREIT has a capital commitment to utilize the proceeds it received last February 22, 2022 from primary 
shares offering amounting to Two Billion Five Hundred Seven Million Nine Hundred Eighteen Pesos 
(PhP 2,507,918.00) for the acquisition of Bulacan and Cotabato properties. Other than that, there are 
no material commitments for capital expenditures, events or uncertainties that have had or that are 
reasonably expected to have a material impact on the continuing operations of CREIT.  
  
There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of 
operations of CREIT.  
 
There are no material events subsequent to 31 December 2021 that have not been reflected in the 
audited financial statements or Exhibit “4” of the Company.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As regards internal and external sources of liquidity, the Company’s funding is sourced from internally 
generated cash flows, and also from borrowings or available credit facilities from other local and 
international commercial banks. 
 
There is no material commitment for capital expenditures other than those performed in the ordinary 
course of trade or business. Additionally, there is no significant element of income not arising from 
continuing operations. 
 
There have not been any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results 
of operations of CREIT. 
 
Cash Flows  
 
The following table sets forth information from CREIT’s audited statements of cash flows for the periods 
indicated: 
 
(Amounts in PhP Millions) For the years ended December 31 
Cash Flow 2021 2020 2019 
Net cash provided by operating activities 51 120 150 
Net cash used in investing activities - - - 
Net cash used in financing activities (74) (95) (190) 

 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)  
 
CREIT’s KPIs are as follows: 
 

All Ratios except Earnings per Share 
and Book Value per Share 2021 2020 2019 

Current Ratio1 1.33 1.36 0.94 

Debt to Equity Ratio2 - 1.83 2.38 

Book Value Per Share3 0.30 8.06 -0.51 

Earnings per Share4 0.08 0.04 0.03 

Return on Assets5 0.12 0.06 0.05 

Return on Equity6 0.21 0.20 0.19 

Net Profit Margin7 0.64 0.39 0.32 
 
The KPIs were chosen to provide management with a measure of CREIT’s sustainability on financial 
strength (Current Ratio and Debt to Equity Ratio), and profitability (Earnings per Share, Return on 
Assets, Return on Equity, Net Profit Margin). 
 
Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
  

 
1 Current Assets/Current Liabilities 
2 Interest bearing loans and borrowings /Stockholder’s Equity 
3 Total Equity/Issued and Outstanding Shares 
4 Net Profit/Issued and Outstanding Shares 
5 Net Profit/Average Shares 
6 Net Profit/Average Equity 
7 Net Profit/Revenue 
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CREIT is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation to its financial instruments. Its risk 
management is coordinated with the Board of Directors and focuses on actively securing CREIT’s short-
to-medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.    
  
CREIT does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write 
options.  The most significant financial risks to which it is exposed to are market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The detailed discussion of the impact of these risks are discussed in Note 32 of the 
consolidated audited financial statements or Exhibit “3”. 
 
External Audit Fees and Services  
 
The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed for each of the last three (3) fiscal years for 
professional services rendered by CREIT’s external auditors: 
 

Particulars Nature Audit Fees (amounts in PhP) 
For the years ended December 31 

  2021 2020 2019 
Maceda 

Valencia & Co 
Audit of Financial Statements - - 150,000.00 

Isla Lipana & 
Co.  (“PwC 

Philippines”) 

Audit of Financial Statements 300,000.00 100,000.00 - 
Agreed Upon Procedures – 
Increase in authorized capital 
stock 

75,000.00 - - 

Pro-forma Financials 
Adjustments 

150,000.00 - - 

Circle-up procedures  1,500,00.00 - - 
Q2 Financial Statements 
Audit and Proforma 

680,000.00 - - 

Q3 Financial Statements 
Audit 

350,000.00 - - 

Q3 Proforma Financial 
Statements 

300,000.00 - - 

Prospectus Circle-Up (for 
Preferred Shares Offering) 

500,000.00 - - 

 
The Board’s Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (AROC) 
 
The AROC is composed of Mr. Leonilo G. Coronel, Chairman of the AROC, Ms. Elizabeth Anne C. 
Uychaco, Vice Chairman of the AROC, and Atty. Jose M. Layug, Jr.  
 
The AROC is required to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services to be rendered by independent 
accountants and approve the engagement fee and any other compensation to be paid to such 
independent accountants. When deciding whether to approve these items, the AROC takes into 
account whether the provision of any non-audit service is compatible with the independence standards 
under the guidelines of the SEC. To assist in this undertaking, the AROC communicates with the 
external auditors with regard to any relationship or services that may impact their objectivity and 
independence and, if appropriate, recommends that the Board take the necessary action to ensure 
their independence.  
 
Changes in and Disagreements with External Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
  
The name of the handling partner for the auditor of CREIT is as follows: 
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Auditor Year Handling Partner 
Isla Lipana & Co.  (“PwC Philippines”) 2021 and 2020 2020 to 2021 

– Pocholo Domondon 
  
CREIT did not have any disagreements with its internal auditors or independent accountants on any 
matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statements, disclosures, or auditing scope or 
procedures. 
 
Description of the General Nature and Scope of Business 

 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (the “Company”) was registered with the Philippine Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 15, 2010. The Company attained its status as “public company” 
on February 22, 2022 when it listed its shares as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) in the main 
board of the PSE.  
 
Prior to May 25, 2021, the Company’s primary objective is to explore, develop and utilize renewable 
resources with particular focus on solar and wind energy generation; to design, construct, erect, 
assemble, commission and operate power-generating plants and related facilities for the conversion of 
renewable energy into usable form fit for electricity generation and distribution; and to perform other 
ancillary and incidental activities as may be provided by and under contract with the Government of the 
Republic of the Philippines, or any subdivision, instrumentality or agency thereof, or any government-
owned and controlled corporation, or other entity engaged in the development, supply and distribution 
of renewable energy.   
 
The amended primary purpose of the Company is to engage in the business of owning income-
generating real estate assets, including renewable energy generating real estate assets, under a real 
estate investment trust (REIT) by virtue of Republic Act (RA) No. 9856, otherwise known as the “Real 
Estate Investment Trust Act of 2009” and its implementing rules and regulations.  
 
The Company was registered with the Philippine Board of Investments (BOI) on October 16, 2015 as 
a renewable energy developer of solar energy resources under RA No. 9513, otherwise known as the 
“Renewable Energy Act of 2008”.   
 
The Company’s 22.33-megawatt (MW) Clark Solar Power Project in Clark, Freeport Zone, Pampanga 
was successfully commissioned on March 12, 2016 through the confirmation of the Department of 
Energy (DOE) covering its Solar Energy Service Contract (SESC) No. 2014-07-086 and Amended 
Certificate of Commerciality No. SCC-2015-03-014-B with validity of 25 years. On October 13, 2021, 
the Company assigned the SESC to the Parent Company, making the latter the operator of the Clark 
Solar Power Plant.  The assignment was approved by the DOE on December 24, 2021.   
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II. Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity 
 

A. Market Information 
 

The Company’s common shares are traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) under the symbol 
“CREIT.” The shares were listed with the PSE on February 22, 2022 with the following high and low prices: 

 
 High Low Close 
First Quarter 2022 2.94 2.55 2.59 

 
The closing price of CREIT’s shares as of May 12, 2022 is Php2.48. 

 
B. Holders 

 
As of March 31, 2022, there are six billion five hundred forty-five thousand four hundred fifty-four thousand 
four (6,545,454,004) common shares outstanding registered in the name of the following: 

 
 No. of Shares Percentage of 

Shareholding 
Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation  3,117,641,132 47.63% 
Citicore Solar Tarlac 1, Inc.  918,720,864 14.04% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)  2,253,004,960 34.42% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Fil)  255,997,040 3.91% 
Villanueva, Myra P.  40,000 0.00% 
Villanueva, Milagros P.  20,000 0.00% 
Villanueva, Myrna P. 20,000 0.00% 
Cabreza, Marietta V.  10,000 0.00% 
Coronel, Leonilo G.  1 0.00% 
Dela Cruz, Jez G.  1 0.00% 
Ferrer. Manuiel Louie B.  1 0.00% 
Juan, Pacita U.  1 0.00% 
Layug, Jr., Jose M.  1 0.00% 
Saavedra, Edgar B.  1 0.00% 
Tan, Oliver Y.  1 0.00% 
Uychaco, Elizabeth Anne C.  1 0.00% 

 
C. Dividends 
 
The Company has adopted a dividend policy in accordance with the provisions of the REIT Law, pursuant 
to which the Company’s shareholders may be entitled to receive at least 90% of the Company’s annual 
Distributable Income.  The Company intends to implement an annual cash dividend payout ratio of at least 
95% of Distributable Income for the preceding fiscal year, subject to compliance with the requirements of 
the REIT Law and the Revised REIT IRR, including but not limited to the requirement that the dividends 
shall be payable only from the unrestricted retained earnings as provided for under Section 42 of the 
Philippine Revised Corporation Code, among others, the terms and conditions of the Company’s 
outstanding loan facilities in the event the Company incurs indebtedness, and the absence of circumstances 
which may restrict the payment of such amount of dividends, including, but not limited to, when there is 
need for special reserve for probable contingencies.  The Company intends to declare and pay out 
dividends on a quarterly basis each year. 

 
The failure to distribute at least 90% of the annual Distributable Income will subject the Company, if such 
failure remains un-remedied within 30 days, to income tax on the taxable net income as defined in Chapter 
IV, Title II of the National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, instead of the taxable net income as defined 
in the REIT Law.  Accordingly, dividends distributed by the Company may be disallowed as a deduction for 
purposes of determining taxable net income.  Additionally, other tax incentives granted under the REIT Law 
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may be revoked, and the failure to distribute at least 90% of the annual Distributable Income may be a 
ground to delist the Company from the PSE. 
 
The following are the dividends declared by the Company as of date: 
 

2022 Cash dividends (as of May 13, 2022) 
Peso Amount Record Date Payment Date 

Php227.93 million March 28, 2022 April 4, 2022 
Php285.09 million June 8, 2022 June 24, 2022 

 
The Company has listed with the PSE on February 22, 2022 and has not declared any dividends for the 
years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. 
 
D. Corporate Governance 

 
It is the firm belief of CREIT that an organization that faithfully practices and implements the core principles 
of good corporate governance such as honesty, integrity, fairness, accountability, and transparency will, 
more often than not, outperform and outshine its competitors. Thus, CREIT is in full compliance with the 
rules and regulations of the SEC, the PSE, and all other relevant rules and regulations, especially those 
involving public-listed companies.  
 
Below are some of the Company’s policies and programs in relation to corporate governance: 
 
1. In compliance with SEC M.C. No. 19, Series of 2016, CREIT adopted its New Manual on Corporate 

Governance (“Manual”) and has taken several steps to apply its principles, such as constituting all the 
Board Committees required therein: 
 
a. Executive Committee;  
b. Audit and Risk Oversight Committee 
c. Related Party Transaction Review & Compliance Committee Meetings 
d. Nominations, Compensation & Personnel Committee 
e. Environmental, Social & Governance Committee 

 
The charters and compositions of the foregoing Board Committees are in accordance with the Manual. 

 
2. The Company has elected four (4) Independent Directors to ensure that the Board will protect, not 

only the interests of the Company, but its shareholders as well.  
 
3. To further its corporate governance initiatives, CREIT, in 2018, implemented its Code of Business 

Conduct and Ethics, Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards for Suppliers, Insider Trading Policy, and 
Conflict of Interest Policy Supplemental Guidelines and Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form. Further, 
CREIT actively rolled out its Whistleblowing Policy to its employees, suppliers, vendors, and clients, 
to encourage the disclosure of illegal and dishonest activities occurring within the Company. 

 
4. In 2019, CREIT adopted its Anti-Fraud Policy, Board Self-Evaluation Policy, and introduced changes 

to its Related Party Transactions Policy in compliance with SEC M.C. No. 10 series of 2019. It also 
conducted an Annual Corporate Governance Training on November 13, 2019, with the assistance of 
the Institute of Corporate Directors, which was attended by the Company’s Directors and key officers.  

 
5. The Board revised the Company’s vision, mission, and values, which it launched in 2019.  

 
The Company has not deviated from its Manual since adoption until present. 
 
Megawide has not deviated from its Manual on Corporate Governance since its adoption until present. 
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The Company’s Environmental, Social & Governance Committee is continuously monitoring the Company 
and is also using the SEC Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (I-ACGR) as a guide to improve 
on and adopt the best practices in corporate governance. 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A 
 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

AND SECTION 141 OF THE CORPORATION CODE 
 

1. For the Fiscal Year Ended 
 

 December 31, 2021 

2. SEC Identification Number 
 

 CS201010780 

3. BIR Tax Identification No.  
 

 007-813-849-00001 

4. Exact Name of Issuer as Specified in its 
Charter 

 

 Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 

5. Province, Country or other Jurisdiction of 
Incorporation or Organization 

 

 Philippines 

6. Industry Classification Code 
     (SEC use only) 

 

  

7. Address of Principal Office  11F Rockwell Santolan 
Town Plaza, 276 Col. Bonny 
Serrano Avenue, San Juan City 
 

     Postal Code 
 

 1500 

8. Issuer’s Telephone Number, including Area 
Code 

 

 (02)8826-5698 

9. Former Name, Former Address and Fiscal 
Year, if Changed since Last Report 

 N/A 

 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Section 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Section 4 and 8 of the RSA: 
 

Title of Each Class Number of Shares 
Issued and Outstanding 

Amount of Debt 
Outstanding (Php) 

CREIT (Common) 6,545,454,004 0 

 
11. Are any or all these securities listed on a stock exchange? 

 
Yes [ ü ]   No  [   ] 
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If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and classes of securities listed therein: 
 

The Philippine Stock 
Exchange, Inc. 

1. Common Shares (CREIT) 
 

 
2. Check whether the issuer: 
 

has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder 
of Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder and Sections 26 and 141 of the 
Corporation Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such 
shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports): 

 
Yes [ü]   No  [ ] 

 
has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 

 
Yes [ ]   No  [ü] 

 
State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant. The 
aggregate market value shall be computed by reference to the price at which the stock was sold, 
or the average bid and asked prices of such stock, as of a specified date within 60 days prior to 
the date of filing. If a determination as to whether a particular person or entity is an affiliate 
cannot be made without involving unreasonable effort and expense, the aggregate value of the 
common stock held by non-affiliates may be calculated on the basis of assumptions reasonable 
under the circumstances, provided the assumptions are set forth in this Form. (See definition 
of “affiliate” in “Annex B”): 

 
Number of non-affiliate shares as of December 31, 2021 - 
Closing price per share as of December 31, 2021 N/A 
Market value as of December 31, 2021 N/A  
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PART I – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Business  
 
Description of Business 

 
Citicore Energy REIT Corporation (previously Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources, Inc.) (the 
“Company” or “CREIT”) is focused on the ownership of sustainable infrastructure projects such as 
income-generating renewable energy real estate properties in the Philippines. 
 
The Company is a REIT formed primarily to own and invest in income-generating renewable energy 
real estate properties, including land and properties used for harnessing power, that meet the 
Company’s investment criteria.  Primarily, the Company will be the commercial REIT platform of the 
Citicore Group.  As a REIT, the Company will focus on expanding its income-generating renewable 
energy real estate properties.  The Company offers its shareholders an investment opportunity with a 
stable yield, opportunities for Gross Revenue and Net Operating Income growth, high-quality income-
generating renewable energy real estate properties supported by a strong and growing demand for 
electricity in the Philippines, appreciation of land values, strong support from the Sponsors, 
experienced management with incentive to grow the Company’s Gross Revenue and Net Operating 
Income, and distribution of at least 95% of the Company’s Distributable Income. 
 
The Company has an authorized capital stock of ₱539,999,998.50 divided into 2,159,999,994 Shares 
with a par value of ₱0.25 per share, of which 2,159,999,994 Shares are issued and outstanding.  On 
May 25, 2021, the Company’s shareholders, approved the following amendments to its Articles of 
Incorporation:  (i) change of name of the Company from “Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources 
Inc.” to “Citicore Energy REIT Corp.”, and (ii) increase of the Company’s authorized capital stock from 
₱539,999,998.50 to ₱3,840,000,000.00 divided into 15,360,000,000 Shares with a par value of ₱0.25 
per Share, among others.  As part of the increase in authorized capital stock, Citicore Renewable 
Energy Corporation (“CREC”) subscribed to 2,400,000,000 Shares as consideration for the assignment 
by CREC of its advances to the Company amounting to ₱602,465,065.63.  In addition, CREC and Citicore 
Solar Tarlac 1, Inc. (“Citicore Tarlac 1”) subscribed to 19,461,142 Shares and 918,720,864 Shares, 
respectively, or a total of 938,182,006 Shares, as consideration for the assignment of 11 parcels of 
land, with an aggregate area of 138,164 sq.m., located in Brgy.  Armenia, Tarlac.  The change in name 
of the Company and the increase in capital stock were approved by the Philippine SEC on October 12, 
2021.  In addition, on October 12, 2021, four Shares were issued to the independent Directors of the 
Company.  As a result of the foregoing transactions, 5,498,182,004 Shares are issued and outstanding 
as of December 31, 2021. 
 
In addition to the foregoing, the Company’s shareholders likewise approved the following changes in 
the Company’s Articles of Incorporation:  (i) amendment of the primary purpose to that of a REIT; (ii) 
provision of additional corporate powers; (iii) change in principal office address; (iv) change of term of 
corporate existence to perpetual; (v) increase in the number of directors to eight; (vi) inclusion of 
express waiver of pre-emptive right to subscribe from the Company’s unissued capital, increase in 
capital stock or treasury stock; (vii) compliance with the lock-up requirements of The Philippine Stock 
Exchange, Inc. (the “PSE”); (viii) removal of the contractual restrictions on the disposition of shares; 
and (ix) inclusion of additional restriction on transfer of shares as provided under the REIT Law.  These 
amendments were also approved by the Philippine SEC on October 12, 2021. 
 
On February 22, 2022, the Shares was listed and traded on the Main Board of the PSE under the trading 
symbol “CREIT” at a price of ₱2.55 per Share. 
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Significant Transactions in 2021 

 

Property-for-Share Swap.  On May 26, 2021, the Company entered into a Deed of Assignment and a 
Subscription Agreement with CREC whereby, subject to the Philippine SEC’s confirmation of the 
valuation of one of the eleven lots of the Armenia Property through the approval of the Company’s 
application for increase in capital stock and issuance by the BIR of the Certificate Authorizing 
Registration (“CAR”), CREC transferred, assigned and conveyed absolutely in favor of the Company all 
of its rights, title and interest in the Armenia Property, free from liabilities, debts, liens and 
encumbrances, in consideration of the Company’s issuance to CREC of 19,461,142 Shares with a par 
value of ₱0.25 per share, amounting to ₱4,865,285.50.  On the same day, the Company entered into 
a Deed of Assignment and a Subscription Agreement with Citicore Tarlac 1 whereby, subject to the 
Philippine SEC’s confirmation of the valuation of ten of the eleven lots of the Armenia Property 
through the approval of the Company’s application for increase in capital stock and issuance by the 
BIR of the CAR, Citicore Tarlac 1 transferred, assigned and conveyed absolutely in favor of the 
Company all of its rights, title and interest in the Armenia Property, free from liabilities, debts, liens 
and encumbrances, in consideration of the Company’s issuance to Citicore Tarlac 1 of 918,720,864 
Shares with a par value of ₱0.25 per share, amounting to ₱229,680,216.  Subject to the conditions 
described above, the Sponsors assigned the Armenia Property in favor of the Company in exchange 
for a total of 938,182,006 Shares. 

On October 12, 2021, the Philippine SEC confirmed the valuation of the Armenia Property and 
approved the Company’s application for the increase in its capital stock.  The CAR was issued by the 
Revenue District Office of Tarlac for the Armenia Property which led to the issuance of the transfer 
certificates of title and tax declarations for the Armenia Property in the name of the Company.  The 
Armenia Property were swapped for 938,182,006 Shares of the Company, the stock certificate for 
which was issued on October 25, 2021. 

Conversion of Advances.  On May 25, 2021, the Company’s shareholders, approved, among other 
things, the increase of the Company’s authorized capital stock from ₱539,999,998.50 to 
₱3,840,000,000.00 divided into 15,360,000,000 Shares with a par value of ₱0.25 per Share, among 
others.  As part of the increase in authorized capital stock, CREC will subscribe to 2,400,000,000 Shares 
as consideration for the assignment by CREC of its advances to the Company amounting to 
₱602,465,065.63 (the “Conversion of Advances”).  On October 12, 2021, the Philippine SEC approved 
the increase in authorized capital stock, which resulted in the issuance of 2,400,000,000 Shares to 
CREC. 

Acquisition of Leasehold Rights.  The Company has entered into several arrangements including a 
deed of assignment, lease agreement and sublease agreements with respect to its acquisition of the 
leasehold rights over the Toledo Property, Silay Property and the Dalayap Property.   

Transfer of the Clark Service Contract to CREC.  On October 13, 2021, the Company assigned Solar 
Energy Service Contract (SESC No. 2014-07-086) to CREC, making the latter the operator of the Clark 
Solar Power Plant.  The assignment was approved by the Philippine Department of Energy (“DOE”) on 
December 24, 2021.  On October 13, 2021, CREC and the Company entered into a Contract of Lease 
whereby CREC leased the Clark Solar Power Plant from CREIT beginning November 1, 2021 for a period 
of around 18 years.  Effective upon the transfer of the Clark Service Contract to CREC, CREIT will only 
be receiving rental income from the Clark Power Plant and the Leased Properties.   

The Company’s renewable energy property portfolio consists of (i) a solar power plant with an 
installed capacity of 22.3MWpDC and other real properties (the “Clark Solar Power Plant”) which have 



   

6 
 

 

been leased to CREC and that are located on a 250,318 sq.m parcel of land (the “Clark Land”) inside 
Clark Freeport Zone, Pampanga, (the “Clark Property”), with the Company owning the leasehold rights 
over the Clark Land and (ii) land leased to solar power plant operators, comprising (A) Company-
owned parcels of land in Brgy.  Armenia, Tarlac City (the “Armenia Property”), and (B) leasehold rights 
over parcels of land located in Brgy.  Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu (the “Toledo Property”), Silay City, 
Negros Occidental (the “Silay Property”), and Brgy.  Dalayap, Tarlac City (the “Dalayap Property”, and 
together with the Clark Property, Armenia Property, Toledo Property, Silay Property and Dalayap 
Property, the “Properties”). 
 
Summary Information on the Sponsors, the Fund Manager and the Property Manager 
 
Each of the Sponsors is a corporation organized under the laws of the Philippines, and Citicore Tarlac 
1 is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CREC (CREC owns of all of the outstanding common shares 
of Sikat Solar Holdco Inc., which in turn owns all of the outstanding common shares of Citicore Tarlac 
1).  CREC is one of the leading renewable energy generation companies in the Philippines engaged in 
development of renewable energy plants, including large-scale solar power plants.  CREC is also 
engaged in the business of renewable energy asset development, engineering, procurement and 
construction, and renewable energy asset management, including operation and maintenance of solar 
power generation facilities.  As such, the Company benefits from the Sponsors’ well-established 
reputation, relationships with key players in the Philippine renewable energy industry, understanding 
of the Philippine renewable energy market, and extensive experience in developing and managing 
renewable energy properties such as the Company’s Properties.  CREC is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
CPI, also a corporation organized under the laws of the Philippines.   
 
The fund manager, Citicore Fund Managers, Inc., is a corporation organized under the laws of the 
Philippines (the “Fund Manager”).  The Fund Manager was incorporated on July 21, 2021, and has its 
registered office at 11th Floor, Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza, 276 Col.  Bonny Serrano Ave., San Juan 
City, Metro Manila.  The Fund Manager is a wholly owned Subsidiary of CREC.  The Fund Manager has 
general power of management over the assets of the Company, pursuant to a fund management 
agreement dated July 26, 2021 between the Company and the Fund Manager (the “Fund 
Management Agreement”).  The Fund Manager’s main responsibilities are to implement the 
Company’s investment strategies and manage the Company’s assets and liabilities for the benefit of 
the Company’s Shareholders.  The Fund Manager will manage the assets of the Company with a focus 
on generating steady revenues and, if appropriate, increasing the Company’s assets over time so as to 
enhance the returns from the investments of the Company and, ultimately, the distributions to the 
Company’s Shareholders.   
 
Under the Fund Management Agreement, the Fund Manager will receive equivalent 0.5% of the 
Company’s Guaranteed Base Lease exclusive of value-added taxes (the “Management Fee”). 

 
The Fund Manager shall likewise be entitled to (i) an acquisition fee of 0.5% of the acquisition price of 
every acquisition made, exclusive of value-added taxes, and (ii) a divestment fee of 0.5% of the sales 
price for every property divested by it on behalf of the Company, exclusive of value-added taxes.  The 
total amount of (x) fees paid under the Property Management Agreement, and (y) the Management 
Fee, acquisition fee, and divestment fee (collectively referred to as “Fund Management Fee”), paid to 
the Fund Manager, in any given year, shall not exceed 1% of the Net Asset Value of the properties 
under management. 
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In computing the Fund Management Fee, the formula to be used shall be as follows: 
Fund Management Fee = (0.5% x Guaranteed Base Lease) 
+ (0.5%  x acquisition price, for every acquisition, if applicable) 
+ (0.5%  x sales price for every property divested, if applicable) 

 
The Fund Management Fee shall be due and payable to the Fund Manager 10 days from the receipt 
by the Company of a billing statement.  For clarity, such billing statement shall be provided no later 
than 10th day of the month following the determination of the Guaranteed Base Lease of the 
immediately preceding quarter. 
 
The property manager, Citicore Property Managers, Inc., is a corporation organized under the laws of 
the Philippines (the “Property Manager”).  The Property Manager was incorporated on August 4, 
2021, and has its registered office at 11th Floor, Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza, 276 Col.  Bonny Serrano 
Ave., San Juan City, Metro Manila.  The Property Manager is a wholly owned Subsidiary of CREC.  The 
Property Manager will perform the day-to-day property management functions of the Properties 
pursuant to a property management agreement dated as of August 9, 2021 between the Company 
and the Property Manager (the “Property Management Agreement”), in accordance with this REIT 
Plan, and the Company’s investment strategies.  These functions include managing the execution of 
new leases and renewing or replacing expiring leases.  In addition, the Property Manager will oversee 
CREC’s operation and maintenance of the Clark Solar Power Plant; maintenance of the land premises 
underlying the Properties; formulation and implementation of policies and programs in respect of 
solar plant facility management; maintenance and optimization; secure and administer routine 
management services, including security control, fire precautions, communication systems and 
emergency management; and oversee plant operations management. 
 
Under the Property Management Agreement, the Property Manager will receive an annual 
management fee equivalent to 1.5% of the Company’s Guaranteed Base Lease, provided that total of 
such fee (the “Property Management Fee”) and the Fund Management Fee and shall not exceed 1% 
of the Net Asset Value of the properties being managed. 
 

Property Management Fee = Guaranteed Base Lease x 1.50% 
 
The Property Management Fee shall be due and payable to the Property Manager 10 days from the 
receipt by the Company of a billing statement.  For clarity, such billing statement shall be provided no 
later than 10th day of the month following the determination of the Guaranteed Base Lease of the 
immediately preceding quarter. 
 
The Property and Fund Management Fee shall take effect on February 22, 2022 or at listing date, in 
accordance with REIT Law. 
 
Competition 

 
The Company’s and its Lessees’ main competition in the Philippine electricity market are coal, oil and 
natural gas electricity generators as well as other renewable energy suppliers who use hydro, wind, 
geothermal and solar PV technologies.  The market price of commodities, such as natural gas and coal, 
are important drivers of energy pricing and competition in most energy markets, including in the 
Philippines. 
 
The Clark Solar Power Plant, which is FIT-certified, and is operated by CREC, is expected to generate 
stable cash flows from a guaranteed electricity purchase agreement with the Government, and is not 
expected to be affected by market competition.  However, bilateral contracts between the Company’s 
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other Lessees and their customers, are subject to direct competition from both renewable and non-

renewable players in the Philippine energy industry.   

 
In respect of the solar power industry, the Lessees’ main competitors are Vena Energy, AC Energy, 
Solar Philippines, PetroSolar, Aboitiz Power and Energy Development Corporation. 

 
KEY INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The Company believes that it benefits from the following competitive strengths: 

 
CREC, one of the Sponsors, is a leading vertically integrated renewable energy generator with a 
proven track record in asset development, engineering, procurement and construction execution 
and asset operation and management. 

Each of the Sponsors is a corporation organized under the laws of the Philippines, and Citicore Tarlac 
1 is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CREC.  CREC is one of the leading renewable energy 
generation companies in the Philippines engaged in development of renewable energy plants, 
including large-scale solar power plants.  CREC is also engaged in the business of renewable energy 
asset development, engineering, procurement and construction, and renewable energy asset 
management, including operation and maintenance of solar power generation facilities (for which it 
deploys cloud-based real-time supervisory control and data acquisition systems).  As such, the 
Company benefits from the Sponsors’ well-established reputation, relationships with key players in 
the Philippine renewable energy industry, understanding of the Philippine renewable energy market, 
and extensive experience in developing and managing renewable energy properties such as the 
Company’s Properties. 
 
CREC’s strengths lie in its proven track record, strong brand reputation, and ability to develop solar 
power plants of different capacities and across multiple regions in the Philippines.  As of December 
31, 2021, the Citicore Group was the third largest solar power generator in the Philippines with an 
overall capacity of 170MWDC. 
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The Company and the Lessees of the Leased Properties are all members of the Citicore Group, and the 
Lessees operate solar power plants (including the solar power plant of Citicore Bataan) with a total 
combined installed capacity of 163MWpDC. 
 

Secured long-term offtake agreements from reputable customers of Lessees’ supported by 
Government incentives. 

The Company’s rental income for its lease agreement with CREC are dependent on the Clark Solar 
Power Plant which is FIT-certified.  FIT-certified power plants have guaranteed power purchase 
agreements with the Government, and are expected to generate stable cash flow.  Under the FIT 
regime, CREC’s offtaker is TransCo, a Government owned-and-controlled corporation (“GOCC”). In 
addition, the Properties to be Acquired by the Company after the completion of the Offering are sites 
utilized by FIT-eligible solar power plants. 
 
 
The Company is well positioned to capture growth in the demand for electricity, and the increasing 
focus of the Government on renewable energy sources to address the country’s long-term energy 
requirements. 

The narrative of the Philippine power sector is underpinned by its robust economic fundamentals and 
attractive demographic qualities.  The Philippines’ GDP grew at an 8.8% compounded annual growth 
rate (“CAGR”) from 2009 to 2019.  Although the Philippine economy contracted by 8.3% in 2020, the 
World Bank forecasts 5.3% and 5.6% growth in 2021 and 2022, respectively.  Fitch Solutions, an 
affiliate of the Fitch Group forecasts power consumption to grow at an annual average of 4.6% from 
2020 to 2029, despite the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Further, based on the Power 
Development Plan 2016-2040 published by the DOE, to meet the projected electricity demand 
requirement by 2040, the power system capacity addition that the Philippines will require is 
43,765MWDC broken down as follows:  25,265 MWDC for baseload, 14,500 MWDC for mid-merit and 
4,000 MWDC for peaking. 
 
In order to meet increasing demand, growth in installed capacity is essential and has compelled the 
Philippine government to encourage the expansion in renewable energy capacity.  The National 
Renewable Energy Program has set a target of reaching 15,304MWDC of installed renewable capacity 
by 2030 (vs c.3,500MWDC in 2017), represents c.50% of the country’s forecast total energy capacity.  
In addition, renewable initiatives under the National Renewable Energy Program (NREP) development 
framework are currently in-place or being drafted to support this renewable target:  20-year feed-in 
tariffs for solar, wind, biomass and hydro energy were introduced in 2013.  The NREB has also 
proposed renewable portfolio standards (“RPS”) that mandate distribution utilities to source portion 
of their power from renewable energy and Competitive Renewable Energy Zones for enhanced 
renewable infrastructure. 
 
The Citicore Group’s ability to identify strategic locations, develop and construct renewable energy 
sources plant means that it has the flexibility to allocate its energy production for both base and peak 
demands.  The expansion of the Company’s renewable energy real property portfolio through the 
Citicore Group’s upcoming projects will continue to increase the Company’s flexibility in meeting the 
varying requirements of its customers at the lowest cost possible.  With a target of growing its solar 
renewable energy capacity to 1.5GWDC by 2025, the Citicore Group is well positioned to address the 
country’s need for clean power sources, and benefit from the RPS mandated by the DOE. 
 
Based on the DOE’s Power Development Plan, there is a forecast of a power supply shortage beginning 
in 2022-2023.  Given the longer construction period required by conventional power plants, the 
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Company believes that solar power plants farms that can be built in a period of six months to one year 
once land is available, are in the best position to address the immediate supply gap.  In addition, the 
Company believes that solar energy, with its low levelized cost of electricity (LCOE), is one of the best 
options to bridge the gap between the supply and demand of electricity as forecasted in DOE’s Power 
Development Plan.  The Company also believes that solar energy developments will help meet the 
peaking demand driven by household and commercial consumption.  The Citicore Group has 
maintained a healthy pipeline of renewable energy projects that the Company believes will enable it 
to take advantage of the market opportunity. 

 
The Lessees have exhibited a superior operational track record with their consistent and resilient 
operations. 

Each of the solar power plants operated by the Lessees have a design life of 30 years, which can be 
further extended by another 25 years with additional capital expenditures at the end of the design 
life.  The operations teams of the Lessees regularly and diligently conduct preventive and predictive 
maintenance on all major equipment in the respective power plants operated by them to minimize 
unscheduled or unplanned internal outages.  The Company believes the solar power plants operated 
by the Lessees are well kept and well maintained as evidenced by their high average plant availability 
rate of 98.0% from 2017 to 2021.  The table below shows the availability rate and performance ratio 
of the solar power plants of the Company’s Lessees for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2018, 
2019 and 2020 and 2021: 

 
Solar Power Plant Availability Rate(1) 

 For the year ended December 31,  

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Clark Solar Power Plant ....  99.8% 99.5% 99.1% 99.2% 99.7% 
Armenia Property .............  100.0% 99.9% 99.7% 99.2% 99.1% 
Toledo Property ................  99.6% 97.7% 91.6% 99.3% 96.7% 
Silay Property(3) .................  93.9% 94.9% 97.6% 97.9% 91.2% 
Dalayap Property ..............  100.0% 100.0% 99.6% 99.3% 99.1% 

 

Solar Power Plant Performance Ratio(2) 

 For the year ended December 31,  

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Clark Solar Power Plant ....  82.4% 80.7% 81.3% 82.4% 83.4% 
Armenia Property .............  89.2% 84.9% 82.0% 82.6% 82.7% 
Toledo Property ................  83.7% 82.6% 81.6% 81.4% 80.3% 
Silay Property(3) .................  86.8% 84.1% 83.3% 83.9% 85.1% 
Dalayap Property ..............  84.0% 84.0% 83.9% 83.9% 85.5% 

______________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Availability Rate is the percentage of time that the solar power plant is available to provide energy to the grid.  It is an indicator 
of reliability. 

(2) Performance Ratio is the ratio of actual and the theoretically possible energy outputs of the solar power plant. 

(3) The solar power plant of Citicore Bataan had an availability rate of 99.8% and 99.7% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively, and a performance ratio of 83.0% and 83.1% for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 
The Company strategically selected the locations of the Leased Properties as those with solar 
irradiation between 4.7-5.5 kWh/m2/day based on the long-term historical irradiation data of National 
Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy based 



   

11 
 

 

in Texas.  The Lessees also have systems in place to detect, instantly, the daily output and be able to 
calibrate and improve output of their relevant solar power plants, as the need arises, based on an 
expected performance ratio with respect to the peak nominal rated capacity of the PV panel modules 
installed.  The calculations typically involve consideration of solar specific issues, such as solar 
irradiation and PV panel degradation (at a minimum), as well as spectrum temperature and, the effects 
of seasonal weather variability on testing. 
 
Solar power plant operations in the Philippines have also proven resilient during the COVID-19 
pandemic.  Despite 4.04% year-on-year contraction in power generation in the Philippines in 2020, 
solar energy power plants continued to sustain their operations and revenues as coal plants were 
forced to temporarily shut down their operations due to quarantine measures.  Based on the DOE’s 
2020 Power Statistics, solar power plants across the Philippines increased their gross generation 
output by 10.15% from 2019 to 2020. 

 
Gross Power Generation (DOE 2020 Power Statistics)* 

Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Solar Power Generation (MWh)
 ...............................................  

1,201,152 1,249,116 1,246,082 1,372,604 

*2021 data not yet published by DOE 

 

The table below shows the gross power generated by the solar power plants of the Lessees and the 
percentage of the gross power generated by the solar power plants of the Lessees out of the total 
solar power generation output in the Philippines from 2017 to 2021. 
 

Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Total Power Generation of 
solar power plants of 
Lessees (MWh)
 ........................................  221,933 226,972 229,490 229,531 214,032 

% of Total Solar Power 
Generation in the 
Philippines 
 ........................................  18.5% 18.2% 18.4% 16.7% 

Not yet 
available 

 
Opportunity for growth through optimization of operations and asset acquisition. 

The Company’s leases of the Leased Properties allow it to share in the organic growth of the 
operations of the Company’s Lessees, who are expected to benefit from increasing demand for and 
prices for energy in the Philippines as well as various plant optimization initiatives to improve 
generation output of the respective power plants operated by them. 
 
The Lessees also continue to explore opportunities to optimize their operations, such as improving 
their performance ratios through identified initiatives around maintenance of panels (including 
cleaning), modifications in sections of the solar power plants to reduce the effects of shading, and 
regular thermal scanning to optimize the generation.  In addition, deployment of initiatives in certain 
Properties, like agro solar, have helped reduce grass cutting-costs while generating livelihood for the 
community. 
 
The Company is also well positioned to benefit from the Citicore Group’s pipeline of renewable energy 
assets, which will potentially allow the Company to expand its property portfolio subject to such assets 
meeting the Company’s investment criteria.  The Citicore Group has a strong pipeline of solar power 
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plants with an expected combined installed capacity of 1.5GWDC, which are under various stages of 
development and which the Citicore Group expects to complete by 2025.  In accordance with its 
reinvestment plan, the Selling Shareholder intends to apply the entire proceeds from the Secondary 
Offer Shares and the proceeds received by Citicore Bulacan and Citicore South Cotabato towards ten 
projects expected to amount to 0.675 GWDC of the Citicore Group’s combined installed capacity of 
1.5GWDC.  Such projects may be considered by the Company and the Fund Manager for acquisition 
after these are completed and meet the Company’s investment criteria.  The Citicore Group also aims 
to identify strategic locations, and develop renewable energy sources to potentially expand the 
Company’s renewable energy property portfolio. 
 
The Fund Manager aims to achieve portfolio growth through the acquisition of quality income-
producing renewable energy properties that fit within the Company’s investment strategy to enhance 
total return for Shareholders and increase potential opportunities for future income and capital 
growth.  In executing this strategy, the Company will endeavor to acquire properties situated in high-
growth areas, whether from the Sponsors, or third parties, to cater to economic growth that provides 
meaningful investment for social contribution. 
 
To meet the Company’s investment criteria, a potential new renewable energy property should (i) 
primarily be (but not exclusively) focused on solar power plants, but may include other renewable 
energy properties available in the market, (ii) be located in underdeveloped areas where the Company 
has completed and validated the availability of resources and the potential of such area for future 
township developments to drive long-term appreciating land value; and (iii) be the site of a renewable 
energy power plant that has achieved successful plant testing and commissioning, accompanied by 
stable off-take contracts for 100% of such plant’s expected generation output. 

 
Strategically located Properties with potential for future development. 

The Company believes that its Properties and the Properties to be Acquired are strategically located 
and encompass large areas in key provinces that are suitable for future township development. 
 
Sustainable investing that provides Shareholders the opportunity to direct capital into companies 
with positive impact on the environment and society. 

In line with the United Nations’ 2030 agenda for sustainable development, the Citicore Group 
pioneered the “agro-solar” concept in the Philippines, which allows solar plants and vegetable farmers 
to co-exist on the land where the solar power plants are operated, and aims to provide livelihood and 
augment income of the farmer communities where the Leased Properties are located.  The Clark 
Property, Armenia Property, Dalayap Property and the Bulacan Property (one of the Properties to be 
Acquired) currently implement the agro-solar concept. 
 

  

Further, based on the Company’s estimates, the solar power plants operated on the Leased Properties 
are able to reduce approximately 231,720 tons of CO2 annually, or an aggregate of 7,000,000 tons of 
CO2 for the entire design life of the power plants.   
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The Citicore Group has also implemented other community building activities, such as training 
programs to provide scholarship and employment opportunities to local communities where the 
Leased Properties are located for inclusive growth. 

 
Risks Relating to the Company 
 
The Company’s assets and the Lessees’ solar power plants are subject to the risk of losing revenue 
in the event they are rendered inoperable for an indefinite time period due to force majeure events, 
and the Company and the Lessees may be required to undertake significant repair and replacement 
works. 

If any of the Company’s assets or the Lessees’ solar power plants are rendered inoperable due to force 
majeure events, there can be no assurance that the Lessees will be able to successfully achieve the 
projected net electricity generation values, which could materially affect the Company’s and its 
Lessees’ business prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow. The Company’s 
revenues and its Lessees’ net operating revenue will also be affected, which could materially and 
adversely affect the amount of Distributable Income available to the Company for distribution to its 
Shareholders. 
 
To manage these risks, the Company and its Lessees maintain comprehensive insurance policies that 
cover business interruption for approximately two months on an aggregate Property-wide basis or 
more than five months for the largest solar power plant operating on the Properties.  The insurance 
policies also cover risks of certain force majeure events up to the full replacement cost of the solar 
power plants operating on the Properties.   
 
The Lessees’ solar power plants are exposed to unscheduled, unplanned and prolonged internal and 
external outages resulting in potential loss in revenues. 

Unscheduled or unplanned internal plant outages refers to unexpected breakdown of major 
equipment (including failure, damage to or explosions caused by battery storage) resulting in 
substantial or total solar power plant shutdown until such equipment is replaced or restored.  
 
From 2017 to 2021, the Lessees’ solar power plants experienced an annual average loss of 70.0 hours 
or 0.25% of annual average solar power generation hours (i.e., total available operating hours for solar 
power generation) due to unscheduled internal outages.  From 2017 to 2021, the Lessees’ solar power 
plants have also consistently achieved an average plant availability rate of 98.0%. 
 
On the other hand, unscheduled external outages refer to electricity grid outages at the regional or 
national level that disrupt the transmission of electricity and could result in curtailment of energy 
offtake below expected levels.  For example, there could be failures in the transmission towers, power 
conductors or insulators of the National Grid Corporation of the Philippines (“NGCP”).   
 
From 2017 to 2021, the Lessees’ solar power plants experienced an annual average of 322.3 hours or 
1.2% of annual average solar power generation hours due to unscheduled external outages. The 
occurrence of any prolonged unscheduled internal or external outages would reduce the revenue of 
the Company’s Lessees, which would result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s and its 
Lessees’ business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
 
Each of the solar power plants operated by the Lessees have a design life of 30 years, which can be 
further extended by another 25 years with additional capital expenditures at the end of the design 
life.  The operations teams of the Lessees regularly and diligently conduct preventive and predictive 
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maintenance on all major equipment in the respective power plants operated by them to minimize 
unscheduled or unplanned internal outages.  The Company believes that the Clark Solar Power Plant 
operated by CREC and the solar power plants of the Lessees are well kept and well maintained as 
evidenced by their high average plant availability rate of 98.0% from 2017 to 2021.  The Company and 
CREC have also invested in a computerized monitoring and maintenance system to efficiently track 
various preventive maintenance programs and initiatives for the Lessees’ solar power plants.  The 
Lessees also keep an inventory of spare parts which are not locally available and which may take a 
lead time of three to four months to order.  Each of the Lessees also maintains inventory for critical 
equipment like solar panels, inverters, and others to avoid any prolonged shutdown of their respective 
solar power plants. 
 
To manage the risk of external plant outages, the Company carefully selects the sites or locations 
where its or its lessees’ solar power plants are located, taking into consideration transmission grid 
stability and reliability. 
 
The Lessees may be unable to maintain sufficient operating cash for maintenance and other similar 
costs of the solar power plants, and the Lessees’ operating cash may be insufficient to cover 
necessary costs of the solar power plants. 

The Company expects its Lessees to keep their respective solar power plants in good working order.  
Accordingly, the Lessees may from time to time need to expend funds to complete routine 
maintenance, as well as extraordinary maintenance, in the event of damage from weather 
disturbances such as typhoons, earthquake, or floods or from other unforeseen events. 
To manage this risk, the Lessees have, in the past, and expect to, in the future, conduct regular 
maintenance with cash sourced through their respective operating cash flow.  The Company does not 
expect its Lessees to incur any significant amount of capital expenditure in the future for the solar 
power plants. 
 
The solar power plants located on the Leased Properties may be subject to an increase in operating 
and other expenses. 

The Company’s ability to make distributions to shareholders could be adversely affected if operating 
and other expenses of the solar power plants located on the Leased Properties increase without a 
corresponding increase in revenues.  Factors which could increase operating and other costs include: 
 

• increase in the cost of labor, materials and insurance; 

• restoration costs in case of events such as floods, natural disasters and accidents; 

• increase in raw material costs such as diesel fuel, water and coolants; 

• adverse weather conditions; 

• unforeseen legal, tax and accounting liabilities; and 

• other unforeseen operational and maintenance costs. 

Any significant increase in operations and maintenance costs will reduce the net operating revenue 
generated by the Company’s lessees from the solar power plants located on the Leased Properties, 
will materially and adversely affect the business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows of the lessees, and decrease the amount of Distributable Income of the Company 
available to Shareholders. 
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To manage these risks, the Company and CREC intend to maximize operational efficiencies by 
leveraging on the economics of scale as the property portfolio of the Company and the solar assets of 
the Citicore Group continue to expand.  The lessees’ solar operations and maintenance teams have 
successfully reduced the levelized cost of energy (“LCOE”) relating to the solar power plants of the 
lessees of the Company from an average of ₱0.85 per kwh as of December 31, 2017 to ₱0.32 per kwh 
as of December 31, 2021. 
 
The Company may face increased competition from other renewable and non-renewable energy 
projects and properties. 

The bilateral contracts between the Company’s Lessees and their customers, are generally subject to 
direct competition from both renewable and non-renewable players in the Philippine energy industry.  
To manage these risks, the Company believes that its lessees have had, and continue to maintain, 
strong and stable relationships with their customers.   

 
Green Initiatives 
 
In line with the United Nations’ 2030 agenda for sustainable development, the Citicore Group 
pioneered the “agro-solar” concept in the Philippines, which allows solar plants and vegetable farmers 
to co-exist on the land where the solar power plants are operated, and aims to provide livelihood and 
augment income of the farmer communities where the Leased Properties are located.  The Clark Solar 
Power Plant, Armenia Property, Dalayap Property and the Bulacan Property (one of the Properties to 
be Acquired) currently implement the agro-solar concept. 
 
Further, based on the Company’s estimates, the solar power plants operated on the Leased Properties 
are able to reduce approximately 231,720 tons of CO2 annually, or an aggregate of 7,000,000 tons of 
CO2 for the entire design life of the power plants. 
 
The Citicore Group has also implemented other community building activities, such as training 
programs to provide scholarship and employment opportunities to local communities where the 
Leased Properties are located for inclusive growth. 

  
Major Customers  
 
The Leased Properties (not including the Clark Solar Power Plant) have been 100% occupied by their 
respective Lessees. CREC sells the electricity generated by the Clark Solar Power Plant to TransCo 
pursuant to a 20-year offtake contract commencing on March 16, 2016, which was assigned to CREC 
by CREIT on December 24, 2021 pursuant to DOE approval. 
 
The other Lessees of the Company sell the electricity generated by their respective solar power plants 
to contestable customers operating in various industries who have entered into offtake agreements 
with such Lessees, and any excess capacity to the WESM. 
 
Suppliers 
 
The third-party suppliers of the solar power plants operated by the Lessees of the Company include 
manpower services, such as housekeeping services and security services, among others.  Neither the 
Company nor any of its Lessees is dependent on any third-party supplier. 
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Government Approvals and Permits 
 
All government approvals and permits issued by the appropriate government agencies or bodies which 
are material and necessary to conduct the business and operations of CREIT and its Lessees, were 
obtained and are in full force and effect. 
 
CREIT and its business operations are subject to various laws and regulatory agencies, nationality 
restrictions, and environmental laws. CREIT complies with environmental laws and will keep abreast 
of any changes in such laws which may have an impact on its business.  
 
CREIT complies with all local and national tax laws and regulations, and it shall continue to be so by 
diligently paying all taxes, including (but not limited to) income tax, withholding tax, real property tax, 
and such other taxes that are assessed against it and which CREIT understands to be due. 
 
Employees  
 
As of December 31, 2021, CREIT manpower complement is only three. 
 
The relationship and cooperation between the management and staff remain strong and expected to 
be maintained in the future. There has not been any incidence of work stoppages. CREIT complies with 
the minimum wage and employment benefits standards pursuant to Philippine labor laws. It adopts 
an incentive system that rewards and recognizes the employees who excel in their respective fields to 
foster the harmonious relationship between management and employees. 
 
No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business, since CREIT considers 
the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success its performance. 
 
Mr. Edgar B. Saavedra, Chairman of the Board and Mr. Oliver Tan, CEO, and President, and the other 
executives are the key decision makers of the Company. In relation to this, CREIT and Citicore group 
are continuously hiring experts to further strengthen and professionalize its organizational and 
management structure.  

 
Item 2. Properties 
 
The Company’s renewable energy property portfolio consists of the Leased Properties which include 
the lease of the Clark Solar Power Plant to CREC and parcels of land leased to solar power plant 
operators, comprising (A) Company-owned Armenia Property, and (B) the Company’s leasehold rights 
over the Toledo Property, the Silay Property, the Clark Property and the Dalayap Property. 
 
The Leased Properties comprising the Clark Solar Power Plant, Armenia Property, the Toledo Property, 
the Silay Property and the Dalayap Property are leased by the Company to its Lessees comprising CREC, 
Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore Cebu, Citicore Negros Occidental and Citicore Tarlac 2, Inc., respectively.  The 
Lessees operate solar power plants on the Leased Properties with a total combined installed capacity 
of 141.6MWpDC. 
 
Citicore Tarlac 1 and Citicore Tarlac 2 are wholly owned indirect subsidiaries of CREC, while Citicore 
Cebu and Citicore Negros Occidental are wholly owned subsidiaries of CPI, the parent company of 
CREC. 
 
The Clark Solar Power Plant, Armenia Property, the Toledo Property, the Silay Property and the 
Dalayap Property (collectively, the “Leased Properties”) are leased by the Company to CREC, Citicore 
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Tarlac 1, Citicore Solar Cebu, Inc. (“Citicore Cebu”) (formerly, First Toledo Solar Energy Corp.  
(“FTSEC”)), Citicore Solar Negros Occidental, Inc. (“Citicore Negros Occidental”) (formerly Silay Solar 
Power, Inc. (“SSPI”)), and Citicore Solar Tarlac 2, Inc. (formerly, nv vogt Philippines Solar energy Four, 
Inc. (“SE4”)) (“Citicore Tarlac 2”, collectively with CREC, Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore Cebu, and Citicore 
Negros Occidental, the “Lessees”), respectively.  The Lessees operate solar power plants on the Leased 
Properties with a total combined installed capacity of 123.7MWpDC. 
 
The Leased Properties comprise the Company’s initial Portfolio, and have an aggregate appraised 
value of ₱10.9 billion based on the Valuation Reports issued by Cuervo Appraisers. The following table 
summarizes key information relating to the Company’s Leased Properties.  
 

 
Clark Solar 

Power Plant 
Armenia 
Property 

Toledo 
Property 

Silay Property 
Dalayap 
Property 

Location Clark Freeport 
Zone, 

Pampanga 

Brgy.  Armenia, 
Tarlac City 

Brgy.  Talavera, 
Toledo City, 

Cebu 

Silay City, 
Negros 

Occidental 

Brgy.  Dalayap, 
Tarlac City 

Land area (sq.m.) 250,318 138,164 730,000 431,408 103,731 

Right over 
property 

Leased Owned Leased Leased Leased 

Land lease expiry September 
2039 

N/A May 2041 October 2040 October 2040 

Lessor Clark 
Development 
Corporation 

N/A Leavenworth 
Development, 

Inc. 

Claudio Lopez, 
Inc. 

Ma.  Paula 
Cecilia David & 
Juan Francisco 

David; and 
Benigno S. 

David & 
Vivencio M. 

Romero 

Right of first 
refusal 

None N/A Yes None Yes 

Solar power plant 
installed capacity 

(MWpDC) 

22.325 8.84 60 25 7.55 

Commissioning 
date 

March 12, 2016 February 29, 
2016 

June 30, 2016 March 8, 2016 February 27, 
2016 

FIT Eligibility Yes No No No No 

Tenant/Operator 
of solar power 

plant 

CREC Citicore Tarlac 1 Citicore Cebu Citicore Negros 
Occidental 

Citicore Tarlac 2 

Commencement 
of the tenancy 

November 1, 
2021 

November 1, 
2021 

January 1, 2022 January 1, 2022 November 1, 
2021 

Expiration of the 
tenancy 

September 4, 
2039 

October 31, 
2046 

May 31, 2041 October 31, 
2040 

October 31, 
2040 

Appraised value 
(₱) 

3,101,864,000 687,161,000 3,776,850,000 2,884,597,000 470,258,000 

% of Appraised 
value 

28.4% 6.3% 34.6% 26.4% 4.3% 
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In addition to the Properties, after the Offer, the Company intends to expand its renewable energy 
property portfolio, in alignment with its financial and strategic investment criteria, by acquiring an 
additional two parcels of land from Citicore Bulacan and Citicore South Cotabato, which are wholly 
owned indirect subsidiaries of CREC through its 100% ownership of Citicore Solar Holdings, Inc. and 
Sikat Solar Holdco Inc., respectively. These two properties are described below (the “Properties to be 
Acquired”): 
 
Bulacan Property — a 253,880 sq.m.  parcel of land located in Brgy.  Pasong Bangkal, San Ildefonso, 
Bulacan.  Upon completion of acquisition by the Company, the Company intends to lease the entire 
land to Citicore Bulacan for 25 years.  Citicore Bulacan will continue to operate a solar power plant 
with an installed capacity of 15MWpDC in the Bulacan Property.  The solar power plant was successfully 
commissioned on March 12, 2016 and had an actual annual net generation output of 19.8GWh, 
20.2GWh and 20.0GWh for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019, respectively. 

South Cotabato Property — a 79,997 sq.m.  parcel of land located in Brgy.  Centrala, Suralla, South 
Cotabato.  Upon completion of acquisition by the Company, the Company intends to lease the entire 
land to Citicore South Cotabato for 25 years.  Citicore South Cotabato will continue to operate a solar 
power plant with an installed capacity of 6.23MWpDC in the South Cotabato Property.  The solar power 
plant was successfully commissioned on December 9, 2015 and had an actual annual net generation 
output of 8.8GWh, 8.9GWh and 9.0GWh for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019, 
respectively. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Bulacan Property and South Cotabato Property were valued by Cuervo 
Appraisers at ₱2,484.1 million and ₱1,067.5 million, respectively,  for the cut-off ending October 31, 
2021.   
 
Rental Rates 
 
The lease rental rates for the Leased Properties comprise (i) a guaranteed annual base rental rate, 
payable on equal monthly installments, and (ii) a variable rental rate equivalent to 50% of the 
incremental gross revenue earned by the Lessee from any excess of agreed base lease revenue for the 
current fiscal year. 
 
The lease rental rates for the Properties to be Acquired are also expected to comprise (i) a guaranteed 
annual base rental rate, payable on equal monthly installments, and (ii) a variable rental rate 
equivalent to 50% of the incremental gross revenue earned by the lessee from any excess of agreed 
base lease revenue for the current fiscal year.   
 
Land Ownership and Leasehold Rights 
 
The Company leases the Clark Land from the Clark Development Corporation pursuant to a 25-year 
lease which expires on September 2039.  The Armenia Property was acquired by the Company from 
the Sponsors pursuant to the Property-for-Share Swap (as defined below).  In addition, the Company 
acquired (i) the leasehold rights over the Toledo Property for a remaining term of 19 years expiring on 
May 31, 2041, (ii) the leasehold rights over the Silay Property for a period of 19 years expiring on 
October 31, 2040, and (iii) the leasehold rights over the Dalayap Property for a period of 19 years 
expiring on October 31, 2040, pursuant to the Acquisition of Leasehold Rights.   
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Insurance 
 
The Company’s Lessees maintain comprehensive insurance policies which the Company believes is 
consistent with industry standards.  These include business interruption insurance, and insurance to 
cover such tenant’s improvements, furniture, equipment, supplies and all other properties within the 
leased premises against fire, lightning, flood and/or other perils.  The policies also cover acts of 
terrorism, sabotage, riots, strikes, civil commotion, malicious damage, rebellion, revolution, mutiny, 
war and counter insurgency.  The amount of coverage under such policies is enough to replace each 
such tenant’s solar power plant. 
 
The Company has insurance policies for the Clark Solar Power Plant that it believes is consistent with 
industry practice in the Philippines and in such amounts and covering such risks as the Company 
believes are usually carried by companies owning similar properties in the same geographical areas as 
those in which the Company operates. 
 
Leased Properties 
The Lessees operate solar power plants with a total installed capacity of 123.7MWpDC on the 
Properties. 
 

Clark Solar Power Plant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A solar power plant with an installed capacity of 22.3MWpDC and other real properties (the “Clark 
Solar Power Plant”) is located on a 250,318 sq.m.  parcel of land (the “Clark Land”) in the Clark 
Freeport Zone, which the Company leases from the Clark Development Corporation.  The Company’s 
lease is for 25 years commencing on September 5, 2014, and is renewable upon mutual consent of 
the parties.   
 
The Clark Solar Power Plant located on the Clark Land was leased out by the Company to CREC for a 
period of around 18 years commencing on November 1, 2021.  See “Certain Agreements Relating to 
the Company and the Properties”.  The Clark Solar Power Plant was commissioned on March 12, 2016. 
 
The Clark Solar Power Plant leased to and operated by CREC is qualified under the Feed-In-Tariff (“FIT”) 
II Program with Certificate of Compliance (“COC”) eligibility for FIT II rate from March 12, 2016 to 
March 11, 2036 (COC No. 16-13-M00090L) secured from Energy Regulatory Commission (“ERC”) on 
December 8, 2016.  Under the FIT regime, the offtaker of the Clark Solar Power Plant is TransCo, a 
Government-owned-and-controlled entity. 
 
The Company has assigned the BOI registration in relation to the Clark Solar Power Plant to CREC, 
which will entitle CREC to enjoy incentives such as a zero VAT rating, income tax holiday for seven 
years until 2023 with a 10% preferential rate thereafter and a tax exemption on carbon credits. 
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As of December 31, 2021, the Clark Property was valued at ₱3,101.9 million by Cuervo Appraisers for 
the cut-off ending October 31, 2021.   
 
Armenia Property 

 

The Armenia Property comprises 11 parcels of land with a total area of 138,164 sq.m.  located in Brgy.  
Armenia, Tarlac City.  The Armenia Property is owned by the Company, and was acquired by the 
Company from the Sponsors through the Property-for-Share Swap. 
 
The Armenia Property was leased out by the Company to Citicore Tarlac 1 for a period of 25 years 
commencing on January 1, 2022.   Citicore Tarlac 1 operates a solar power plant with an installed 
capacity of 8.84MWpDC on the Armenia Property.  Citicore Tarlac 1’s solar power plant was 
commissioned on February 29, 2016. 
 
Citicore Tarlac 1 sells the electricity generated by its solar power plant to contestable customers 
operating in various industries. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Armenia Property was valued at ₱687.2 million by Cuervo Appraisers 
for the cut-off ending October 31, 2021.   
 
Toledo Property 

 

The Toledo Property comprises leasehold rights over land with an area of 730,000 sq.m.  located in 
Brgy.  Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu. 
 
The Company owns the leasehold rights over the Toledo Property pursuant to a Deed of Assignment 
whereby Citicore Cebu transferred all its rights and obligations with respect to the Toledo Property to 
the Company.  The lessor of the Toledo Property is Leavenworth Realty Development, Inc., which holds 
the usufructuary rights to such property.  The Company’s leasehold rights are for a remaining term of 
19 years, expiring on May 31, 2041, and renewable upon mutual agreement of the parties.  The 
Company has a right to match any bona fide offer from a third party to purchase the property from 
the landowner. 
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The Company leased out the entire Toledo Property to Citicore Cebu for a period of 19 years 
commencing on January 1, 2022 and expiring on May 31, 2041.  Citicore Cebu operates a solar power 
plant with an installed capacity of 60MWpDC on the Toledo Property.  Citicore Cebu’s solar power plant 
was commissioned on June 30, 2016. 
 
Citicore Cebu sells the electricity generated by its solar power plant to contestable customers 
operating in various industries. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Toledo Property was valued at ₱3,776.8 million by Cuervo Appraisers 
for the cut-off ending October 31, 2021.   
 
Silay Property 

 

The Silay Property comprises leasehold rights over land with an area of 431,408 sq.m.  located in Silay 
City, Negros Occidental. 
 
The Company owns the leasehold rights over the Silay Property pursuant to a lease agreement 
between the Company as lessee, and Claudio Lopez, Inc. as lessor, with a term of 19 years expiring on 
October 31, 2040.  The lease can be extended for an additional period of five years unless earlier 
terminated by either party at least six months prior to the end of the original term.   
 
The Company leased out the entire Silay Property to Citicore Negros Occidental for a period of 18 
years commencing on January 1, 2022 and expiring on October 31, 2040.  Citicore Negros Occidental 
operates a solar power plant with an installed capacity of 25MWpDC on the Silay Property.  Citicore 
Negros Occidental’s solar power plant was commissioned on March 8, 2016.  The rights of Citicore 
Negros Occidental as a lessee of the Silay Property is subject of an unregistered mortgage in favor of 
the Landbank of the Philippines, which debt is intended to be prepaid prior to the Listing Date.  In the 
event of default by Citicore Negros Occidental, the Landbank of the Philippines will be able to exercise 
step-in-rights in place of the lessee. 
 
Citicore Negros Occidental sells the electricity generated by its solar power plant to contestable 
customers operating in various industries. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Silay Property was valued at ₱2,884.6 million by Cuervo Appraisers for 
the cut-off ending October 31, 2021.   
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Dalayap Property 

 

The Dalayap Property comprises leasehold rights over parcels of land with an area of 103,731 sq.m.  
located in Brgy.  Dalayap, Tarlac City. 
 
The Company owns the leasehold rights over the Dalayap Property pursuant to lease and sublease 
agreements entered into with Ma.  Paula Cecilia David & Juan Francisco David and Benigno S. David 
and Vivencio M. Romero, Jr., respectively.  The lease and sublease agreements have initial terms of 19 
years, and expire on October 31, 2040, renewable for another 25 years subject to the consent of the 
lessor.  The Company also has the right of first refusal to purchase the relevant parcels of land in the 
event the lessor or sublessor decide to sell their relevant parcels of land.   
 
The Company leased out the entire Dalayap Property to Citicore Tarlac 2 for a period of 19 years 
commencing on November 1, 2021 and ending on October 31, 2040.  Citicore Tarlac 2 operates a solar 
power plant with an installed capacity of 7.55MWpDC on the Dalayap Property.  Citicore Tarlac 2’s solar 
power plant was commissioned on February 27, 2016. 
 
Citicore Tarlac 2 sells the electricity generated by its solar power plant to contestable customers 
operating in various industries. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, the Dalayap Property was valued at ₱470.2 million by Cuervo Appraisers for 
the cut-off ending October 31, 2021.   
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NET ASSET VALUE 

The following table shows the Company’s computation of the Net Asset Value per share. 
The Net Asset Value is computed by reflecting the fair market values of total assets and investible 
funds held by the Company, less total liabilities.  Net Asset Value per share shall be computed by 
dividing Net Asset Value by the total outstanding shares of the Company. 
 
 As of December 31, 2021 

 

Actual /  
At Cost(1) 

As adjusted 
to give 

effect to 
Fair Value(2) 

As adjusted 
to give 

effect to 
Post-Offer 

Transactions
(3) 

 (₱ millions, except number of shares and  
per share value) 

 (Unaudited) 
Cash and cash equivalents ...............................................  49 49 49 
Trade and other receivables ............................................  142 142 142 
Prepayments and other current assets ...........................  54 54 54 
Property, plant and equipment - net ...............................  1,331 3,102 3,102(2) 
Investment properties .....................................................  235 687 4,239(2) 
Right-of-use assets - net ..................................................  91 7,132 7,132(2) 
Deferred Tax Assets .........................................................  8 8 8 
Other noncurrent assets ..................................................  13 13 13 

Total Assets .....................................................................  1,923 11,187 14,739 

Trade and other payables ................................................  52 52 52 
Lease liabilities .................................................................  104 104 104 
Due to related parties ......................................................  139 139 139 
Retirement Benefit Obligation ........................................  1 1 1 

Total Liabilities ................................................................  296 296 296 

Net Asset Value ...............................................................  1,627 10,891 14,443 

    
Issued and outstanding Common Shares (millions) ......  5,498 5,498 6,544 
Net asset value per share ...............................................   ₱ 0.30 ₱ 1.98 ₱ 2.21  

________________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Figures are based on the historical audited financial statements of the Company as of 
December 31, 2021. 

(2) Property, plant and equipment, right of use assets and investment properties were adjusted to 
fair values based on the independent property valuation report of Cuervo Appraisers. 

(3) Adjusted to include the effect of primary offering and the subsequent acquisition of Bulacan 
and Cotabato properties 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
To the best of the Company’s knowledge and belief and after due inquiry, none of the Company, the 
Fund Manager, or the Property Manager is currently involved in any material litigation claims or 
arbitration, either as plaintiff or defendant, which could be expected to have a material and adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial position. 
 
Apart from the disclosure below, to the best of either the Company’s or the Fund Manager’s 
knowledge and belief and after due inquiry, none of the directors, nominees for election as director, 
or executive officers of the Company, the Fund Manager, or the Property Manager have in the five 
year period prior to the date of this REIT Plan been convicted by final judgment in a criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, or have been subjected to a pending judicial proceeding of a criminal 
nature, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses; nor have they been 
subjected to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, 
barring, suspending or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, securities, 
commodities or banking activities, or from acting as a director, officer, employee, consultant, or agent 
occupying any fiduciary position. 

 
NBI Anti-Fraud Division and Atty. Larry T. Iguidez vs. Atty. Steven Y. Dicdican, Et Al. NPS Docket No. 
XVI-Inv-20k00362. 

This case stemmed from a complaint dated September 3, 2020 filed against several respondents 
including, Oliver Y. Tan, Edgar B. Saavedra, Jez G. Dela Cruz, and Manuel Louie B. Ferrer (collectively, 
“Respondents”), for violations of (i) Section 3(j) of Republic Act (“RA”) No. 3019, (ii) Section 2-A of the 
Anti-Dummy Law, and (iii) Section 4(g) of RA No. 6713. Complainant alleged that the Respondents 
handed the operation, administration, and management of the Mactan Cebu International Airport 
(“MCIA”), which is vested in GMR Megawide Cebu Airport Corporation (“GMCAC”), a consortium led 
by Megawide Construction Corporation (“Megawide”) and the GMR Infrastructure Limited, to foreign 
nationals in violation of the Constitutional prohibition on having foreign nationals as executive and 
managing officers of a public utility.  

Acting on the complaint, the National Bureau of Investigation (“NBI”) recommended to the 
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) the prosecution of Respondents being members of the Board of 
Directors of GMCAC for allegedly violating the Anti-Dummy Law. In their Joint Counter-Affidavit dated 
February 1, 2021, Respondents denied the allegations and  explained that 1) the acts cited in the 
complaint do not constitute managerial or executive functions but are in the nature of public relations 
which the Respondents, as the members of the board of directors, cannot be expected to personally 
handle, 2) the engagement of foreign nationals is limited to advisory and/or consultation purposes 
only, 3) it is the Board of Directors that exercises the corporate powers, conducts the business, and 
controls all properties of GMCAC and 4) none of the indicators of “dummy status” are present. On July 
14, 2021, the Respondents, through counsel, received an Order from the DOJ requiring the parties to 
submit their respective memoranda within 30 days from receipt of the Order. On August 13, 2021, the 
Respondents submitted their Memorandum. On October 15, 2021, newspaper articles reported that 
the DOJ has indicted the GMCAC executives, including the Respondents, for the alleged violation of 
the Anti-Dummy Law. In a disclosure submitted by Megawide to the PSE on the same date, Megawide 
clarified that despite reports, it has not received any official documents pertaining the filing of criminal 
charges against the directors and officers of GMCAC and assured the public that it will respond to this 
case in the proper forum and expects to do so successfully.  On November 26, 2021, Megawide, via 
the PSE, disclosed that it received information that warrants of arrest against the Respondents have 
been issued by the Regional Trial Court (“RTC”) of Lapu-Lapu City and that it is a procedural step to 



   

25 
 

 

acquire jurisdiction over the Respondents.  The warrants were issued for Criminal Case No. R-LLP-21-
01781-CR by Branch 68 of the RTC in Lapu-Lapu City.  This has been addressed by the Respondents 
with the posting of bail and the warrants were lifted and set aside on November 26, 2021.  The 
arraignment was initially scheduled on December 7, 2021 but was deferred to February 9, 2022 in 
view of the previous filing of a Petition for Review on October 29, 2021 before the Department of 
Justice. 

Based on the same set of facts and circumstances, NBI, unbeknownst to the Respondents at the time, 
also filed a complaint with the Office of the Ombudsman (OMB-C-C-20-0156 and OMB-C-A-20-0176) 
against several individuals, including the Respondents for violations of Section 3(e) and (j) of RA No. 
3019 and Section 4(g) of RA 6713. A Joint Resolution was issued on July 20, 2021 by the Office of the 
Ombudsman finding probable cause to indict the Respondents, acting in conspiracy with the other 
respondents, for violation of Section 3(e) of RA 3019.  All the other charges against the Respondents 
were dismissed.  On November 8, 2021, Megawide, via the PSE, disclosed that it received a copy of 
the Joint Resolution on November 5, 2021.  Prior to receiving such joint resolution on November 5, 
2021, none of the Respondents obtained or received any notice, subpoena or order from the Office of 
the Ombudsman directing the submission of their respective counter-affidavits. As a result, they were 
not given the opportunity to present their defenses and participate in the preliminary investigation.  
On November 10, 2021, the Respondents filed their Motion for Partial Reconsideration and/or 
Reinvestigation praying for the dismissal of the complaint for lack of probable cause or, in the 
alternative, to conduct a reinvestigation to afford the Respondents their right to due process.  As of 
the date of this REIT Plan, Respondents have not received any update, order or resolution from the 
Office of the Ombudsman.  

The Company believes that the pending proceedings disclosed above do not affect the ability or 
integrity of the directors or executive officers involved.  

 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
 
There were no matters submitted to the vote of security holders during the fiscal year covered by this 
report.  
 
PART II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 5. Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
Market Price of and Dividends on Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
Market Information 
 
CREIT’s common shares are traded on the PSE under the symbol “CREIT.” The shares were listed on 
the PSE on February 22, 2022, hence there is no available data yet on the high and low prices for the 
period ending December 31, 2021. 
 
The closing price per share of CREIT’s common shares at date of listing was Two Pesos and 84/100 
(PhP 2.84). 
 
As of December 31, 2021, there are five billion four hundred ninety-eight million one hundred eighty-
two thousand four (5,498,182,004) outstanding common shares registered in the names of the 
following: 
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 Stockholder 
Number of Common 

Shares Held 
Percentage of 
Total Shares  

a.  Citicore Renewable Energy Corp. 4,579,461,136 83.29% 

b.  Citicore Solar Tarlac 1, Inc. 918,720,864 16.71% 

c.  Leonilo G. Coronel 1 Nil 

d.  Jose M. Layug Jr. 1 Nil 

e.  Pacita U. Juan 1 Nil 

f.  Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco 1 Nil 

 Total 5,498,182,004 100.00% 

 Shares Owned By Foreigners - - 

 
The beneficial owners of the shares registered in the name of the PCD Nominee Corporation are the 
participants of PCD who hold the shares on behalf of their clients, including the top 20 shareholders. 
 
Dividends 
 
The Company did not declare any dividends for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. 
The Company has adopted a dividend policy in accordance with the provisions of the REIT Law, 
pursuant to which the Company’s shareholders may be entitled to receive at least 90% of the 
Company’s annual Distributable Income.  The Company intends to implement an annual cash dividend 
payout ratio of at least 95% of Distributable Income for the preceding fiscal year, subject to compliance 
with the requirements of the REIT Law and the Revised REIT IRR, including but not limited to the 
requirement that the dividends shall be payable only from the unrestricted retained earnings as 
provided for under Section 42 of the Philippine Revised Corporation Code, among others, the terms 
and conditions of the Company’s outstanding loan facilities in the event the Company incurs 
indebtedness, and the absence of circumstances which may restrict the payment of such amount of 
dividends, including, but not limited to, when there is need for special reserve for probable 
contingencies.  The Company intends to declare and pay out dividends on a quarterly basis each year. 
 
The failure to distribute at least 90% of the annual Distributable Income will subject the Company, if 
such failure remains un-remedied within 30 days, to income tax on the taxable net income as defined 
in Chapter IV, Title II of the National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, instead of the taxable net 
income as defined in the REIT Law.  Accordingly, dividends distributed by the Company may be 
disallowed as a deduction for purposes of determining taxable net income.  Additionally, other tax 
incentives granted under the REIT Law may be revoked, and the failure to distribute at least 90% of 
the annual Distributable Income may be a ground to delist the Company from the PSE. 
 
On March 9, 2022, the Board of Directors approved the declaration of cash dividends equivalent to 
P227.9 million based on December 31, 2021 retained earnings to stockholders’ on record as of March 
23, 2022. The dividends declared are in line with the profit projections as disclosed in the Company’s 
REIT plan. The dividends were taken out from 2021 profit which are substantially based on sales of 
electricity of the Clark plant. The REIT transactions will have a full year impact in 2022 and the 
application on dividends and its incentive under the REIT Law applies to the Company in 2022 or at its 
listing date. 
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities 
 
CREIT has not sold any unregistered securities within the past three (3) years. 
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Item 6.  Management's Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation  
 
On May 25, 2021, the Company amended its articles of incorporation to, among others, change the 
primary purpose of the business from operation of renewable energy power-generating plant to a 
REIT Company.  Upon SEC approval on the amended Articles of Incorporation, the Company also 
executed several lease contract with solar operating plants, lessees whereby Armenia and Dalayap 
properties shall commence lease contract on November 1, 2021 and Toledo and Silay properties 
shall commence on January 1, 2022. 
 
On October 13, 2021, the Company assigned its Service Contract to operate the Clark Solar Plant to 
CREC and accordingly, on the same date, executed lease contract beginning November 1, 2021 for a 
period 18 years. The assignment of service contract was approved on December 24, 2021, hence, 
the commencement date of the lease was moved to January 1, 2022.  
 
The foregoing financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 
pertains to the operation and maintenance of the Clark Plant while the lease income for Dalayap and 
Armenia represents two months duration only in 2021.  
 
The Company is expected to fully operate as a REIT Company beginning January 1, 2022 with the 
infusion of two properties also in Bulacan and Cotabato in 2022.  
 
FY2021 vs FY2020 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Review of results for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared with the results for the year 
ended December 31, 2020.  
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 compared with year ended December 31, 2020 

Revenues 

The Company’s revenues pertain to sale of electricity and lease revenues amounting to ₱352.3 million 
and  ₱269.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Revenues increased by P83.2 million or 31%. The Company’s land rental income amounting to P17.8 
million which represents rental from two properties which commenced on November 1, 2021. 
Meanwhile, electricity sales increased by P65.4 million primarily due to the feed in tariff rate 
adjustment. 
 
Cost of services 

The Company’s cost of services decreased by P20.4 million or 22% or amounted to ₱74.2 million and 
₱94.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively which majority pertain 
to depreciation of the Clark Solar Power Plant reported under property, plant and equipment.  The 
decrease in costs of services pertains to the reversal of retirement benefit obligation amounting to 
P5.5 million and the recalibration of the accrual of taxes and licenses with actual tax payments which 
resulted to a decrease in expense by P16.7 million. 
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Gross Profit 

The Company’s gross profit stands at ₱278.1 million and ₱174.5 million  for the years ended December 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in gross profit is in line with the increase in revenue and 
decrease cost of services in 2021. 
 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses increased by ₱49.0 million, or 613% from ₱8.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 to ₱57.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to 
expenses related to the Company’s initial public offering (IPO). For purposes of recognition, IPO cost 
are allocated between the primary and secondary shares where the amount allocated to secondary 
shares are recognized in profit or loss while the amount allocated to primary shares will be deducted 
against Additional Paid In Capital at the time of offer.  
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net decreased by ₱58.9 million, or 94% from ₱63.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱3.4 million  for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due 
to the decrease in the Company’s interest expense as a result of the Company’s capital restructuring 
initiatives. 
 
Income before income tax 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s income before income tax increased by ₱113.6 million, or 
109% from ₱104.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱217.7 million  for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 due to significant increase in gross profit and decrease in finance costs. 
 
Income tax benefit 

The Company’s income tax benefit increased by ₱8.2 million, or 100% from nil for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 for the year ended December 31, 2021, due to the recognition of deferred tax 
asset on Net Operating Losses arising from non-ITH activities. The Company’s sale of electricity is 
covered by its seven-year income tax holiday with BOI. 
 
Net income 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱121.8 million, or 117% from 
₱104.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 to ₱225.9 million  for the year ended December 
31, 2021. 
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 compared with year ended December 31, 2019 

Revenues 

The Company’s total revenues increased by 8% or P21.1 million from P248.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 to P269.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Increase in revenue was 
due to increase in output generation for the period as a result of normalized irradiation and outages 
from 2019. 
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Cost of services 

The Company’s cost of services decreased by P3.8 million or 4% from ₱94.6 million in 2020 to P98.4 
million in 2019 primarily due to the Company’s cost management initiatives in operating and 
managing the Clark Plant. 
 
Gross Profit 

The Company’s gross profit stands at ₱174.5 million in 2020 to P149.6 million in 2019 which translated 
to an increase of P24.8 million or 17% due to the increase in revenue and cost of service reductions. 
 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses increased by ₱4.6 million, or 136% from ₱3.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 to ₱7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to 
higher business taxes as a result of higher revenues and recognition of provision on doubtful accounts 
amounting to P1.9 million. 
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net decreased by ₱4.3 million, or 65% from ₱66.7 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 to ₱62.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily due to a 
decrease in finance costs resulting from a partial principal loan repayment of ₱5 million, and the 
granting by the Government of a 30-day grace period for all loans with principal and/or interest falling 
due within the ECQ period without incurring any additional interest, penalties, fees and other charges 
pursuant to the Bayanihan Act. 

 
Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱24.5 million, or 31% from ₱79.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to ₱104.1 million  for the year ended December 31, 
2020. The increase is driven by the increase in gross profit and reduction in other expenses – net. 
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared with year ended December 31, 2018 

Revenues 

The Company’s total revenues decreased by P12.4 million from P260.4 million to P248.0 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Decrease in revenue was 
due to decrease in output generation of the Clark solar plant as a result of unusually lower irradiation 
for the period and various external outages. 
 
Cost of services 

The decrease in the Company’s cost of services by ₱41.0 million, or 29% from ₱139.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱98.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, is due to the 
change in the estimated life of the transmission lines and solar panel modules of the Company for the 
Clark Solar Power Plant from 23 years to 15 to 30 years, respectively which was approved by the Board 
in 2019. 
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Gross Profit 

As a result of the lower cost of services, the Company’s gross profit increased by ₱28.6 million, or 24% 
from ₱121.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱149.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 
 
Operating expenses 

The Company’s operating expenses decreased by ₱43.7 million, or 93% from ₱47.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 to ₱3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to 
management fee billing of P33 million, receivable write-off of P4 million and increase in various other 
costs. 
 
Other expenses - net 

The Company’s other expenses – net increased by ₱6.2 million, or 10% from ₱60.5 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 to ₱66.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to 
the decrease in foreign exchange gain or loss and interest charges arising from foreign currency 
denominated loan from a shareholder. 
 
Net income  

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s net income increased by ₱66.2 million, or 493% from ₱13.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2018 to ₱79.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
 
FINANCIAL POSITION 

As of December 31, 2021 compared with as of December 31, 2020 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.9 billion as of December 31, 2021, which was ₱127.6 
million, or 7% higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.8 billion as of December 31, 2020. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents dcreased by ₱22.7 million or 32% to ₱49.0 million  as of 
December 31, 2021, compared to ₱71.7 million as of December 31, 2020, due to payments made 
related to the Company’s IPO. 
 
Trade and other receivables - current 

The Company’s trade and other receivables – current increased by ₱0.1 million to ₱41.9 millionas of 
December 31, 2021, compared to ₱42.0 million as of December 31, 2020, due to recognition of straight 
line PFRS lease adjustment amounting to P2.5 million. 
 
Due from related parties 
 
The Company’s due from related parties decreased by ₱216.9 million or 100% due to collection of said 
advances. 
 
 



   

31 
 

 

Other current assets 

The increase of ₱42.6 million or 367% in the Company’s other current assets from ₱11.6 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱54.2 million as of December 31, 2021, is mainly related to payments made to 
consultants in relation to the Offer.  These will be recognized as a deduction against additional paid-
in capital upon completion of the Offer. 
 
Trade and other receivables – noncurrent  

The Company’s trade and other receivables – noncurrent increased by ₱86.0 million or 100%  as a 
result of recognition of feed in tariff rate adjustment which shall be payable over the five-year period. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net is comprised of the Clark Solar Power Plant leased 
out to CREC as the solar power plant operator, amount to ₱1,331.2 million as of December 31, 2021 
which is ₱59.2 million or 4% lower compared with ₱1,390.3 million as of December 31, 2020.  The 
decrease is due to depreciation charges for the period. 
 
Investment properties 

The Company’s investment properties, which comprise of parcels of land leased out to solar power 
plant operators, amount to ₱234.5 million as of December 31, 2021. The increase is mainly related to 
asset-for-share of Armenia property in 2021. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets increased by ₱51.3 million or 129%  from ₱39.7 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱91.0 million as of December 31, 2021 due to additional lease contract 
executed between the Company and the owner of Dalayap property for the lease of land where 
Citicore Solar Tarlac 2 operates its solar plant. Movement in the right-of-use assets was also offset by 
the amortization of such assets for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
Deferred tax asset 
 
The Company’s increase in deferred tax asset of ₱8.2 million or 100% from nil as of December 31, 
2020, to ₱8.2 million as of December 31, 2021 was due to recognition of Net Operating Loss Carried 
Over on Lease Segment. For tax purposes, sale of electricity is still under income tax holiday. 
 
Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit, increased by ₱3.8 million 
or 42% from ₱9.0 million as of December 31, 2020 to ₱12.8 million as of December 31, 2021 due to 
additional security deposits required to be made by the Company under its lease contract with Clark 
Development Corporation. 
 
Liabilities 
 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱280.8 million  as of December 31, 2021, which was 
₱935.4 million, or 77% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,216.1 million  as of December 
31, 2020. 
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Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable decreased by ₱74.2 million or 59%  from ₱125.6 million as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱51.4 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the decrease in accrued interest 
pursuant to the assignment of its bank loan to CREC. 

 
Due to related parties – current portion 

The Company’s due to related parties – current portion amounted to ₱56.1 million as of December 
31, 2021 and pertains to the portion of the loan payable of the Company expected to be settled within 
one year which was reclassified from due to related parties – net of current portion.  The Company’s 
due to related parties pertains to the amount of the loan payable of the Company which was assigned 
by the Company to CREC and which was not converted to equity. 
 
Loans payable – current 

The Company did not have any loan payable – current as of December 31, 2021, compared to ₱126.4 
million as of December 31, 2020.  Pursuant to the Conversion of Advances, the Company’s assigned 
its bank loan payable to CREC. 

 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱1.0 million or 330%  from ₱0.3 million  as of 
December 31, 2020, to ₱1.3 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the reclassification of current 
lease liabilities from the non-current portion. 
 
Loans payable – net of current portion 

The Company did not have any loan payable – net of current portion as of December 31, 2021. The 
decrease in the amount of P909.8 million as of December 31, 2020 was due to the assignment of bank 
loan payable to CREC in 2021. 

 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion increased by ₱52.1 million or 102% from ₱51.1 
million as of December 31, 2020, to ₱103.1 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the increase in 
right-of-use assets brought about by the additional lease contract executed by the Company with the 
owner of Dalayap property. 
 
Due to related parties – net of current portion 

The Company’s due to related parties – net of current portion increased by ₱68.5 million or 100%  
from nil as of December 31, 2020, to ₱68.5 million as of December 31, 2021 due to the reclassification 
of a portion of the loan payable of the Company expected to be settled beyond one year.  The 
Company’s due to related parties pertains to the amount of the loan payable of the Company which 
was assigned by the Company to CREC and which was not converted to equity. 
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Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱1,628.0 million as of December 31, 2021, which increased by 
₱1,062.9 million or 188%, from ₱565.1 million as of December 31, 2020, mainly relating to various 
debt to equity conversion and asset for share swap which increased capital stock by P834.5 million 
and the net income for the period amounting to P225.6 million. 
 
As of December 31, 2020 compared with as of December 31, 2019 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.8 billion as of December 31, 2020, which was ₱94.1 
million, or 6% higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.7 billion as of December 31, 2019. 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents increased by ₱24.7 million or 523% to ₱71.7 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱47.1 million as of December 31, 2019, due to cash generated from 
the Company’s operations and lower debt service in 2020 as the Company availed of the deferments 
granted under the Bayanihan Act. 

 
Trade and other receivables 

The Company’s trade and other receivables increased by ₱3.7 million or 10% to ₱42.0 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱38.3 million as of December 31, 2019, due to higher revenue 
billings for the months of November and December compared with 2019. 
 
Due from related parties 

The Company’s Due from related parties increased by ₱126.6 million or 140% to ₱216.9 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱90.4 million as of December 31, 2019, due to cash sweep policy of 
the Group to consolidate unutilized cash at the holding level. 
 
Other current assets 

The increase of ₱0.2 million or 1% in the Company’s other current assets from P11.4 million as of 
December 31, 2019 to ₱11.6 million as of December 31, 2020, is mainly related to advance payments 
made to a service provider, who will be billed after rendering full service. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net consisted of the Clark Solar Power Plant, and 
amounted to ₱1,390.3 million  as of December 31, 2020, which is ₱59.2 million or 4.1% lower 
compared with ₱1,449.5 million as of December 31, 2019.  The decrease is due to depreciation charges 
for the period. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets decreased by ₱2.1 million or 5% from ₱41.8 million as of December 
31, 2019, to ₱39.7 million as of December 31, 2020 due to amortization of such assets recognized in 
2020. 
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Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit increased slightly by P0.3 
million or 4%  due to small adjustments on bill deposits. 
 
Liabilities 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱1,216.1 million as of December 31, 2020, which was 
₱10.0 million, or 1% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,226.1 million as of December 31, 
2019. 
 
Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable increased by ₱47.2 million or 60% from ₱78.4 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱125.6 million as of December 31, 2020 due to the deferral by the Company 
of its principal loan repayment and interest due on its loan payable, resulting in higher interest accrual 
for the year. 

 
Loans payable – current 

The Company’s loans payable - current increased by ₱5.5 million or 5% from ₱120.9 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱126.4 million as of December 31, 2020 due to increase in expected principal 
payments for the next year based on the loan amortization schedule with the bank. 
 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱0.3 million or 1,287%  from ₱21,201 as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱0.3 million as of December 31, 2020 due to increase in expected lease 
payment for the next year. 
 
Loans payable – noncurrent 

The Company’s loans payable - noncurrent decreased by ₱64.5 million or 7% from ₱974.3 million as 
of December 31, 2019, to ₱909.8 million as of December 31, 2020 due to principal payments made 
during the period. 
 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion decreased by ₱0.3 million or 1% from ₱51.4 
million as of December 31, 2019, to ₱51.1 million as of December 31, 2020 due to lease payments 
made during the period. 
 
Retirement Benefit Obligation 

The Company’s retirement benefit obligation increased by ₱2.9 million or 100% due to recognition of 
post-employment benefit obligation based on the provisions of Republic Act 7641, Retirement Law. 
 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

The Company’s other noncurrent liabilities of ₱1.1 million as of December 31, 2019 represents asset 
retirement obligations in 2019 relating to restoration costs of the leased land to its original condition 
upon the termination of the lease agreement.  In 2020, the Company reversed the full amount of 
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provision as management assessed that this is no longer expected to be settled or incurred upon 
termination of the lease agreement. 
 
Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱565.1 million as of December 31, 2020, which increased by ₱104.1 
million or 23%, from ₱461.0 million as of December 31, 2019, mainly relating to net income for the 
period. 
 
As of December 31, 2019 compared with as of December 31, 2018 

Assets 
 
The Company’s total assets amounted to ₱1.7 billion as of December 31, 2019, which was ₱5.7 million 
higher than the Company’s total assets of ₱1.5 billion as of December 31, 2018. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased by ₱39.7 million or 46% to ₱47.1 million as of 
December 31, 2019, compared to ₱86.8 million as of December 31, 2018, due to debt service made 
during the year. 

 
Trade and other receivables 

The Company’s trade and other receivables decreased by ₱25.2 million or 40% to ₱38.3 million as of 
December 31, 2020, compared to ₱63.5 million as of December 31, 2019, due to collections of overdue 
accounts with Transco. 
 
Due from related parties 

The Company’s Due from related parties increased by ₱90.4 million or 100%, due to cash sweep policy 
of the Group to consolidate unutilized cash at the holding level. 
 
Other current assets 

The decrease of ₱1.2 million or 9% in the Company’s other current assets from P12.6 million as of 
December 31, 2019 to ₱11.4 million as of December 31, 2019, is mainly related to change in timing of 
insurance payment and covered period which reduced prepaid insurance by the same amount. 
 
Property, plant and equipment – net 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment – net consisted of the Clark Solar Power Plant 
amounted to ₱1,449.5 million  as of December 31, 2019, which is ₱59.0 million or 4% lower compared 
with ₱1,508.5 million as of December 31, 2018.  The decrease is due to depreciation charges for the 
period. 
 
Right-of-use assets 

The Company’s right-of-use assets increased by ₱41.8 million or 100% as a result of adoption of the 
new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases, where operating leases are required to be recognized as 
right of use assets. 
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Other noncurrent assets 

The Company’s other noncurrent assets, which pertains to security deposit decreased by P1.4 million 
or 14%  due to reclassification of prepaid rental to right of use assets as a result of adoption of the 
new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. 
 
Liabilities 
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to ₱1,226.1 million as of December 31, 2019, which was 
₱73.0 million, or 6% lower than the Company’s total liabilities of ₱1,300.0 million as of December 31, 
2018. 
 
Trade and other payables 

The Company’s trade and other payable increased by ₱15.8 million or 25% from ₱62.6 million as of 
December 31, 2019, to ₱78.4 million as of December 31, 2020 due to accrual of government related 
taxes. 
 
Loans payable – current 

The Company’s loans payable - current increased insignificantly by ₱0.2 million from ₱120.7 million as 
of December 31, 2018, to ₱120.9 million as of December 31, 2019 due to increase in expected principal 
payments for the next year based on the loan amortization schedule with the bank. 
 
Lease liabilities – current 

The Company’s lease liabilities - current increased by ₱21,201 or 100%  as a result of adoption of the 
new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases 
 
Loans payable – noncurrent 

The Company’s loans payable - noncurrent decreased by ₱120.9 million or 11% from ₱1,095.3 million 
as of December 31, 2018, to ₱974.3 million as of December 31, 2019 due to principal payments made 
during the period. 
 
Lease liabilities – net of current portion 

The Company’s lease liabilities – net of current portion increased by ₱51.4 million or 100% as a result 
of adoption of the new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. 
 
Other noncurrent liabilities 

The Company’s other noncurrent liabilities of ₱10.5 million as of December 31, 2018 decreased by 
P9.4 million or 90% to P1.1 million as of December 31, 2019 due to reclassification lease equalization 
as a result of adoption of the new accounting standards, PFRS 16, Leases. In 2018, the provision for 
lease equalization pertains to the additional liability resulting from the application of straight-line 
method to lease payments under the lease of land. 
 
Equity 

The Company’s Equity stands at ₱461.0 million as of December 31, 2019, which increased by ₱79.6 
million or 21%, from ₱381.4 million as of December 31, 2019, mainly relating to net income for the 
period. 
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Material Events and Uncertainties 
 
There are no other material changes in CREIT’s financial position by five percent (5%) or more and no 
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and 
uncertainties known to management that would impact or change the reported financial information 
and condition of CREIT.  
 
Other than the impact of COVID-19 on the business which is disclosed in Note 25 of the audited 
financial statements or Exhibit “2”, there are no known trends or demands, commitments, events or 
uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in increasing or decreasing CREIT’s 
liquidity in any material way.  CREIT does not anticipate having any cash flow or liquidity problems. It 
is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing arrangement 
requiring it to make payments.  
 
There are no material off-balance transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations), and other relationships of CREIT with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period.  
 
CREIT has a capital commitment to utilize the proceeds it received last February 22, 2022 from primary 
shares offering amounting to Two Billion Five Hundred Seven Million Nine Hundred Eighteen Pesos 
(PhP 2,507,918.00) for the acquisition of Bulacan and Cotabato properties. Other than that, there are 
no material commitments for capital expenditures, events or uncertainties that have had or that are 
reasonably expected to have a material impact on the continuing operations of CREIT.  
  
There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of 
operations of CREIT.  
 
There are no material events subsequent to 31 December 2021 that have not been reflected in the 
audited financial statements or Exhibit “2” of the Company.  

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As regards internal and external sources of liquidity, the Company’s funding is sourced from internally 
generated cash flows, and also from borrowings or available credit facilities from other local and 
international commercial banks. 
 
There is no material commitment for capital expenditures other than those performed in the ordinary 
course of trade or business. Additionally, there is no significant element of income not arising from 
continuing operations. 
 
There have not been any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or 
results of operations of CREIT. 
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Cash Flows  
 
The following table sets forth information from CREIT’s audited statements of cash flows for the 
periods indicated: 
 

(Amounts in PhP Millions) For the years ended December 31 

Cash Flow 2021 2020 2019 

Net cash provided by operating activities 51 120 150 

Net cash used in investing activities - - - 

Net cash used in financing activities (74) (95) (190) 

 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)  
 
CREIT’s KPIs are as follows: 
 

All Ratios except Earnings per Share 
and Book Value per Share 

2021 2020 2019 

Current Ratio1 1.33 1.36 0.94 

Debt to Equity Ratio2 - 1.83 2.38 

Book Value Per Share3 0.30 8.06 -0.51 

Earnings per Share4 0.08 0.04 0.03 

Return on Assets5 0.12 0.06 0.05 

Return on Equity6 0.21 0.20 0.19 

Net Profit Margin7 0.64 0.39 0.32 

 
The KPIs were chosen to provide management with a measure of CREIT’s sustainability on financial 
strength (Current Ratio and Debt to Equity Ratio), and profitability (Earnings per Share, Return on 
Assets, Return on Equity, Net Profit Margin). 

 
Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 
CREIT is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation to its financial instruments. Its risk 
management is coordinated with the Board of Directors and focuses on actively securing CREIT’s short-
to-medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.    
 
CREIT does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write 
options.  The most significant financial risks to which it is exposed to are market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The detailed discussion of the impact of these risks are discussed in Note 32 of the 
consolidated audited financial statements or Exhibit “2”. 
 
Item 7. Financial Statements  
 

 
1 Current Assets/Current Liabilities 
2 Interest bearing loans and borrowings /Stockholder’s Equity 
3 Total Equity/Issued and Outstanding Shares 
4 Net Profit/Issued and Outstanding Shares 
5 Net Profit/Average Shares 
6 Net Profit/Average Equity 
7 Net Profit/Revenue 
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CREIT’s audited financial statements and the supplementary schedules to the same, which were 
submitted to the Bureau of Internal Revenue are attached hereto as Exhibit “2”. 
 
Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with External Accountants on Accounting and Financial 
Disclosure 
 
External Audit Fees and Services  
 
The following table sets out the aggregate fees billed for each of the last three (3) fiscal years for 
professional services rendered by CREIT’s external auditors: 
 

Particulars Nature 
Audit Fees (amounts in PhP) 

For the years ended December 31 

  2021 2020 2019 

Maceda 
Valencia & Co 

Audit of Financial Statements - - 150,000.00 

Isla Lipana & 
Co.  (“PwC 

Philippines”) 

Audit of Financial Statements 300,000.00 100,000.00 - 

Agreed Upon Procedures – 
Increase in authorized capital 
stock 

75,000.00 - - 

Pro-forma Financials 
Adjustments 

150,000.00 - - 

Circle-up procedures  1,500,00.00 - - 

Q2 Financial Statements 
Audit and Proforma 

680,000.00 - - 

Q3 Financial Statements 
Audit 

350,000.00 - - 

Q3 Proforma Financial 
Statements 

300,000.00 - - 

Prospectus Circle-Up (for 
Preferred Shares Offering) 

500,000.00 - - 

 
The Board’s Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (AROC) 
The AROC is composed of Mr. Leonilo G. Coronel, Chairman of the AROC, Ms. Elizabeth Anne C. 
Uychaco, Vice Chairman of the AROC, and Atty. Jose M. Layug, Jr.  
 
The AROC is required to pre-approve all audit and non-audit services to be rendered by independent 
accountants and approve the engagement fee and any other compensation to be paid to such 
independent accountants. When deciding whether to approve these items, the AROC takes into 
account whether the provision of any non-audit service is compatible with the independence 
standards under the guidelines of the SEC. To assist in this undertaking, the AROC communicates with 
the external auditors with regard to any relationship or services that may impact their objectivity and 
independence and, if appropriate, recommends that the Board take the necessary action to ensure 
their independence.  
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Changes in and Disagreements with External Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
The name of the handling partner for the auditor of CREIT is as follows: 
 

Auditor Year Handling Partner 

Isla Lipana & Co.  (“PwC 
Philippines”) 

2021 and 2020 2020 to 2021 
– Pocholo Domondon 

 
CREIT did not have any disagreements with its internal auditors or independent accountants on any 
matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statements, disclosures, or auditing scope or 
procedures. 
 
PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
Item 9. Directors and Executive Officers of CREIT 
 
Directors and Executive Officers 
 
As of December 31, 2021, CREIT is governed by a Board of eight (8) directors, composed of the 
following:  
 
1. Mr. Edgar B. Saavedra, Chairman of the Board; 
2. Mr. Manuel Louie B. Ferrer, Director; 
3. Mr. Oliver Y. Tan, Director CEO, and President;  
4. Mr. Jez Dela Cruz, Director; 
5. Mr. Leonilo G. Coronel, Independent Director;   
6. Atty. Jose M. Layug, Jr., Independent Director; and  
7. Ms. Pacita U. Juan, Independent Director; 
8. Ms. Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco, Independent Director.  
 
Moreover, CREIT management team is also headed by Mr. Edgar B. Saavedra, a licensed civil engineer, 
who has been practicing for over twenty (20) years.  
 
The directors shall hold office for one (1) year or until their successors are elected and qualified. The 
first directors are also the incorporators. The annual meeting of the stockholders shall be held every 
first Monday of April each year.  
 
The Board is responsible for the direction and control of the business affairs and management of 
CREIT, and the preservation of its assets and properties. No person can be elected as director of CREIT 
unless he or she is a registered owner of at least 1 voting share of CREIT.  
 
Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular (M.C.) No. 19, Series of 2016, the Company adopted its New 
Manual on Corporate Governance (Manual). In accordance with Section VI (5) (a) of the Manual, the 
Board shall have at least three (3) independent directors, or such number as to constitute at least one-
third (1/3) of the members of the Board, whichever is higher. At present, four (4) members of the 
Board are independent directors.  
 
Meanwhile, the Amended Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of CREIT provide that the eight (8) 
directors shall include such number of independent directors as may be required by law. 
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Board of Directors 
 
The table below sets forth each member of CREIT’s Board, as of December 31, 2021. 
 

Name Age Citizen
ship 

Positions Term 
of 

Office 

Directorships Held 
in Other Companies/ 
Business Experience 

Edgar B. 
Saavedra 
 

46 Filipin
o 
 

Chairman of 
the Board,  

Yearly Chairman of the Board, MWMTI, MTI, 
Altria, PH1, Cebu2World, CIHI, CMCI, MLI, 
Wide-Horizons, Citicore Power Inc. (“CPI”), 
CREC, Citicore Negros Occidental, Citicore 
Bataan, Citicore Solar Cebu, Inc., Citicore 
South Cotabato, Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore 
Tarlac 2, Citicore Bulacan, Citicore Solar 
Energy Corporation (“CSEC”), Greencore 
Power Solutions 1, Inc. (“GPS1”), Greencore 
Power Solutions 2, Inc. (“GPS2”), Greencore 
Power Solutions 3, Inc. (“GPS3”), Sunny 
Side Up Power Corp. (“SSUPC”), Rio Norte 
Hydropower Corp. (“RNHC”), Himamaylan 
Biomass Power Inc.,  Corebiomass Power 
Inc., Verdecore Power Solutions, Inc. 
(“VPSI”), Sikat Solar Holdco Inc. (“SSHI”), 
Citicore Solar Holdings, Inc. (“CSHI”), 
Citicore Biomass Corporation, Citicore 
Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., Citicore 
Candlewick Biotech Corp., Citicore 
Candlewick Plantations Inc., Citicore 
Summa Water Corporation, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo, Incorporated, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo Bulk, Incorporated, 
Citicore Summa Water Lapu-Lapu, 
Incorporated, MCC-Citicore Construction, 
Inc. and CitiRetail Power Corp.Director and 
Vice President, MCFI 
Director, GMCAC and GMI 

Oliver Y. 
Tan 

43 Filipin
o 

Director, 
CEO, and 
President 
  

Yearly Director, CEO and President of CPI, CREC, 
Citicore Negros Occidental, Citicore Bataan, 
Citicore Solar Cebu, Inc., Citicore South 
Cotabato, Citicore Tarlac 1, Citicore Tarlac 
2, Citicore Bulacan, CSEC, GPS1, GPS2, GPS3 
and SSUPC 
Director and President, CIHI, CMCI, RNHC, 
Himamaylan Biomass Power Inc.,  
Corebiomass Power Inc., VPSI, SSHI, CSHI, 
Citicore Biomass Corporation, Citicore 
Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., Citicore 
Candlewick Biotech Corp., Citicore 
Candlewick Plantations Inc., Citicore 
Summa Water Corporation, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo, Incorporated, Citicore 
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Summa Water Iloilo Bulk, Incorporated, 
Citicore Summa Water Lapu-Lapu, 
Incorporated, MCC-Citicore Construction, 
Inc. and CitiRetail Power Corp.Director and 
Treasurer, MTI and MLI 
Director, CMCI and MWCCI 
Director and Corporate Secretary, FSMI and 
IRMO  

Manuel 
Louie B. 
Ferrer 

46 Filipin
o 

Executive 
Director, 
Infrastructur
e 
Developmen
t and Chief 
Corporate 
Affairs and 
Branding 
Officer 
 

Yearly Chairman of the Board and President, MCFI 
Vice Chairman of the Board, PH1 
Director and President, GMCAC, MWMTI, 
MTI, Altria, Cebu2World, and Wide-
Horizons 
Director, CPI, CREC, Citicore Bataan, 
Citicore Negros Occidental, Citicore Solar 
Cebu, Inc., Citicore South Cotabato, Citicore 
Tarlac 1, Citicore Tarlac 2, Citicore Bulacan, 
CSEC, GPS1, SSUPC, RNHC, GPS2, 
Himamaylan Biomass Power, Inc., 
Corebiomass Power Inc., VPSI, SSHI, CSHI, 
Citicore Biomass Corporation, Citicore 
Candlewick BioEnergy, Inc., Citicore 
Candlewick Biotech Corp., Citicore 
Candlewick Plantations Inc., Citicore 
Summa Water Corporation, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo, Incorporated, Citicore 
Summa Water Iloilo Bulk, Incorporated, 
Citicore Summa Water Lapu-Lapu, 
Incorporated, MCC-Citicore Construction, 
Inc., PH1, MLI, and GMI 
Managing Director, 

MagicWorx Licensing Inc. 
Former Associate Marketing Engineer, OCB 
International Co., Ltd 

Jez Dela 
Cruz 

36 Filipin
o 

Director and 
Treasurer 

Yearly Director, CPI, CREC, GPS3, GMCAC, and GMI 
AVP for Corporate Finance and Planning – 
Megawide 
Senior Manager – BPI Capital Corporation 

Leonilo G. 
Coronel 

75 Filipin
o 

Independent 
Director 
 

Yearly Vice Chairman and Director, Philippine 
National Bank 
Director, DBP Daiwa Securities, RBB 
Microfinance Foundation, Software 
Ventures International Corporation 
Previous Independent director, Megawide 
Construction Corp. 

Jose M. 
Layug, Jr. 

50 Filipin
o 

Independent 
Director 

Yearly Senior Partner, Puno and Puno Law Offices 
Dean, University of Makati School of Law 
President, Developers of Renewable Energy 
for Advancement, Inc. 
Chairman, Department of Energy’s National 
Renewable Energy Board 
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Pacita U. 
Juan 

66 Filipin
o 

Independent 
Director 

Yearly President, M.D, Juan Enterprises, Inc. 
Vice President for Finance and Treasurer, 
Centro Mfg. Corporation 
Treasurer, Peace and Equity Holdings, Inc. 

Elizabeth 
Anne C. 
Uychaco 

65 Filipin
o 

Independent 
Director 

Yearly Senior Vice President, SM Investment 
Corporation 
Director and Vice Chairman, Belle 
Corporation 
Chairman, NEO Group 
Director, Republic Glass Corporation, 
Goldilocks and PULS 

 
 
Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors  
 
The table below sets forth the officers of CREIT, as of December 31, 2021. 
 

Name 
 

Age Citizen
ship 

Position Term 
of 

Office 

Directorships Held 
in Other Companies/ 
Business Experience 

Mia Grace 
Paula S. 
Cortez 

39 Filipin
o 

Chief 
Financial 
Officer 

Yearly Director and Chairman, Citicore Energy 
Solutions, Inc. 
Director and Treasurer, Citicore Tarlac 1, 
CSEC, SSUPC,    Citicore Biomass 
Corporation 
Director, GPS1, GPS2, Himamaylan Biomass 
Power Inc., Corebiomass Power Inc., VPSI,  
Director, Cebu2World 
AVP & Group Comptroller, Megawide 
Construction Corp. 
Senior Manager, Punongbayan & Araullo 
 

Raymund 
Jay S. 
Gomez 

50 Filipin
o 

Compliance 
Officer 

Yearly Director, Altria, CIHI, CMCI, MLI, MTI, and 
MWMTI 

    Chief Legal Officer, Compliance Officer, 
and Data Protection Officer – Megawide 
Construction Corp. 

VP-Human Resources, Legal, and 
Regulatory Affairs Department, Beneficial 
Life Insurance Company, Inc. 
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AVP-Legal and Corporate Services 
Department, Aboitiz Equity Ventures, Inc. 
Director of Corporate Legal Affairs and 
Litigation Department, JG Summit Holdings, 
Inc. 

Michelle 
A. 
Magdato 

33 Filipin
o 

Investor 
Relations 

Officer 

Yearly None 

Jaime P. 
Del 

Rosario  

35 Filipin
o 

Corporate 
Secretary 

Yearly Director and Corporate Secretary, Citicore 
Energy Solutions, Inc., Citicore Negros 
Occidental, Citicore  Bataan, Citicore Cebu, 
Citicore South Cotabato, Citicore Tarlac 2, 
Citicore Bulacan, Inc., SSHI, CSHI, MCC-
Citicore Construction, Inc., CitiRetail Power 
Corp.,  
Director, Citicore Property Managers, Inc. 

James A. 
Jumalon 

35 Filipin
o 

Assistant 
Corporate 
Secretary 

Yearly None. 

 
Attendance of Directors to Board and Committee Meetings 
 
The tables below set forth the attendance of CREIT’s Directors to Board and Board Committee 
meetings held from January 01, 2021 to December 31, 2021:  
 
Board of Directors' Meetings 
 

 Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. of  
Meetings Held 
(Regular and 

Special) 

No. of  
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman 
Edgar B. 
Saavedra 

May 25, 
2021 

7 7 
100 

Member 
Manuel Louie B. 

Ferrer 

May 25, 
2021 

 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

Member Oliver Y. Tan 
May 25, 

2021 
 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

Member Jez G. Dela Cruz 
May 25, 

2021 
 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

Member 
(Independent) 

Leonilo G. 
Coronel 

May 25, 
2021 

 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

Member 
(Independent) 

Jose M. Layug, 
Jr. 

May 25, 
2021 

 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

Member 
(Independent) 

Pacita U. Juan 
May 25, 

2021 
 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
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Member 
(Independent) 

Elizabeth Anne 
C. Uychaco 

May 25, 
2021 

 

7 
 

7 
 

100 
 

 
Executive Committee 

 

Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. of 
Meetings Held 
(Regular and 

Special) 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman Edgar B. Saavedra 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Oliver Y. Tan 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member 
Manuel Louie B. 

Ferrer 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Jez G. Dela Cruz 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

 

 
Audit and Risk Oversight Committee Meetings 
 

Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. Of 
Meetings 

Held 
(Regular and 

Special) 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman 
Leonilo G. 
Coronel 

May 25, 
2021 

0 0 0 

Member 
Jose M. 

Layug, Jr. 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member 
Elizabeth 
Anne C. 
Uychaco 

May 25, 
2021 

0 0 0 

 
Related Party Transaction Review & Compliance Committee Meetings 
 

Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. Of 
Meetings 

Held 
(Regular and 

Special) 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman Jose M. Layug, Jr. 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member 
Elizabeth Anne C. 

Uychaco 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Leonilo G. Coronel 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

 
Nominations, Compensation & Personnel Committee Meetings 
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Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. of Meetings 
Held 

(Regular and 
Special) 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman Jez G. Dela Cruz 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Pacita U. Juan 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Leonilo G. Coronel 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

 
Environmental, Social & Governance Committee Meetings 
 

Board Name 
Date of 
Election 

No. of Meetings 
Held 

(Regular and 
Special) 

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended 

% 

Chairman Pacita U. Juan 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member Oliver Y. Tan 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

Member 
Manuel Louie B. 

Ferrer 
May 25, 

2021 
0 0 0 

 
Significant Employees  
 
No single person is expected to make a significant contribution to the business, since CREIT considers 
the collective efforts of all its employees as instrumental to the overall success of its performance. 
 
Family Relationships 
 
None of the directors are related to each other.  
 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
During the past five (5) years, CREIT is not aware of the occurrence of any of the following events that 
are material to the evaluation of the ability or integrity of any director or executive officer: 
 
1. Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any director, or any business of a director, nominee 

for election as director, or executive officer who was a director, general partner or executive 
officer of said business either at the time of the bankruptcy or within 2 years prior to that time; 

 
2. Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being convicted by final 

judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses, except 
those aforementioned; 

 
3. Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being subject to any order, 

judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
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suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, 
commodities or banking activities; and 

 
4. Any director, nominee for election as director, or executive officer being found by a domestic 

or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or comparable foreign body, 
or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or self-regulatory 
organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment 
has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated. 

 
Item 10. Executive Compensation 
 
All Directors and Officers as a Group  
 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 
Annual Compensation 

(In Php Millions) 
 
The Company’s executive officers have been, and will continue to be, compensated by the Sponsors 
and the Citicore Group.  The table below sets forth the compensation of the President and CEO and 
top three highest compensated officers of the Company for the years indicated: 
 

Name and Principal Position Period 

Salary 
 (₱ 

million) 

Bonus 
 (₱ 

million) 

Other 
Annual 

Compensatio
n and 

Benefits 
(₱ million) 

Total  
(₱ 

million) 

CEO and top three highest 
compensated officers*           

Oliver Tan, President and CEO 
Jez Dela Cruz, Treasurer 
Raymund Jay Gomez, Compliance 
Officer 
Mia Grace Paula Cortez, CFO 

 
2021 

  
28.60 2.86 5.15 36.62 

Oliver Tan, President and CEO 
Jez Dela Cruz, Treasurer 
Raymund Jay Gomez, Compliance 
Officer 
Mia Grace Paula Cortez, CFO 

2020 25.11 2.36 3.91 31.38 

All officers and directors as a 
group unnamed 

 
2021 

 
30.37 

 
3.00 

 
5.25 

 
38.63 

 2020 26.09 2.44 3.99 35.53 

 
Compensation of Directors 
 
Under the By-Laws of CREIT, by resolution of the Board, each director, shall receive a reasonable per 
diem allowance for his attendance at each Board meeting. As compensation, the Board shall receive 
and allocate an amount of not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax of 
the Company during the preceding year. Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned 
among directors in such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of 
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stockholders representing at least majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special 
meeting of the stockholders.  
 
On July 26, 2021, the Board, approved the giving of Fifty Thousand Pesos (PhP 50,000.00) Director’s 
per diem, per Board meeting, and a Twenty Five Thousand Pesos (PhP 25,000.00) monthly allowance 
in the form of reimbursable expenses for each regular director.  

 
Standard Arrangements and Other Arrangements 
 
There are no other arrangements for compensation either by way of payments for committee 
participation or special assignments other than reasonable per diem. There are also no outstanding 
warrants or options held by CREIT’s CEO, other officers and/or directors. 
 
Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control Arrangements 
 
While the Company has no special retirement plans for its employees, it provides retirement benefits 
in accordance with R.A. No. 7641 or the “Retirement Pay Law”, and other applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. Also, there is no existing arrangement with regard to compensation to be received by any 
executive officer from CREIT in the event of a change in control of the Company. Aside from its 
employees, CREIT has also entered into employment contracts with its foreign experts. The contracts 
with foreign nationals usually include benefits, such as housing, medical and group life insurance, 
vacation leaves, and company vehicle. Further, employment contracts include provisions regarding 
CREIT’s ownership of any invention developed during the course of employment, liquidated damages 
in the event of contract pre-termination, and a non-compete clause prohibiting the employee, for a 
period of one (1) year after the termination of the contract, from engaging, directly or indirectly, for 
himself or on behalf of or in conjunction with any person, corporation, partnership or other business 
entity that is connected with the business of CREIT. 

 
Warrants and Options 
 
There are no outstanding warrants and options held by any of CREIT’s directors and executive officers.
  
 
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
 
Security Ownership of Certain Owners of Record and Beneficial Owners  

 
Owners of record of more than five percent (5%) of CREIT’s shares of stock as of December 31, 2021 
are as follows: 
  

Title of 
Class 

Name & Address of 
Record Owner & 

Relationship with Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner & 

Relationship with 
Record Owner 

Citizen
ship 

Number of 
Shares Held 

Percent (%) 

Commo
n 

Citicore Renewable 
Energy Corp. – 
Stockholder 
 
11th Floor, Rockwell 
Santolan Town Plaza, 276 

Edgar B. Saavedra 
 

Mr. Saavedra is the 
ultimate beneficial 

owner of CREC 

Filipin
o 

4,579,461,136 83.29% 
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Col. Bonny Serrano 
Avenue, San Juan City 

Commo
n 

Citicore Solar Tarlac 1, 
Inc. – Stockholder 
 
Sitio Sampaloc, Brgy. 
Armenia, Tarlac City 

Edgar B. Saavedra 
 

Mr. Saavedra is the 
ultimate beneficial 
owner of Citicore 

Tarlac 1 

 

Filipin
o 

918,720,864 16.71% 

 
 
Security Ownership of Management 
The following table sets forth the security ownership of CREIT Directors and officers as of December 
31, 2021: 
 

Title of 
Class 

Name of Beneficial Owner 
Amount and 

Nature of 
Beneficial Owner 

Citizenship Percentage 

Common 
Edgar B. Saavedra 
Chairman of the Board,  

 
1 

(Direct) 
Filipino Nil 

Common 
Oliver Y. Tan 
Director, CEO, and President 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Manuel Louie B. Ferrer  
Director 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Jez Dela Cruz 
Director and Treasurer 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Leonilo G. Coronel 
Independent Director  

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Jose M. Layug, Jr. 
Independent Director 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Pacita U. Juan 
Independent Director 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

Common 
Elizabeth Anne C. Uychaco 
Independent Director 

1 
(Direct) 

Filipino Nil 

     

Aggregate Shareholdings of Directors and 
Officers as a Group 

8  Nil 

 
Voting Trust Holders of Five Percent (5%) or More  
 
There is no voting trust arrangement executed among the holders of five percent (5%) or more of the 
issued and outstanding shares of common stock of CREIT. 
 
Change in Control 
 
There are no arrangements entered into by CREIT or any of its stockholders which may result in a 
change of control of CREIT. 
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Item 12. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions  
 

Related Party Relationship 
Nature of 

Transaction 
Transaction 

Value (₱) 

Outstanding 
Balance as of  
December 31, 

2021 

Lease Income     
Citicore Tarlac 1 under common 

control(a) 
Contract of Lease 
dated July 26, 2021 
for Armenia property 
(138,164 sqm) 

8,195,035 -- 

Citicore Tarlac 2 under common 
control(a) 

Sub Lease Agreement 
dated July 26, 2021 
for Dalayap property 
(10.533731 hectares) 

7,121,860 -- 

Total   15,316,894 -- 

     

Other     

CREC Parent company(b) Advances granted, 
non-interest bearing, 
on demand 

227,942,488 — 

Citicore Power Ultimate parent  Advances granted, 
non-interest bearing, 
on demand 

87,021,747 — 

     

CREC Parent company(c) Assignment of loans 
payable 

(1,011,570,248
) 

(139,228,236)  

     

CREC Parent Company(d) Assumed interest 
payable 

(13,024,012)  — 

     

CREC Parent company(e) Issuance of shares 607,330,352 607,330,352 

Citicore Tarlac 1 under common 
control(e) 

Issuance of shares 229,680,216 229,680,216 

 
 
 
PART IV – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Item 13. Corporate Governance 
 
It is the firm belief of CREIT that an organization that faithfully practices and implements the core 
principles of good corporate governance such as honesty, integrity, fairness, accountability, and 
transparency will, more often than not, outperform and outshine its competitors. Thus, CREIT is in full 
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compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the PSE, and all other relevant rules and 
regulations, especially those involving public-listed companies.  
 
Below are some of the Company’s policies and programs in relation to corporate governance: 
 
1. In compliance with SEC M.C. No. 19, Series of 2016, CREIT adopted its New Manual and has 

taken several steps to apply its principles, such as constituting all the Board Committees 
required therein: 
 
1. Executive Committee;  
2. Audit and Risk Oversight Committee 
3. Related Party Transaction Review & Compliance Committee Meetings 

1. Nominations, Compensation & Personnel Committee 

2. Environmental, Social & Governance Committee 
 
The charters and compositions of the foregoing Board Committees are in accordance with the 
Manual. 
 

3. The Company has elected four (4) Independent Directors to ensure that the Board will protect, 
not only the interests of the Company, but its shareholders as well.  
 

4. To further its corporate governance initiatives, CREIT, in 2018, implemented its Code of Business 
Conduct and Ethics, Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards for Suppliers, Insider Trading Policy, 
and Conflict of Interest Policy Supplemental Guidelines and Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form. 
Further, CREIT actively rolled out its Whistleblowing Policy to its employees, suppliers, vendors, 
and clients, to encourage the disclosure of illegal and dishonest activities occurring within the 
Company. 

 
5. In 2019, CREIT adopted its Anti-Fraud Policy, Board Self-Evaluation Policy, and introduced 

changes to its Related Party Transactions Policy in compliance with SEC M.C. No. 10 series of 
2019. It also conducted an Annual Corporate Governance Training on November 13, 2019, with 
the assistance of the Institute of Corporate Directors, which was attended by the Company’s 
Directors and key officers.  

 
6. The Board revised the Company’s vision, mission, and values, which it launched in 2019.  

 
7. To reinforce the CREIT’s adherence to good corporate governance, and in compliance with its 

Manual and SEC M.C. No. 04, Series of 2019, attached is the Company’s Sustainability Report as 
Exhibit “3”. 

f 
 
8. The Company also adheres with the regulatory requirements on corporate governance through 

the timely submission of its Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report with the SEC and 
the regular updating of its corporate website (www.creit.com.ph).  
 

A full discussion on the corporate governance practices of CREIT are provided and explained in its 
Annual Corporate Governance Report. 
 
PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
Item 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

http://www.creit.com.ph/
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Exhibits 
 
Exhibit “1” List of PCD Participants as of December 31, 2021 
 
Exhibit “2”  Audited Financial Statements and Schedules 
 

 Exhibit “3” Sustainability Report 
 
Material Contracts 
 
CREIT’s principal contracts generally consist of contract of the lease of its properties. CREIT is not a 
party to any contract of any material importance and outside the usual course of business, and the 
directors do not know of any such contract involving CREIT. 
 

concession period.  
 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C** 

 
On March 17, 2020, the SEC issued a Notice for “Filing of Structured Reports, Current Reports and 
Communications with the Securities and Exchange Commission” dispensing the requirement of filing 
a separate SEC Form 17-C during the implementation of the community quarantine over the 
Philippines. Thus, all reports filed with the PSE during the community quarantine are considered as 
having been filed with the SEC.   
  
All reports may be found on the PSE’s EDGE:  
https://edge.pse.com.ph/companyDisclosures/form.do?cmpy_id=627 
 
 

- Signature Page Follows - 

https://edge.pse.com.ph/companyDisclosures/form.do?cmpy_id=627
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
11F Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza 
276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue 
San Juan City, Metro Manila 
 
 
Report on the Audits of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable  
Resources Inc.) (the “Company”) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS). 
 
What we have audited 
 
The financial statements of the Company comprise:  
 

• the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 2020; 
• the statements of total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020; 

• the statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020;  
• the statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020; and  
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics), together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  
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Our Audit Approach 
 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements.  In particular, we considered where management made 
subjective judgments; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.  As in all of our audits, we 
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud. 
 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarized as follows: 
 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 
In line with the Company’s listing at the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on  
February 22, 2022, the Company completed 
various Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) 
formation transactions during 2021 which 
include:  
 
a. Bank loan assignment to the Parent 

Company (Note 10).  
 
 
 
 
 
 

We addressed the key audit matters by obtaining 
understanding of the REIT formation transactions and 
by performing certain audit procedures, which included 
the following:  
 
a. Bank loan assignment to the Parent Company.  We 

obtained the bank consent on the assignment of 
bank loan and the corresponding confirmation of the 
loan balance as at date of assignment.  We also 
assessed the compliance of the accounting treatment 
based on the requirements of Philippine Accounting 
Standards (PAS) 32, “Financial Instruments: 
Presentation”. 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters 

b. Increase in authorized share capital 
(Note 14 (a)) and shares subscription 
through conversion of advances from 
Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation 
(the “Parent Company”) (Notes 11 (c) and 
14 (b)) and assignment of land properties 
(Notes 8 (a), 11(c) and 14(b)).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c. Assignment of Solar Energy Service 

Contract of the Clark Solar Plant and the 
subsequent lease of the plant to the 
Parent Company (Note 11(e)).   

 
 
 
 
 
 
d. Assignment of lease contract, lease and 

sublease agreements with third parties 
(Note 20 (b)) and the subsequent 
subleases and lease contract with related 
parties (Note 11 (e)). 

 
We identified the REIT formation 
transactions as key audit matters because 
these are non-recurring, material, and 
involved complex accounting treatment.  In 
addition, the future operations of the 
Company as a REIT company are anchored 
on these formation transactions.   

b. Increase in authorized share capital and shares 
subscription through conversion of advances from 
Parent Company and assignment of land 
properties.  We inspected the amended articles of 
incorporation on the increase of authorized share 
capital and related subscription agreements, 
schedule of advances as payment for subscription to 
the increase in authorized share capital, Treasurer’s 
affidavit on approved amount for conversion, and 
deed of assignment of land properties.  We also 
verified the appropriateness and sufficiency of the 
disclosures in accordance with PAS 1, “Presentation 
of Financial Statements” and PAS 40, “Investment 
Properties”. 

 
c. Assignment of Solar Energy Service Contract of the 

Clark Solar Plant and the subsequent lease of the 
plant to the Parent Company. We reviewed the 
assignment contract, lease agreement with Parent 
Company and the corresponding government 
authority approval on the assignment. This was 
added as a disclosure in the financial statements  
because of its future impact on the financial 
statements of the Company. 

 
d. Assignment of lease contract, lease and sublease 

agreements with third parties and the subsequent 
subleases and lease contract with related parties. 
We obtained the related supporting documents 
including lease contracts and performed validation 
and recalculation of the amounts reported in the 
financial statements. We also considered the 
requirement of PFRS16, “Leases” on recognition of 
lease income, lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. 
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Other Matter 
 
The financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2019 were 
audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on  
March 16, 2020. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and 
Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The 
SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report are expected 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
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Report on the Bureau of Internal Revenue Requirement 
 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole.  The supplementary information in Note 26 to the financial statements is presented 
for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management and has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the basic financial statements.  In 
our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is 
Pocholo C. Domondon. 
 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
 
 
 
Pocholo C. Domondon 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 108839 
P.T.R. No. 0011401; issued on January 6, 2022 at Makati City 
SEC A.N. (individual) as general auditors 1567-AR-1, Category A; effective until May 27, 2022 
SEC A.N. (firm) as general auditors 0142-SEC, Category A;  
     valid to audit 2020 to 2024 financial statements 
T.I.N. 213-227-235 
BIR A.N. 08-000745-128-2021; issued on December 9, 2021; effective until December 8, 2024 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until January 21, 2023 
 
 
Makati City 
March 9, 2022 
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Statement Required by Rule 68 
Securities Regulation Code (SRC) 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
11F Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza 
276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue 
San Juan City, Metro Manila 

We have audited the financial statements of Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (formerly Enfinity 
Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) (the “Company”) as at and for the year ended  
December 31, 2021, on which we have rendered the attached report dated March 9, 2022. 

In compliance with SRC Rule 68 and based on the certification we received from the Company’s 
corporate secretary, the Company has two (2) shareholders, each owning one hundred (100) or more 
shares, as at December 31, 2021. 

Isla Lipana & Co. 

Pocholo C. Domondon 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 108839 
P.T.R. No. 0011401; issued on January 6, 2022 at Makati City 
SEC A.N. (individual) as general auditors 1567-AR-1, Category A; effective until May 27, 2022 
SEC A.N. (firm) as general auditors 0142-SEC, Category A;  
     valid to audit 2020 to 2024 financial statements 
T.I.N. 213-227-235
BIR A.N. 08-000745-128-2021; issued on December 9, 2021; effective until December 8, 2024
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until January 21, 2023

Makati City 
March 9, 2022 
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Statement Required by Rule 68 
Securities Regulation Code (SRC) 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
11F Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza 
276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue 
San Juan City, Metro Manila 
 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (formerly Enfinity 
Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) (the “Company”) as at and for the year ended  
December 31, 2021, on which we have rendered the attached report dated March 9, 2022.  The 
supplementary information shown in Schedules A, B, C, D, E, F, and G, Reconciliation of Retained 
Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration and the Map showing the relationships between and 
among the Company and its ultimate parent company, middle parent, subsidiaries or co-subsidiaries, 
and associates, as additional components required by Rule 68 of the SRC, are presented for purposes 
of filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not required parts of the basic 
financial statements.  Such supplementary information is the responsibility of management and has 
been subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements.  In our 
opinion, the supplementary information has been prepared in accordance with Rule 68 of the SRC.  
 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
 
 
 
Pocholo C. Domondon 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 108839 
P.T.R. No. 0011401; issued on January 6, 2022 at Makati City 
SEC A.N. (individual) as general auditors 1567-AR-1, Category A; effective until May 27, 2022 
SEC A.N. (firm) as general auditors 0142-SEC, Category A;  
     valid to audit 2020 to 2024 financial statements 
T.I.N. 213-227-235 
BIR A.N. 08-000745-128-2021; issued on December 9, 2021; effective until December 8, 2024 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until January 21, 2023 
 
 
Makati City 
March 9, 2022 
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Statement Required by Rule 68 
Securities Regulation Code (SRC) 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
11F Rockwell Santolan Town Plaza 
276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue 
San Juan City, Metro Manila 
 
 
 
We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing the financial statements of 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) (the 
“Company”) as at and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and have issued our report 
thereon dated March 9, 2022.  Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the 
basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness 
Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculations, and their appropriateness or usefulness 
to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  These financial 
soundness indicators are not measures of operating performance defined by Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS) and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by 
other companies.  This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with the revised Rule 68 of 
the SRC issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.  The components of these financial 
soundness indicators have been traced to the Company’s financial statements as at and for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and no material exceptions were noted. 
 
 
Isla Lipana & Co. 
 
 
 
 
Pocholo C. Domondon 
Partner 
CPA Cert. No. 108839 
P.T.R. No. 0011401; issued on January 6, 2022 at Makati City 
SEC A.N. (individual) as general auditors 1567-AR-1, Category A; effective until May 27, 2022 
SEC A.N. (firm) as general auditors 0142-SEC, Category A;  
     valid to audit 2020 to 2024 financial statements 
T.I.N. 213-227-235 
BIR A.N. 08-000745-128-2021; issued on December 9, 2021; effective until December 8, 2024 
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until January 21, 2023 
 
 
Makati City 
March 9, 2022 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
Statements of Financial Position 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 

 

A S S E T S 

 

Current assets    

 Cash and cash equivalents 3 49,014,348 71,737,473 

 Trade and other receivables, net 4 41,892,701  258,905,233 

 Prepayments and other current assets 5 54,208,397 11,601,430 

  Total current assets  145,115,446 342,244,136 

Non-current assets    

 Trade and other receivables, net of current portion 4 85,982,098 - 

 Property, plant and equipment, net 6 1,331,185,212 1,390,337,430 

 Investment properties, net 8 288,013,130 - 

 Right-of-use assets, net 20 37,559,128 39,685,116 

 Deferred income tax assets, net 19  8,200,316 - 

 Other non-current assets 7 12,765,682 8,975,048 

  Total non-current assets  1,763,705,566 1,438,997,594 

Total assets  1,908,821,012  1,781,241,730 

    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current liabilities    

 Trade payables and other liabilities 9 51,397,336 125,610,375 

 Due to a related party 11 56,144,929  - 

 Loans payable 10 - 126,446,281 

 Lease liabilities 20 1,263,480 294,139 

  Total current liabilities  108,805,745 252,350,795 

Non-current liabilities    

 Loans payable, net of current portion 10 - 909,809,551 

 Lease liabilities, net of current portion 20 103,132,719 51,060,996 

Due to a related party, net of current portion 11 68,521,747 - 

 Retirement benefit obligation 13 314,672 2,915,664 

  Total non-current liabilities  171,969,138 963,786,211 

  Total liabilities  280,774,883 1,216,137,006 

Equity    

 Share capital 14 1,374,545,501 539,999,999 

 Additional paid-in-capital 14 2,465,066 - 

 Remeasurement on retirement benefits 13 50,894 - 

 Retained earnings  250,984,668 25,104,725 

  Total equity  1,628,046,129 565,104,724 

Total liabilities and equity  1,908,821,012 1,781,241,730 

 
The notes on pages 1 to 50 are integral part of these financial statements.



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
Statements of Total Comprehensive Income 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019) 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Sale of electricity 15 334,519,230 269,076,808 248,010,727 

Rental income 11, 15 17,773,892 - - 

Revenues  352,293,122 269,076,808 248,010,727 

Cost of services 16  (74,207,762) (94,623,573) (98,375,976) 

Gross profit  278,085,360 174,453,235 149,634,751 

Operating expenses 17  (56,972,789) (7,987,959) (3,386,831) 

Income from operations  221,112,571 166,465,276 146,247,920 

Finance costs 18 (29,438,870) (64,054,226) (68,727,061) 

Other income, net 18 26,005,926 1,703,762 2,050,084 

Income before income tax  217,679,627 104,114,812 79,570,943 

Income tax benefit 19  8,200,316 - - 

Net income for the year  225,879,943 104,114,812 79,570,943 

Other comprehensive income      

Other comprehensive income that will not be 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss     

Remeasurement gain on retirement benefits,  

   net of tax 13 50,894 - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  225,930,837 104,114,812 79,570,943 

Earnings per share     

   Basic and diluted  21 0.08 0.04 0.03 

 

The notes on pages 1 to 50 are integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of Changes in Equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019) 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 

Common 
 shares 

 (Note 14) 

Preference 
 shares 

(Note 14) 

Total 
share capital 

 (Note 14) 
Additional paid-

in-capital 

Remeasurement 
 on retirement 

 benefits 
 (Note 13) 

Retained 
 earnings 
 (Deficit) Total 

Balances at January 1, 2019 72,860,309 467,139,690 539,999,999 - - (158,581,030) 381,418,969 

Comprehensive income        

 Net income for the year - - - - - 79,570,943 79,570,943 

 Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - - 

 Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 79,570,943 79,570,943 

Balances at December 31, 2019 72,860,309 467,139,690 539,999,999 - - (79,010,087) 460,989,912 

Comprehensive income        

 Net income for the year - - - - - 104,114,812 104,114,812 

 Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - - 

 Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 104,114,812 104,114,812 

Balances at December 31, 2020 72,860,309 467,139,690 539,999,999 - - 25,104,725 565,104,724 

Comprehensive income        

 Net income for the year - - - - - 225,879,943  225,879,943 

 Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 50,894 - 50,894 

 Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 50,894 225,879,943 225,930,837 

Transactions with owners        

 Reclassification of preference shares to 
common shares 467,139,690 (467,139,690) - - - - - 

Issuance of shares 834,545,502 - 834,545,502 2,465,066 - - 837,010,568 

 1,301,685,192 (467,139,690) 834,545,502 2,465,066 - - 837,010,568 

Balances at December 31, 2021 1,374,545,501 - 1,374,545,501 2,465,066 50,894 250,984,668 1,628,046,129 

 
The notes on pages 1 to 50 are integral part of these financial statements. 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019) 

(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities     

 Income before income tax   217,679,627 104,114,812 79,570,943 

 Adjustments for:     

  Depreciation and amortization 6, 20 61,751,372 61,285,334 61,270,709 

  Finance costs 18 29,438,870   64,054,226 68,727,061 

  Unrealized foreign exchange losses, net 22 55,318 11,175 60,375 

  Reversal of provision for asset  

     retirement obligation 12 - (1,056,902) - 

  Provision for doubtful account of  

     other receivable 4 - 1,944,096 - 

  Interest income 3, 4, 18 (277,078) (662,181) (2,110,459) 

Retirement benefit (income) expense 13 (2,550,098) 2,915,664 - 

Gain on compromise settlement of due to 

   government agencies 9, 18 (25,200,913) - - 

 Operating income before working capital  

  changes  280,897,098 232,606,224  207,518,629  

 Changes in working capital:     

  Trade and other receivables  (166,432,084) (132,219,223) (65,175,700) 

  Prepayments and other current assets  (6,942,596) (158,182) 1,126,048 

  Other non-current assets  (3,790,634) (306,840) (308,357) 

  Trade payables and other liabilities  (17,741,987) 19,004,500   5,179,618 

 Net cash generated from operations  85,989,797 118,926,479  148,340,238 

 Interest received  277,078 662,181 2,110,459 

 Net cash provided by operating activities  86,266,875 119,588,660 150,450,697 

Cash flows from an investing activity     

 Additions to property, plant and equipment 6 - - (175,500) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

 Principal payment of lease liabilities 20 (955,048) (87,598) (235,236) 

 Interest payment on lease liabilities 20 (4,464,960) (4,026,048) (3,686,845) 

 Principal payment of loans from a bank 10 (31,611,570) (61,363,636) (122,727,273) 

 Interest payment on loans from a bank 10 (36,940,830) (29,438,488) (63,355,700) 

Payment of share issuance costs 5 (35,017,592) - - 

 Net cash used in financing activities  (108,990,000)  (94,915,770) (190,005,054) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 

 equivalents  (22,723,125) 24,672,890 (39,729,857) 

Effects of exchange rate changes in cash and cash 
equivalents  - - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  71,737,473 47,064,583 86,794,440 

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 3 49,014,348 71,737,473 47,064,583 

 
The notes on pages 1 to 50 are integral part of these financial statements.



 

 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
(With comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019) 
(All amounts are shown in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated) 
 
 
Note 1 - General information 
 
(a) Corporate information 
 
Citicore Energy REIT Corp. (formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) (the “Company”) 
was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on July 15, 2010.  
 
Prior to May 25, 2021, the Company’s primary objective is to explore, develop and utilize renewable 
resources with particular focus on solar and wind energy generation; to design, construct, erect, 
assemble, commission and operate power-generating plants and related facilities for the conversion of 
renewable energy into usable form fit for electricity generation and distribution; and to perform other 
ancillary and incidental activities as may be provided by and under contract with the Government of the 
Republic of the Philippines, or any subdivision, instrumentality or agency thereof, or any government-
owned and controlled corporation, or other entity engaged in the development, supply and distribution 
of renewable energy.   
 
The amended primary purpose of the Company is to engage in the business of owning income-generating 
real estate assets, including renewable energy generating real estate assets, under a real estate 
investment trust (REIT) by virtue of Republic Act (RA) No. 9856, otherwise known as the “Real Estate 
Investment Trust Act of 2009” and its implementing rules and regulations.  
 
The Company was registered with the Philippine Board of Investments (BOI) on October 16, 2015 as a 
renewable energy developer of solar energy resources under RA No. 9513, otherwise known as the 
“Renewable Energy Act of 2008”.   
 
Prior to October 12, 2021, CREC (the “Parent Company”) owns 100% of the Company in 2019 and 2020.  
 
The Company’s 22.33-megawatt (MW) Clark Solar Power Project in Clark, Freeport Zone, Pampanga was 
successfully commissioned on March 12, 2016 through the confirmation of the Department of Energy 
(DOE) covering its Solar Energy Service Contract (SESC) No. 2014-07-086 and Amended Certificate of 
Commerciality No. SCC-2015-03-014-B with validity of 25 years. On October 13, 2021, the Company 
assigned the SESC to the Parent Company, making the latter the operator of the Clark Solar Power Plant.  
The assignment was approved by the DOE on December 24, 2021.   
 
The Company’s ultimate parent company beginning May 17, 2018 is Citicore Holdings Investment, Inc., a 
company incorporated in the Philippines as a holding company engaged in buying and holding shares of 
other companies. 
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On May 25, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) and shareholder approved, among others, the 
following amendments to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation (AOI): (i) change of corporate name 
from Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc. to Citicore Energy REIT Corp.; (ii) amendment 
of the primary purpose to that of a real estate investment trust; (iii) change of principal office address 
from Prince Balagtas Avenue Extension, Clark Freeport Zone, Pampanga to 11F, Rockwell Santolan Town 
Plaza, 276 Col. Bonny Serrano Avenue, San Juan City, Metro Manila; and (iv) increase of authorized 
share capital to P3.84 billion divided into 15.36 billion common shares with par value of P0.25 per share.  
 
On May 26, 2021, as part of the increase in authorized share capital, the Parent Company subscribed to 
2,400,000,000 shares as consideration for the assignment by Parent Company of its advances to the 
Company amounting to P602,465,066. In addition, Parent Company and Citicore Solar Tarlac 1, Inc. 
(CST1) (formerly nv vogt Philippine Solar Energy Three, Inc.) subscribed to 19,461,142 shares and 
918,720,864 shares, respectively, or a total of 938,182,006 shares, as consideration for the assignment of 
parcels of land, with an aggregate area of 138,164 sq.m., located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac (Note 14).  
 
The Company’s submission to the SEC for the foregoing amendments was approved on October 12, 2021. 
 
Upon issuance of the shares during 2021, the Company’s shareholding structure was 16.7% and 83.3% 
owned by CST1 and Parent Company, respectively.   
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Company has two (2) shareholders, each owning one hundred (100) or 
more shares. 
 
On November 4, 2021, the Company’s BOD and shareholders approved, among others, to amend its AOI 
and delete one of the secondary purposes reflected in the amended AOI as approved by BOD on  
May 25, 2021 as follows: “to invest in or otherwise engage in the exploitation, development, and 
utilization of renewable energy resources with particular focus on solar and wind energy generation; to 
design, construct, erect, assemble, commission and operate power-generating plants and related facilities 
for the conversion of renewable energy into usable form fit for electricity generation and distribution; 
and to perform other ancillary and incidental activities as may be provided by and under contract with 
the Government of the Republic of the Philippines, or any subdivision, instrumentality or agency thereof, 
or any government-owned and controlled corporation, or other entity engaged in the development, 
supply and distribution of renewable energy”.  The Company’s submission to the SEC for the foregoing 
amendment was approved on November 17, 2021. 
 
On January 14, 2022 and February 2, 2022, the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”) issued notice of 
acceptance and the Philippine SEC issued permit to sell, respectively, in relation to the Company’s 
application for initial public offering.  The Company attained its status as “public company” on  
February 22, 2022 when it listed its shares as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) in the main board of 
the PSE.  As a public company, it is covered by the Securities Regulation Code (“SRC”) Rule 68.  
 
(b) Approval and authorization for the issuance of financial statements 
 
These financial statements have been approved and authorized for issuance by the Company’s BOD on 
March 9, 2022.  
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Note 2 - Segment reporting 
 
The Company’s operating businesses are organized and managed according to the nature of the products 
and services that are being marketed.  Each segment represents a strategic business unit that offers 
different products and serves different markets.  The Company has operations only in the Philippines.  
 
The Company derives revenues from two (2) main segments as follows: 
 
(a) Sale of solar energy 
 
This business segment pertains to the generation of electricity from solar power energy through its Clark 
Solar Power Project.  Transco is the Company’s sole customer for its sale of solar energy. As a result of 
assignment of Solar Energy Service Contract of the Clark Solar Plant to its Parent Company, the sale of 
solar energy business was terminated with the approval of the DOE.  On December 24, 2021, the DOE 
approved the assignment effective December 25, 2021 (Note 15). 
 
(b) Leasing 
 
This business segment pertains to the rental operations of the Company with related parties which 
commenced in November 2021 (Note 15). 
 
During 2020, the Company only had one (1) operating segment, the sale of solar energy.  All the amounts 
reported in the financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 are 
attributable to this segment.   
 
The segment assets, liabilities and results of operations of the reportable segments of the Company as at 
and for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  
 

Leasing 
Sale of solar  

energy 
 

Total 

Revenue 17,773,892 334,519,230 352,293,122 
Cost of services (806,147) (73,401,615) (74,207,762) 

Gross profit 16,967,745 261,117,615 278,085,360 
Operating expense (47,238,419) (9,734,370) (56,972,789) 
Finance costs (453,855) (28,985,015) (29,438,870) 
Other income, net - 26,005,926 26,005,926 

Income (loss) before income tax (30,724,529) 248,404,156 217,679,627 
Income tax benefit (expense) 16,597,226 (8,396,910) 8,200,316 

Net income for the year (14,127,303) 240,007,246 225,879,943 

Segment assets    
Current 35,664,371 109,451,075 145,115,446 
Non-current 307,067,354 1,465,035,122 1,772,102,476 

 342,731,725 1,574,486,197 1,917,217,922 

Segment liabilities    
Current 940,077 107,865,668 108,805,745 
Non-current 52,699,238 127,666,810 180,366,048 

 53,639,315 235,532,478 289,171,793 

 
All revenues of the Company are from domestic entities incorporated in the Philippines, hence, the 
Company did not present geographical information required by Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS) 8, “Operating Segments”. 
 
Difference in total assets and total liabilities under segment reporting and in the statements of financial 
position pertains to the deferred income tax asset of leasing segment and deferred tax liability of sale of 
solar energy amounting to P16,597,226 and P8,396,910, respectively, which were presented as deferred 
income tax assets, net amounting to P8,200,316 in the statements of financial position (Note 19). 
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Note 3 - Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 consist of: 
 

   2021 2020 

Cash on hand 65,000 35,000 
Cash in banks 10,783,402 12,763,953 
Short-term placements 38,165,946 58,938,520 

  49,014,348 71,737,473 
 

Cash in banks earn interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates.  Short-term placements represent money 
market placements or short-term investments with maturities up to three (3) months and annual interest 
ranging from 0.087% to 1.00% (2020 - 1.23% to 1.85%).   
 

Interest income earned from cash in banks and short-term placements for the years ended December 31 
are as follows: 
 

 Note 2021 2020 2019 

Interest income 18 246,942 662,181 2,075,226 

 

Note 4 - Trade and other receivables, net 
 

Trade and other receivables, net as at December 31 consist of: 
 

 Note 2021 2020 

Current    
   Trade receivables from TransCo  41,892,701 41,996,272 
   Due from related parties 11 - 216,908,961 

   Other receivable  1,944,096 1,944,096 
   Allowance for doubtful account of other receivable  (1,944,096) (1,944,096) 

  - - 

  41,892,701 258,905,233 

Non-current    
   Trade     
      Receivables from TransCo  83,525,100 - 
      Lease receivables 11 2,456,998 - 

  85,982,098 - 

 

Trade receivables are generally collectible within a 60-day period.  In accordance with the Renewable 
Energy Payment Agreement (REPA), in the event that National Transmission Corporation (TransCo) 
fails to pay any amount stated in the feed-in tariff (FIT) statement of account upon the lapse of one 
billing period from the relevant payment date, TransCo shall pay to the Company such unpaid amount 
plus interest thereon, calculated from the relevant payment date to the day such amount is actually paid.  
Interest rate is the rate prevailing for a 91-day treasury bill plus 3%.   
 
Details of interest income arising from late payments of TransCo are as follows: 
 

 Note 2021 2020 2019 

Interest income 18 30,136 - 35,233 
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Details of trade receivables from TransCo as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 
 Current Non-current Total 

2021     
Trade receivables  41,904,520 96,255,187 138,159,707 
Discount on receivables  (11,819) (12,730,087) (12,741,906) 

  41,892,701 83,525,100 125,417,801 

2020     
Trade receivables  41,996,272 - 41,996,272 
Discount on receivables  - - - 

  41,996,272 - 41,996,272 

 
During 2020, the ERC issue Resolution No. 06, Series of 2020, which was further clarified in  
February 2021, to confirm that the actual recovery of the arrears FIT rate adjustment shall be for a period 
of 5 years whereas those from January 2016 generation shall start billing in December 2020 and 
payment schedule starts in January 2021.  During 2021, a reversal was made amounting to P4.85 million 
for the November and December 2020 billings where TransCo confirmed that the FIT rate adjustments 
will be collected beginning December 2021.  This was offset with the additional revenue recognized 
during December 2021 amounting to P83.53 million to be recovered within the next 5 years after 
December 31, 2021 (Note 15).  Discount on trade receivables from TransCo arising from this amounted to 
P12.74 million as at December 31, 2021. 
 

There were no transactions that would warrant recognition of discount on trade receivables as at and for 
the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
Lease receivables pertain to accrued rent resulting from the straight-line method of recognizing rental 
income.   
 
Other receivable pertains to a refund for overpaid insurance.  During 2020, the Company provided an 
allowance for doubtful accounts for this receivable amounting to P1.94 million due to the changes in its 
credit quality.  The provision was recognized as part of operating expenses in the statements of total 
comprehensive income (Note 17). 
 
The Company does not hold any collateral as security.  Management believes that an allowance for 
doubtful accounts as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, except for other receivable which has been fully 
provided for, is not necessary since these account balances are deemed fully collectible.  Trade 
receivables are all current in nature and all previous billings were collected in full. 
 
None of the trade and other receivables that are fully performing have been renegotiated. 
 
Note 5 - Prepayments and other current assets 
 
Prepayments and other current assets as at December 31 consist of: 

 

   2021 2020 

Deferred share issuance costs 35,664,371 - 
Input value-added tax (VAT) 12,081,806 9,435,619 
Advances to suppliers 5,094,408 481,558 
Prepaid taxes 906,900 1,430,404 
Advances to employees 448,662 217,509 
Others 12,250 36,340 

 54,208,397 11,601,430 

 
Deferred share issuance costs pertain to expenses incurred relative to the listing and offering of the 
Company’s shares to the public. 
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Input VAT represents VAT on purchases of goods and services which can be recovered either as tax credit 
against future output VAT or through refund.   
 
Advances to suppliers represent prepayment of supplies or services which will be delivered or rendered 
within the next 12 months.  
 
Prepaid taxes include overpayment of withholding taxes and income taxes. 
 
Advances to employees represent unliquidated cash advances to employees for business related purposes 
and are to be liquidated from completion of the activity. 

 
Note 6 - Property, plant and equipment, net 
 
Details and movements of property, plant and equipment, net as at and for the years ended December 31 
are as follows: 

 
 

Solar plant 
and equipment 

Substation and 
 transmission 

 lines 
Computer 

 equipment 
Service 
 vehicle Total 

Cost      
 January 1, 2020, December 31,  
  2020 and 2021 

 
1,664,296,964 

 
44,477,618 

 
40,000 

 
135,500 

 
1,708,950,082 

Accumulated depreciation      
 January 1, 2020 250,999,718 8,427,780 10,000 15,808 259,453,306 
 Depreciation 55,914,483 3,204,430 13,333 27,100 59,159,346 

 December 31, 2020 306,914,201 11,632,210 23,333 42,908 318,612,652 
 Depreciation 55,906,693  3,205,091 13,334 27,100 59,152,218 

 December 31, 2021 362,820,894 14,837,301 36,667 70,008 377,764,870 

Net book values      
 December 31, 2021 1,301,476,070 29,640,317 3,333 65,492 1,331,185,212 
 December 31, 2020 1,357,382,763 32,845,408 16,667 92,592 1,390,337,430 

 
The Clark Solar Power Project was funded through a Term Loan Facility Agreement with Development 
Bank of the Philippines (DBP).  The solar plant and equipment include capitalized borrowing costs 
amounting to P13.69 million.  The Company’s solar plant and equipment is pledged as collateral under 
the chattel mortgage agreement entered into in relation to this agreement.  On May 4, 2021, the Parent 
Company assumed the Company’s outstanding loan with DBP.  As a result, the chattel mortgage 
agreement was rescinded by DBP on November 3, 2021. 
 
There were no additions for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.  
 
Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31 are recognized as follows: 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Cost of services 16 59,111,784 59,118,913 59,118,913 
Operating expenses 17 40,434 40,433 25,808 

  59,152,218  59,159,346 59,144,721 

 
In 2019, management assessed, based on internal evaluations, that they will be able to utilize the solar 
plant and equipment for up to 30 years and substation and transmission lines for up to 15 years from the 
start of commercial operation which is also aligned with industry practice.  As such, the BOD approved 
the change in estimated useful life of solar plant and equipment from 23 years to 30 years and substation 
and transmission lines from 23 years to 15 years.   
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The change in estimated useful life is considered to be a change in accounting estimate accounted for 
prospectively by recognizing the effect of the change in the period of change and future periods until the 
end of the useful life.  The net effect of the change in useful life is decrease in depreciation expense 
annually amounting to P12.74 million starting 2019 to 2031 and P15.95 million starting 2032 to 2040 
and increase amounting to P55.91 million from 2041 to 2045. 
 
Following the approval of the DOE on the assignment of SESC No. 2014-07-086 of the Clark Solar Plant 
to its Parent Company effective December 25, 2021, the Company leased out the Clark Solar Plant to its 
Parent Company in exchange of fixed and variable lease rental (Note 11).  The Parent Company became 
the Clark Solar Plant operator.   
 
Based on the results of management assessment, the Company believes that there were no indicators of 
impairment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
Note 7 - Other non-current assets 
 
Other non-current assets as at December 31 consist of: 

 

 Note  2021  2020 

Electric utility deposits  6,580,541 6,580,541 
Security deposits 20 5,279,310 1,779,310 
Restricted cash  905,831 615,197 

  12,765,682 8,975,048 

 
Electric utility deposits represent deposits to an electric power distribution company which are to be 
refunded after the service is terminated and all bills have been paid.  Electric utility and security deposits 
will be assigned to the Parent Company in 2022 in line with the assignment of SESC.  
 
Restricted cash pertains to cash deposited in a local bank pursuant to Section 5(i) of RA No. 7638, 
otherwise known as, the “Department of Energy Act of 1992”, Energy Regulation No. 1-94.  Under the 
regulation, generation companies and/or energy resource development facilities shall set aside one 
centavo per kilowatt-hour of the total electricity sold as financial benefits to the host communities. 
 
Note 8 - Investment properties, net 
 
Details of investment properties as at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  

Freehold land 
asset 

Leasehold land 
asset Total 

Cost     
January 1  - - - 
Additions  234,545,502 53,940,794 288,486,296 

December 31  234,545,502 53,940,794 288,486,296 

Accumulated amortization     
January 1  - - - 
Amortization  - (473,166) (473,166) 

December 31  - (473,166) (473,166) 

Net book values  234,545,502 53,467,628 288,013,130 

 
  



 

(8) 

The amounts recognized in the statements of total comprehensive income for the year ended  
December 31, 2021 related to the investment properties are as follows: 

 

 Notes 
Freehold land 

asset 
Leasehold land 

asset Total 

Rental income 15 9,681,801 8,092,091 17,773,892 
Cost of services 16 - (473,166) (473,166) 
Operating expenses 17 (6,020,669) - (6,020,669) 
Finance costs 18 - (453,855) (453,855) 

Profit arising from investment properties  3,661,132 7,165,070 10,826,202 

 
(a) Freehold land asset 

 
On May 25, 2021, the Company and Parent Company, executed a deed of assignment whereas the latter 
hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys a parcel of land located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac City, Tarlac to the 
former, absolutely, and free from all liens and/or encumbrances, valued at P4,865,286 in consideration 
for the issuance of Company’s shares upon approval of the SEC of the Company’s application for the 
increase in authorized share capital.  On the same date, the Company and CST1, an entity under common 
control, executed a deed of assignment whereas the latter hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys several 
parcels of land located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac City, Tarlac to the former, absolutely, and free from all 
liens and/or encumbrances valued at P229,680,216 in consideration for the issuance of Company’s 
shares upon approval of the SEC of the Company’s application for the increase in authorized share 
capital (Note 14). These parcels of land are recognized in reference to its fair value.   
 
The actual transfer and registration of the parcels of land to the Company’s name were finalized on 
October 27, 2021. 
 
The aggregate fair value of these parcels of land as determined by an independent appraiser as at  
October 31, 2021 amounted to P687,161,000.  Management has assessed that there are no significant 
changes in the fair value of the parcels of land as at December 31, 2021 from the date of appraisal.  The 
fair value of the parcels of land was estimated by the independent appraiser using the discounted cash 
flow analysis grounded on the principle that the value of an economic entity is the present worth of the 
economic benefits it will generate in the future (i.e., economic benefits come in the form of lease of the 
solar power plant). This approach requires a forecast of the economic entity’s stream of net income based 
on lease contract. These net income or rents are then summed up and discounted back to present value  
by an appropriate discount rate, then add the terminal value of the property.  The valuation process 
consists of  estimation of the current market value of the leased property and present value of the 
unexpired contract rentals.  The discounted cash flow analysis falls under the income approach which is a 
method in which the appraiser derives an indication of value for income-producing property by 
converting anticipated future benefits into current property value.  This approach falls under Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy (Note 24.5).   
 
The fair value is sensitive to the following unobservable inputs: (1) lease income growth rate (fixed and 
variable lease) which were based on the signed lease contracts and (2) discount rate of 7.01% set using 
the weighted average cost of capital based on the average capital structure of the companies in the solar 
energy sector as of the valuation date. 
 
The current use of the parcels of land is its highest and best use. 
 
Rental income earned in relation to these parcels of land for the year ended December 31, 2021 
amounted to P9.68 million (Note 15).  Expenses incurred in relation to these parcels of land for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 amounting to P0.30 million, P3.40 million and P2.32 million pertain to 
registration fees, local transfer tax and other fees are included as part of professional fees, outside 
services and taxes and licenses, respectively, under operating expenses in the statements of total 
comprehensive income (Note 17). 
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(b) Leasehold land assets 
 
On July 26, 2021, the Company entered into a contract of sublease and contract of lease with the owners 
of parcels of land with a total aggregate area of approximately 4.8 hectares and 5.6 hectares, respectively, 
which are located in Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac.  Each land properties are covered by an existing 
lease contract with an original term from November 1, 2015 to October 31, 2040 with Citicore Solar 
Tarlac 2, Inc. (CST2) (formerly nv vogt Philippines Solar Energy Four, Inc.), an entity under common 
control.  The Company will sublease the land back to CST2.  These agreements are effective for 19 years 
commencing on November 1, 2021 until October 31, 2040 which may be extended at the option of the 
Company for another 25 years upon the acceptance by and consent of the lessor.  
  
Right-of-use assets arising from these leasing arrangements are presented under leasehold land assets. 
Land is the underlying asset to which the right-of-use asset would be grouped if this was owned by the 
Company. 
 
Rental income earned in relation to these right-of use assets for the year ended December 31, 2021 
amounted to P8.09 million (Note 15).  Expenses incurred in relation to these parcels of land for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 amounting to P0.47 million and P0.45 million is related to amortization and 
interest expense recorded as part of cost of services and finance costs, respectively. 
 
Note 9 - Trade payables and other liabilities 
 
Trade payables and other liabilities as at December 31 consist of: 

 

 Note 2021 2020 

Trade payables - third parties  16,798,407 6,794,533 

Due to government agencies  33,723,763 85,508,641 

Accrued expenses  875,166 1,390,283 

Interest payable 10 - 31,916,918 

  51,397,336 125,610,375 

 
Trade payables to third parties are normally due within a 30-day period.  
 
On May 6, 2021, the Company settled a portion of its due to government agencies with a local 
government unit amounting to P51.86 million by paying P22.17 million through compromise settlement.  
The difference of the obligation settled and the actual payment, including professional fees, amounting to 
P25.2 million was recognized as part of other income, net in the statements of total comprehensive 
income (Note 18).  The remaining balance of due to government agencies pertains to unpaid business 
taxes to a local government unit. 
 
Accrued expenses mainly include utilities, operations and maintenance expenses, which are normally 
settled the following month. 
 
Note 10 - Loans payable 
 
Details of loans payable as at December 31, 2020 consist of: 
 
Development Bank of the Philippines 

 

  Amount 

Current  126,446,281 
Non-current   909,809,551 

  1,036,255,832 
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Movements in loans payable for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 

Principal amount   
 January 1 1,043,181,818 1,104,545,454 
 Assignment of loan (1,011,570,248) - 
 Payments (31,611,570) (61,363,636) 

 December 31 - 1,043,181,818 

Debt issuance cost   
 January 1 (6,925,986) (9,289,563) 
 Amortization 6,925,986 2,363,577 

 December 31 - (6,925,986) 

 - 1,036,255,832 

 
In 2016, the Company entered into a P1.35 billion Term Loan Facility Agreement with DBP.  The facility 
was entered to finance the construction of Clark Solar Power Project.  The entire facility was drawn on 
December 9, 2016. 
 
The loan has a term of 12 years, maturing on December 8, 2028, inclusive of one (1) year grace period 
and is payable in forty-four equal quarterly installments commencing on the fifth quarter from the date 
of initial drawdown.  The Company shall pay interest at fixed rate based on the bank’s prevailing rate 
under the relevant program applied for and determined on the date of initial drawdown, subject to a floor 
rate of 5% per annum, payable quarterly commencing at the end of the first quarter from the date of 
initial drawdown and subject to adjustment by the bank at such rate as it may be determined at the end 
of fifth and tenth year of the loan. 
 
As long as the loan agreement is in effect and until the payment is full and all other amounts due under 
the agreement have been collected by the bank, the Company agrees, unless the bank otherwise consent 
in writing, that the Company will not declare or pay dividends to its shareholder, other than dividends 
payable solely in shares of its share capital, or retain, retire, purchase or otherwise acquire any class of its 
share capital, or make any other capital or other asset distribution to its shareholders.  Further, the 
Company shall maintain at all times during the entire term of the loan a debt-to-equity ratio (DER) of 
not exceeding 2:1 and current ratio and debt service coverage ratio of not less than one (1) as defined in 
the Term Loan Facility Agreement.  As at December 31, 2020, the Company has complied with these 
covenants.   
 
In March 2020, the Philippine government enacted the granting of a 30-day grace period for all loans 
with principal and/or interest falling due within the Enhanced Community Quarantine period without 
incurring interest on interest, penalties, fees and other charges pursuant to Republic Act No. 11649, also 
known as the “Bayanihan to Heal as One Act”.  The Company availed of the deferral of its principal 
payment and interest due to DBP which in result spreads the deferred principal and interest amount to 
the remaining payments to be made for the remaining term of the loan.  The impact of the deferral is not 
material hence no gain or loss on loan modification was recognized. 
 
On May 4, 2021, the Parent Company assumed the Company’s outstanding loan with DBP with principal 
balance amounting to P1.01 billion.  Consequently, the Company derecognized the loan and the 
corresponding interest payable amounting P13.02 million and recognized as part of due to a related party 
(Note 11).  No gain or loss was recognized for the loan assignment. As a result of the assignment, the 
Company became indebted to its Parent Company for the same amount.  Subsequently, the Parent 
Company used a portion of the amount reclassified as due to a related party amounting to P602.47 
million to subscribe on the Company’s common shares to be taken from the increase in authorized share 
capital (Note 14). These are considered as non-cash transactions. 
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Details of finance costs including amortization of debt issuance cost for the years ended December 31 
recognized in the statements of total comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

 Note 2021 2020 2019 

Finance costs 18   24,973,910 60,028,178   65,040,216 

 
Movements in interest payable for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 2019 

January 1 31,916,918 3,690,805 3,975,000 
Interest expense 18,047,924 57,664,601 63,071,505 
Assumed by Parent Company   (13,024,012) - - 
Interest payments   (36,940,830) (29,438,488) (63,355,700) 

December 31 - 31,916,918  3,690,805 

 
Note 11 - Related party transactions 
 
In the normal course of business, the Company transacts with companies which are considered related 
parties under Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 24, “Related Party Disclosures”. 
 
The transactions and outstanding balances of the Company as at and for the years ended December 31 
with related parties are as follows: 
 

 
Transactions 

Outstanding balance 
Receivables (Payables) 

 

 
Related parties 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 

Terms and 
conditions 

Parent Company       
Advances to  265,850,948 39,525,344 101,236,796  265,850,948 129,887,214 Refer to (a). 
Assignment of loans  
   payable 

 
(1,011,570,248) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(377,493,612) 

 
- 

Refer to (b) and 
Note 10. 

Assumed interest payable   (13,024,012) - -  (13,024,012) - See Note 10. 

    (124,666,676) 129,887,214  

Issuance of shares 607,330,352 - - - - 
Refer to (c) and 
Note 10. 

Entities under common control       

Lease income 17,773,892 - - 2,456,998 - 
Refer to (e) and 
Note 4. 

Advances to 87,021,747 87,021,747 - - 87,021,747 Refer to (a). 

Issuance of shares 229,680,216 - - - - 
Refer to (c) and 
Note 10. 

 
(a) Advances 
 
Advances to (from) related parties are made to finance working capital requirements or to assume 
receivables and payables to (from) related parties and/or third parties.  Advances to (from) related 
parties are unsecured, with no guarantee, non-interest bearing, collectible (payable) in cash both on 
demand and after more than 12 months and are expected to be collected (settled) in cash or offset with 
outstanding liability (receivable).  As at December 31, 2021, the Parent Company and the Company 
agreed to offset all related party receivables and payables resulting in a net payable to the Parent 
Company amounting to P124.67 million. These are considered as non-cash transactions. 
 
The offset amounts as at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

  Amount 

Receivables   265,850,948 
Payables  (390,517,624) 

  (124,666,676)  
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There was no offsetting as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020.  
 
Details of net payable to the Parent Company as at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

  Amount 

Current   56,144,929 
Non-current   68,521,747 

  124,666,676 

 
In December 2021, the Company and the Parent Company agreed that portion of the net payable 
amounting to P56.14 million is to be settled in cash upon demand by the Parent Company while the 
remaining balance of P68.52 million is to be settled in cash after more than 12 months from  
December 31, 2021.  These are non-interest bearing and not covered by guarantees or collaterals.  
 
(b) Loan assignment 

 
The loan assignment was recognized as part of due to a related party.  Details and movement of due to a 
related party pertaining to the loan assignment for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

   Notes Amount 

Assignment of loan   10 1,011,570,248 
Cash settlement   10 (31,611,570) 
Subscription of shares   11 (c) (602,465,066) 

Ending amount subsequently classified as advances    377,493,612 

 
(c) Shares subscriptions 
 
Details of additional shares subscriptions for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 
Conversion of 

 advances 
Land properties 

exchange Total 

Parent Company 8, 14 602,465,066 4,865,286 607,330,352 
CST1 8, 14 - 229,680,216 229,680,216 

  602,465,066 234,545,502 837,010,568 

 
(d) Key management compensation 
 
Except for the directors’ fees that the Company pays to each of the independent directors, there are no 
other arrangements for the payment of compensation or remuneration to the directors of the Company 
in their capacity as such.  Directors’ fees during the year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to  
P0.84 million (December 31, 2020 and 2019 - nil) (Note 17).  
 
The Company’s management functions are being handled by the Parent Company and another related 
party at no cost.  No other short-term or long-term compensation was paid to key management 
personnel for the years ended  December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
(e) Lease agreements 
 
During 2021, the Company entered into various lease contracts, as a lessor, with related parties as 
follows: 
 

• Sublease agreement of below land properties to related parties: 
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac with Citicore Solar Tarlac 2, Inc.  
(CST2) (formerly nv vogt Philippines Solar Energy Four, Inc.)  
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The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on November 1, 2021 with the Company’s 
right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes in 
circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee vis-a-vis the 
three-year historical plant generation and market prices.  The Company recognized lease income 
related to this property for the year ended December 31, 2021 amounting to P8.09 million  
(Note 15). 
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Rizal, Silay City, Negros Occidental with Citicore Solar Negros 
Occidental, Inc. (CSNO) (formerly Silay Solar Power, Inc.)  

 
The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on January 1, 2022 with the Company’s right 
to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes in circumstances 
either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee vis-a-vis the three-year 
historical plant generation and market prices.  
 

o Land property located in Brgy. Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu with Citicore Solar Cebu, Inc. (CSCI) 
(formerly First Toledo Solar Energy Corp.)  
 
The agreement is effective for 19 years commencing on January 1, 2022 with the Company’s right 
to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes in circumstances 
either economic conditions or actual performance of the sublessee vis-a-vis the three-year 
historical plant generation and market prices.   
 

• Lease contract of the land property located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac City, Tarlac with CST1 
 
 The agreement is effective for 25 years commencing on November 1, 2021 until October 31, 2046 

with the Company’s right to reevaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider 
changes in circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the lessee vis-a-vis 
the three-year historical plant generation and market prices. The Company recognized lease 
income related to this property for the year ended December 31, 2021 amounting to P9.68 million 
(Note 15). 
 

• Assignment of Solar Energy Service Contract of the Clark Solar Plant and the subsequent lease of the 
plant to the Parent Company 

 
On October 13, 2021, the Company assigned SESC No. 2014-07-086 of the Clark Solar Plant to its 
Parent Company, thereby establishing the Parent Company as the operator of such plant.  On the 
same date, the Company, as a lessor, and its Parent Company, as lessee, executed a lease contract 
for latter’s use of the Clark Solar Plant in line with the assignment of SESC.  The assignment was 
approved by the DOE on December 25, 2021 (Note 2).  The lease agreement is effective for almost  
18 years commencing on November 1, 2021 and ending on September 3, 2039 with the 
Company’s right to re-evaluate the lease payments at the end of the 10th year to consider changes 
in circumstances either economic conditions or actual performance of the Parent Company vis-a-
vis the three-year historical plant generation and market prices.  No rental income was 
recognized from this lease agreement during 2021 considering that the DOE only approved the 
assignment on December 24, 2021 effective December 25, 2021. Hence, commencement date of 
the contract was moved to January 1, 2022. 

 
In addition, subject also to the Company’s right over the leasehold properties, the Company and 
related party-lessees can continue and may further extend the lease period in a way that is 
beneficial to both parties.  The monthly lease payment for the lease agreements above is 
equivalent to the sum of fixed and variable lease rates. 
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The lease agreements commencing January 1, 2022 will result in the recognition of rental income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term in the statements of total comprehensive income as these lease 
agreements are classified as operating leases and corresponding lease receivables under trade and other 
receivables in the statements of financial position, if any.   

 
(f) Memorandum of agreement for future sale transaction 
 
The Company entered into a memorandum of agreement with Citicore Solar South Cotabato, Inc. 
(CSSCI) (formerly nv vogt Philippine Solar Energy One, Inc.) and Citicore Solar Bulacan, Inc. (CSBI) 
(formerly Bulacan Solar Energy Corporation), entities under common control, for the future sale of land 
properties owned by CSSCI and CSBI to the Company. 
 
This will result in the recognition of investment properties in the statements of financial position for the 
land properties that will be acquired. 
 
(g) Memorandum of agreement for future lease agreement 
 
The Company entered into a memorandum of agreement with CSSCI and CSBI for the subsequent lease 
of land properties owned by CSSCI and CSBI to the Company. 
 
This will result in the recognition of rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term for the 
leaseback to the related parties.  These will be classified as operating leases in the statements of total 
comprehensive income and corresponding lease receivables under trade and other receivables in the 
statements of financial position, if any, upon the consummation of the agreement. 
 
(h) Property management fee 
 
On August 9, 2021 the Company entered into a property management agreement with Citicore Property 
Managers, Inc. (CPMI) for property management services of the Company. CPMI will receive a 
management fee based on certain percentage of the Company’s guaranteed base lease.  Payment in cash 
is due and payable 10 days from receipt of billing statement.  
 
(i) Fund management fee 
 
On July 26, 2021, the Company entered into a fund management agreement with Citicore Fund 
Managers, Inc. (CFMI) for the fund management services of the Company. CFMI will receive a 
management fee equivalent to a certain percentage of the Company’s guaranteed base lease, plus a 
certain percentage of the acquisition price for every acquisition made by it on behalf of the Company, 
plus a certain percentage of the sales price for every property divested by it on behalf of the Company. 
Payment in cash is due and payable 10 days from receipt of billing statement. 
 
Property management and fund management agreement shall commence in 2022 aligned with the date 
of Company’s listing to PSE. 
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On July 26, 2021, the BOD approved the Company’s material related party transaction policy to adhere 
with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10, Series of 2019 which include: the identification of related 
parties, coverage of material related party transactions, adjusted thresholds, identification and 
prevention or management of potential or actual conflicts of interests arising out of or in connection with 
the material related party transactions, guidelines in ensuring arm’s length terms, approval of material 
related party transactions, self-assessment and periodic review of policy, disclosure requirements, 
whistleblowing mechanisms, and remedies for abusive material related party transactions.  The BOD, 
with the assistance of the Related Party Transaction Review and Compliance Committee (“RPTRCC”), 
shall oversee, review, and approve all related party transactions to ensure that these are conducted in the 
regular course of business and on an arm’s length basis and not undertaken on more favorable economic 
terms to the related parties than with non-related or independent parties under similar circumstances.  
The RPTRCC shall be granted the sole authority to review related party transactions.  Those falling 
within the materiality thresholds set by the Company’s BOD shall require the approval of the Chief 
Executive Officer and/or President or the BOD, as the case may be.   
 
Note 12 - Other non-current liability 
 
Other non-current liability consists of provision for asset retirement obligation amounting to  
P1.06 million which pertains to the restoration costs of the leased land to its original condition upon the 
termination of the lease agreement.  In 2020, the Company reversed the full amount of the provision as 
management assessed that this is no longer expected to be settled or incurred upon termination of the 
lease agreement. 
 
Note 13 - Retirement benefits 
 
The Company provides for the estimated retirement benefits based on the requirements of RA No. 7641, 
otherwise known as the “Retirement Pay Law”.  Under the Retirement Pay Law, the retirement benefit 
obligation is computed as one-half of monthly salary for every year of service, a fraction of six months 
being considered as one whole year.  The term one-half of monthly salary shall mean 15 days plus the 
one-twelfth of the 13th month, and the cash equivalent of not more than five days service incentive 
leaves. 
 
The retirement benefit obligation is determined using the “Projected Unit Credit” (PUC) method.  Under 
the PUC method, the annual normal cost for the portion of the retirement is determined as the amount 
necessary to provide for the portion of the retirement benefit accruing during the year.  The latest 
actuarial valuation was sought from an independent actuary last June 30, 2021. Management has 
assessed that there are no significant changes in the data and assumptions used in computing the present 
value of defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2021 from the date of actuarial valuation. 
 
The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statement of financial position as at  
December 31, 2021 amounted to P314,672 (2020 - P2,915,664). 
 
The movements in present value of defined benefit obligation for the years ended December 31 are as 
follows: 

 

  2021 2020 

January 1  2,915,664 - 
Current service cost  203,989 2,915,664 
Interest cost  3,308 - 
Reversal of retirement benefit obligation   (2,757,395) - 
Remeasurement gain arising from:    
 Changes in financial assumptions  (44,744) - 
 Deviations of experience from assumptions  (6,150) - 

December 31  314,672 2,915,664 
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Reversal of retirement benefit obligation relates to changes in expected retirement benefits to be paid by 
the Company to employees.  This is recognized directly in profit or loss as part of retirement benefit 
(income) expense.   
 
The components of retirement benefit (income) expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Note 2021 2020 

Current service cost  203,989 2,915,664 
Interest cost  3,308 - 
Reversal of retirement benefit obligation   (2,757,395) - 

 16 (2,550,098) 2,915,664 
 

The movements in remeasurement on retirement benefits for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as 
follows: 

 

  Amount 

January 1  - 
Remeasurement   
 Changes in financial assumptions  (44,744) 
 Experience adjustment  (6,150) 

December 31  (50,894) 

 
Remeasurements during 2020 is not material due to insignificant changes in financial and demographic 
assumptions and experience adjustments, hence, not recognized.   
 
The principal assumptions used  are as follows: 

 

  2021 2020 

Discount rate  5.34% 4.07% 
Salary increase rate  5.00% 5.00% 

 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is measured in terms of actuarial assumptions such as 
discount rate, salary increases and expected retirement age.  The resulting amount was discounted based 
on the spot yield curve calculated from the Bankers Association of the Philippines (BAP) PHP Bloomberg 
BVAL Reference Rates (BVAL) benchmark reference curve for the government securities market 
(previously the PDEx (PDST-R2) market yields on benchmark government bonds) by stripping the 
coupons from government bonds to create virtual zero-coupon bonds.  Salary increase rate was also 
considered which comprise of the general inflationary increase plus a further increase for individual 
productivity, merit and promotion.  The salary increase rate is set by reference over the period over 
which benefits are expected to be paid.   
 
The Company does not expect to create a fund in the next reporting period. 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2021 is 17.8 years 
(2020 - 18.3 years). 
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The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each significant 
assumption on the defined benefit obligation, with all other assumptions held constant. 
 

  Change in 
Impact on defined benefit 

obligation 

   assumption Increase Decrease 

December 31, 2021     
Discount rate  +/-1.00%  (0.03 million) 0.04 million 
Salary increase rate  +/-1.00%  0.04 million  (0.03 million) 

December 31, 2020     
Discount rate  +/-1.00%  (1.02 million) 0.01 million 
Salary increase rate  +/-1.00% 0.69 million  (0.56 million) 

 

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted retirement benefits as at December 31 are as follows: 

  2021 2020 

One year to five years  81,802 1,590,324 
More than five years to ten years  214,170   4,159,676 

  295,972 5,750,000 

 
Note 14 - Share capital 
 
The Company’s share capital as at December 31 consists of: 

 

 2021 2020 

 
Number of 

shares Amount 
Number of 

shares Amount 

Authorized share capital     
 Common shares - P0.25 par value 15,360,000,000 3,840,000,000 - - 
 Common class A - P1 par value - - 7,291,011 7,291,011 
 Common class B - P13.5 par value - - 4,856,985 65,569,298 

 Redeemable preference shares A -  
   P27 par value - - 1,729,922 46,707,894 

 Redeemable preference shares B -  
      P364.5 par value - - 1,153,448 420,431,796 

 15,360,000,000 3,840,000,000 15,031,366 539,999,999 

Issued and outstanding     
 Common shares - P0.25 par value 5,498,182,004 1,374,545,501 - - 

 Common class A - P1 par value - - 7,291,011 7,291,011 
 Common class B - P13.5 par value - - 4,856,985 65,569,298 

Redeemable preference shares A -  
  P27 par value - - 1,729,922 46,707,894 
Redeemable preference shares B -  
  P364.5 par value - - 1,153,448 420,431,796 

 5,498,182,004 1,374,545,501 15,031,366 539,999,999 
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The changes in the number of shares for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 Common 
Common 

class A 
Common 

class B 
Preference 

A 
Preference 

B 
Common 

class A 
Common 

class B 
Preference 

A 
Preference 

B 
Par value P0.25 P1 P13.5 P27 P364.5 P1 P13.5 P27 P364.5 

Authorized share capital          
January 1 - 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 
Reclassification  to one class common shares (a) 13,877,918 (7,291,011) (4,856,985) (1,729,922) (1,153,448) - - - - 
Change in par value and increase in authorized 

share capital (a) 2,146,122,076 - - - - - - - - 
Increase in authorized share capital (a) 13,200,000,006 - - - - - - - - 

December 31  15,360,000,000 - - - - 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 

Issued and outstanding          
January 1 - 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 
Reclassification  to one class common shares (a) 13,877,918 (7,291,011) (4,856,985) (1,729,922) (1,153,448) - - - - 
Change in par value and increase in authorized 

share capital (a)  2,146,122,076 - - - - - - - - 
Issuance of new shares (b.i and b.ii) 3,338,182,010 - - - - - - - - 

December 31 5,498,182,004 - - - - 7,291,011 4,856,985 1,729,922 1,153,448 
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The holders of common class A and B shares are entitled to the same rights and privileges except for the 
right to dividend distribution which is in accordance with the par value ratio. 
 
Redeemable preference shares A and B are non-convertible, non-voting and are redeemable at the option 
of the Company at par value, plus any accrued and unpaid cash dividends.  In case of dissolution or 
liquidation, redeemable preference shares shall enjoy preference on the distribution of the Company’s 
assets.  Redeemable preference shares are not redeemable at the option of the holder.   
 
Foreign nationals may own and hold common class B and redeemable preference shares B. 
 
(a) Share reclassifications and increase in authorized share capital 
 
On March 12, 2021, the Company’s BOD and shareholder approved that the redeemable preferred shares 
and other classes of common shares previously authorized and issued are and shall be convertible to one 
class common share and reduced the par value of all previously issued shares to P0.25 per share.  

 

Consequently, the Company amended its AOI to reflect the change and converted all its previously issued 
shares to one class common share.  The Company’s authorized share capital and issued and outstanding 
shares amounted to P539,999,999 divided into 2,159,999,994 shares at P0.25 par value per share.  The 
related certificate of filing of amended AOI was approved by the SEC on May 31, 2021. 

 
On May 26, 2021, the Company’s BOD and shareholder approved the increase in the authorized share 
capital of the Company from P539,999,999 (composed of 2,159,999,994 shares at P0.25 par value per 
share) to P3,840,000,000 (composed of 15,360,000,000 shares at P0.25 par value per share).  The 
approval of the increase in the authorized share capital was obtained from the SEC on October 12, 2021 
(Note 1).   

 
(b) Share subscriptions 

 
(i) Advances from Parent Company to share conversion subscription 
 
On May 26, 2021, the Parent Company entered into a subscription agreement with the Company to 
subscribe 2,400,000,000 common shares to be taken from the increase in authorized share capital, upon 
approval by the SEC for a total consideration of P602,465,066.  Total consideration in excess of par value 
of shares issued  amounting to P2,465,066 was credited as additional paid in capital. The Parent 
Company assigned P602,465,066 of its advances to fully pay the subscription price (Note 11).  This is 
considered as a non-cash transaction. 
 
(ii) Land properties for share subscription 
 
On May 26, 2021, the Parent Company entered into a subscription agreement with the Company to 
subscribe 19,461,142 common shares to be taken from the increase in authorized share capital, upon 
approval by the SEC, for a total consideration of P4,865,286.  The Parent Company assigned a parcel of 
land located in Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac in favor of the Company to fully pay the subscription price  
(Notes 8 and 11).  This is considered as a non-cash transaction. 
 
On the same date, CST1 entered into a subscription agreement with the Company to subscribe 
918,720,864 common shares to be taken from the increase in authorized share capital, upon approval by 
the SEC, for a total consideration of P229,680,216.  CST1 hereby assigns several parcels of land located in 
Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac in favor of the Company to fully pay the subscription price (Notes 8 and 11). This is 
considered as a non-cash transaction. 
 
These parcels of land were recognized as investment properties as at December 31, 2021 (Note 8).   
 
The application for the proposed increase in authorized share capital was filed with the SEC on  
May 25, 2021 and was approved on October 12, 2021, which resulted in the subsequent issuance of 
shares to CREC and CST1 (Note 1). 
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Note 15 - Revenue 
 
(a) Sale of solar energy 

 
On March 11, 2016, the DOE confirmed the declaration of commerciality of the Company’s Clark Solar 
Power Project under SESC No. 2014-07-086 (Note 1).  The DOE confirmation affirms the conversion of 
said SESC from pre-development to commercial stage.   
 
On March 12, 2016, the Clark Solar Power Project started delivering power to the grid following its 
commissioning.  On June 3, 2016, the Clark Solar Power Project was issued a Certificate of Endorsement 
(COE) for FIT Eligibility under COE-FIT No. S-2016-04-020 by the DOE.  By virtue of the endorsement, 
the Clark Solar Power Project is qualified to avail of the FIT system, upon the issuance by the ERC of the 
Certificate of Compliance (COC).  On November 22, 2016, the ERC issued the COC to the Company.  As a 
result, the Company was entitled to the FIT rate per kilowatt hour of energy output for a period of 20 
years from March 12, 2016.   
 
On May 26, 2020, the ERC issued Resolution No. 06, Series of 2020, which pertains to the approval of 
the adjustment of the FIT rate for 2016 entrants published on November 17, 2020 and shall take effect on 
December 2, 2020. During 2021, additional revenue amounting to P83.53 million was recognized related 
to FIT-rate adjustments for the generation from 2016 to be recovered in five years starting in  
December 2021 based on latest discussions with TransCo. 
 
TransCo is the regulating body of all the FIT-rate eligible energy providers.  Outstanding receivables 
under the FIT system due from TransCo amounted to P125.42 million as at December 31, 2021  
(2020 - P42.00 million) (Note 4). 
 
As a result of assignment of Solar Energy Service Contract of the Clark Solar Plant to its Parent Company, 
the sale of solar energy business has been terminated on December 25, 2021 as approved by DOE  
(Note 1). 
 
(b) Leasing 

 
Subsequent lease and sublease agreements with related parties that were accounted as operating leases 
resulted in the recognition of rental income for the year ended December 31, 2021 as follows: 

 

Land properties  Note Amount 

Freehold land assets    
Brgy. Armenia, Tarlac City, Tarlac   9,681,801 

Leasehold land assets    
Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac    8,092,091 

  11 17,773,892 
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Note 16 - Cost of services 
 
The components of cost of services for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Depreciation and amortization 6, 20 61,710,938 61,244,901 61,244,901 
Utilities  4,500,169 4,933,938 5,051,365 

Repairs and maintenance  3,846,766 1,023,368 3,233,916 
Outside services  3,511,285 3,711,108 7,360,805 
Insurance  1,599,934 1,657,448 2,152,889 
Salaries and wages  934,099 1,843,562 1,440,549 
Taxes and licenses  610,854 17,281,122 17,784,779 
Retirement benefit (income) expense 13 (2,550,098) 2,915,664 - 
Others  43,815 12,462 106,772 

  74,207,762 94,623,573 98,375,976  

 
Note 17 - Operating expenses 
 
The components of operating expenses for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Taxes and licenses  29,202,654   4,340,315  1,775,610 
Professional fees  20,142,435 41,500 181,020 
Outside services  3,904,095 - - 
Dues and subscriptions  1,188,968 949,262 674,390 
Directors’ fees 11 842,105 - - 
Transportation and travel  211,306 197,253 171,359 
Repairs and maintenance  191,023 146,405 21,401 
Communication, light and water  107,442 138,214 123,717 
Charitable contributions  100,000 126,000 105,000 
Depreciation 6 40,434 40,433 25,808 
Bank charges  27,828 7,912 188,259 
Provision for doubtful accounts 4 - 1,944,096 - 
Others  1,014,499     56,569     120,267 

  56,972,789 7,987,959 3,386,831 
 

Portion of taxes and licenses, professional fees and outside services amounting to P22.73 million,  
P19.76 million and P3.90 million, respectively, pertains to costs for the listing and offering of the 
Company’s shares to the public. 
 
Note 18 - Other income, net; finance costs 
 
The components of other income, net for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Gain on compromise settlement of due 
to government agencies 

 
9 25,200,913 - 

 
- 

Interest income 3, 4 277,078 662,181 2,110,459 
Reversal of asset retirement obligation 12 - 1,056,902 - 
Foreign exchange losses, net 22 (55,492) (15,321) (60,375) 
Others  583,427 - - 

  26,005,926 1,703,762 2,050,084 
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The components of finance costs for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Interests on loans payable from DBP 10 24,973,910 60,028,178 65,040,216 
Interests on lease liabilities 20 4,464,960 4,026,048 3,686,845 

  29,438,870 64,054,226 68,727,061 

 
Note 19 - Income taxes 
 
As a BOI-registered enterprise (Note 1), the Company may avail the following incentives: 
 

• Income Tax Holiday (ITH) for seven (7) years from date of actual commercial operation.  The ITH 
shall be limited only to the revenues generated from the sale of electricity of the Clark Solar Power 
Project; 

• Duty-free importation of machinery, equipment and materials including control and communication 
equipment, within the first ten (10) years from the issuance of the DOE Certificate of Registration; 
and 

• Tax exemption on carbon credits. 
 
The Company may also avail of certain incentives to be administered by appropriate government 
agencies subject to the rules and regulations of the respective administering government agencies. 
 
As a REIT-registered enterprise following its listing in the main board of the PSE on February 22, 2022 
(Note 1), the Company will avail the following tax incentives: 
 
• A tax deduction for dividends paid, in addition to the allowable deductions provided for under the 

Tax Code, to arrive at its taxable net income. For a REIT to enjoy this tax incentive, it should 
maintain its status as a “public company,” observe the mandatory 90% dividend pay-out requirement 
of distributable income to shareholders, and submit a sworn statement that the minimum ownership 
requirements for the relevant years were maintained at all times. 
 

• Exemption from the minimum corporate income tax (MCIT), as well as documentary stamp tax 
(DST) on the sale, barter, exchange, or other disposition of listed investor securities through the PSE, 
including cross or block sales with prior approval of the PSE. It is also exempted from paying the 
initial public offering (IPO) tax on its initial and secondary offering of its investor securities. Republic 
Act No. 11494, otherwise known as the Bayanihan to Recover as One Act, permanently repealed the 
IPO tax. 
 

• A lower creditable withholding tax rate of 1% of its receipt of income payments. It also benefits from 
the 50% reduction on the amount of DST due on sale or transfer of real property to a REIT, including 
the sale or transfer of any and all security interest, and applicable registration and annotation fees 
incidental to such transfers. 

 
The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2021 pertains only to deferred income tax 
benefit amounting to P8,200,316 (2020 and 2019 - nil). 
 
Deferred income taxes are determined using income tax rates in the period the temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled.  Realization of the future tax benefits related to deferred income tax 
assets is dependent on many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable income in the 
future within the carry-over period of its unused tax losses.  Management has considered this in reaching 
its conclusion not to recognize the deferred income tax assets in relation to sale of solar energy segment 
for the year ended December 31, 2020.  In addition, the Company is still subject to ITH for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 until October 15, 2022.  
 
However, using the same considerations, the Company recognized certain deferred income tax assets in 
relation to both its sales of solar energy and leasing business segment as at December 31, 2021. 
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The details of the Company’s recognized deferred income tax assets, net as at December 31, 2021 and the 
temporary differences where it arise follow: 

 

 Amount 

Lease income segment under regular corporate income tax (RCIT) rate  
   Deferred income tax assets - to be recovered beyond 12 months  
      Net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) 17,168,553 
      Excess of lease payments over interest on lease liabilities and  
         amortization of right-of-use asset 42,922 

 17,211,475 
Deferred income tax liability - to be settled beyond 12 months  

      Excess of rental income based on straight-line recognition of rent  
         over actual rental (614,249) 

 16,597,226 

Sale of solar energy under special tax rate  
   Deferred income tax asset - to be recovered within 12 months   
      Discount on receivables 1,182 
   Deferred income tax asset - to be recovered beyond 12 months   
      Discount on receivables 1,273,009 

 1,274,191 

   Deferred income tax liability - to be settled within 12 months  
      Accrued revenue (45,582) 
   Deferred income tax liability - to be settled beyond 12 months  
      Accrued revenue (9,625,519) 

 (9,671,101) 

 (8,396,910) 

 8,200,316 

 
The Company’s unrecognized deferred income tax assets in relation to sale of solar energy segment as at 
December 31 arise from the following temporary differences: 

 

 2021 2020 

Accrued expenses 33,620,012 85,485,864 
Excess of lease payments over interest on lease liabilities and 

amortization of right-of-use asset 3,510,809 2,038,390 
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,944,096 1,944,096 
Retirement benefit obligation 314,672 2,915,664 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 55,318 11,175 

 39,444,907 92,395,189 
Tax rate 10% 10% 

 3,944,491 9,239,519 

 
The details of the Company’s NOLCO as at December 31 are as follows: 

 

Year of incurrence Year of expiration  2021 2020 

2018 2021  - 9,966,459 
2021 2026    68,674,211 - 

Total     68,674,211 9,966,459 
Applied   - (9,966,459) 

     68,674,211 - 
   25% 30% 

   17,168,553 - 
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Where higher than normal income tax, the Company is required to pay MCIT equal to 2% of gross 
income as required by the Tax Reform Act of 1997 for other operating income.  This amount may 
separately be offset against normal income tax liabilities for the three (3) immediately succeeding taxable 
years.  During 2017, the Company incurred MCIT amounting to P72,283 which expired on December 31, 
2020.  
 
The reconciliation between income tax expense computed at the statutory tax rate and the actual income 
tax expense for the years ended December 31 as shown in the statements of total comprehensive income 
follows: 
 

 2021 2020 2019 

 RCIT Special rate Total Special rate Special rate 

Income tax at statutory tax rate (7,681,132) 24,840,416 17,159,284 10,411,481 7,957,094 
Income tax effects of:      
 Deductible expenses recognized as 
   asset (8,916,094) - (8,916,094) - - 
 Non-deductible expenses - 346,062 346,062 27,599 88,271 
 Interest income subject to final tax - (27,708) (27,708) (66,218) (207,523) 
 Non-taxable income due to ITH - (11,471,921) (11,471,921) (11,742,155)  (5,307,253) 
 Movement of unrecognized deferred 
   income tax assets - (5,289,939) (5,289,939) 1,369,293  (2,530,589) 

 (16,597,226) 8,396,910 (8,200,316) - - 

 
Note 20 - Lease - Company as a lessee 
 
The Company has entered into various lease contracts as follows:  
 
(a) The Company leases a parcel of land where the Clark Solar Power Project was constructed.  The 

agreement was entered on September 5, 2014 and is valid for twenty-five (25) years, renewable by the 
lessee upon consent of the lessor.  The agreement stipulates rental payments amounting to P0.29 
million and US$105 with an escalation rate of 10% starting on the fourth year of the lease and every 
three (3) years thereafter.  Upon termination of the lease, the leased property shall revert back to the 
lessor.  There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into the lease agreement. 

 
Security deposits for the lease agreement amounting to P5.3 million were presented as part of other 
non-current assets in the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 (2020 -  
P1.78 million) (Note 7).  These deposits are refundable to the Company upon termination of the lease 
agreement or at the end of the lease term.  The impact of discounting is deemed to be immaterial. 
 
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased 
assets that are held by the lessor.  Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. 
 

(b) During 2021, the Company entered into various lease contracts, as a lessee, with third parties as 
follows: 
 
• Assignment of lease contract of a land property located in Brgy. Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu by 

CSCI, an entity under common control, with a third party, to the Company; 

• Sublease agreement and lease contract with third parties for land properties located in  
Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac previously being leased by CST2, an entity under common 
control (Note 8); and 

• Lease agreement with a third party for a land property in Brgy. Rizal, Silay City, Negros 
Occidental previously being leased by CSNO, an entity under common control. 

 
Lease terms are negotiated either on a collective or individual basis and contain a wide range of 
different terms and conditions.  The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the 
security interests in the leased assets that will be held by the lessor.  Leased assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes. 
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No right-of-use assets and lease liabilities was recognized as at December 31, 2021 for land property 
located in Brgy. Talavera, Toledo City, Cebu and land property in Brgy. Rizal, Silay City, Negros 
Occidental since the earliest commencement date of the lease contracts is on January 1, 2022. 
 
For land properties located in Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac, the Company has recognized  
right-of-use asset and lease liabilities on November 1, 2021 in the statements of financial position 
amounting to P53.94 million. 

 
Amounts recognized in the statements of financial position 
 

Details of right-of-use asset, net and movements in the account as at and for the years ended  
December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Note 2021 2020 

Cost     
 December 31, 2020 and 2021  43,937,092 43,937,092 

Accumulated amotion    
 January 1  4,251,976 2,125,988 
 Amortization 16 2,125,988 2,125,988 

 December 31  6,377,964 4,251,976 

Net book value  37,559,128 39,685,116 

 
Investment properties held by the Company as a right-of-use asset measured initially at its cost in 
accordance with PFRS 16 as at December 31, 2021 are as follows: 

 

 Notes Amount 

Land properties - Brgy. Dalayap, Tarlac City, Tarlac   
   Cost  53,940,794 
   Accumulated amortization 16 (473,166) 

 8 53,467,628 

 
Details of the lease liabilities as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 

Current 1,263,480 294,139 
Non-current  103,132,719 51,060,996 

 104,396,199 51,355,135 

 

Movements in lease liabilities for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 Note 2021 2020 

January 1  51,355,135 51,431,558 
Additions 8 53,940,794 - 
Principal payments  (955,048) (87,598) 
Interest payments  (4,464,960) (4,026,048) 
Interest expense 8, 18 4,464,960 4,026,048 
Translation difference  55,318 11,175 

December 31  104,396,199 51,355,135 

 
Translation difference is recognized as part of foreign exchange losses, net under other income, net in the 
statements of total comprehensive income. 
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Amounts recognized in the statements of total comprehensive income 

 
Amounts recognized in the statements of total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 
related to the lease agreements are as follows:  
 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Amortization expense  8, 16 2,599,154 2,125,988 2,125,988 

Interest expense 8, 18 4,464,960 4,026,048 3,686,845 

Translation difference  55,318 11,175 60,375 

  7,119,432 6,163,211 5,873,208 

 
The total cash outflows for the years ended December 31 for the lease agreements are as follows: 
 

  2021 2020 2019 

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities  955,048 87,598 235,236 
Payment of interest on lease liabilities  4,464,960 4,026,048 3,686,845 

  5,420,008 4,113,646 3,922,081 

 
Discount rate 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate ranging from 6.75% 
to 7.86%, being the rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, 
security and conditions. 
 
Extension and termination options 
 
Extension and termination options are included in the lease agreement of the Company.  These are used 
to maximize the operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Company’s operations.  
The extension and termination options held are exercisable by the lessee upon consent of the lessor, 
hence, the extension and termination options have not been included in lease term. 
 
Note 21 - Earnings per share (EPS) 
 
Basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 2021 2020 2019 

Net income 225,879,943 104,114,812 79,570,943 
Weighted average number of common shares 2,772,000,029 2,772,000,029 2,772,000,029 

Basic and diluted EPS  0.08 0.04 0.03 

 
Weighted average number of common shares is calculated as follows: 
 

 

Number of 
shares Ratio 

Weighted number 
of shares 

Beginning 2,159,999,994 1.00 2,159,999,994 
Issuance of shares  3,338,182,010 0.18 612,000,035 

 5,498,182,004  2,772,000,029 

 
In March 2021, the Company’s BOD and shareholders approved to convert all of its common and 
preference shares to one class common share and reduced all the par values to P0.25 per share thereby 
increasing the number of common shares issued and outstanding (Note 14).  The conversion, subsequent 
decrease in par value and share subscriptions and issuance during 2021 were considered in the 
calculation of weighted average number of common shares outstanding retrospectively for all the periods 
presented.  
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The Company has no potential dilutive common shares for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
Therefore, basic and diluted EPS are the same. 
 
Note 22 - Financial risk and capital management and fair value estimation 
 
22.1 Financial risk management 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks from its use of financial instruments: 
market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk.  The Company’s overall risk management program seeks to 
minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company.  The policies for 
managing specific risks are summarized below. 
 
The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework.  It monitors compliance with the risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company.  
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions.  
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Company’s activities.  The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, 
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations. 
 
22.1.1 Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, security price and foreign 
exchange rates, will affect the Company’s total comprehensive income or the value of its financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimizing return.  Security price is deemed not applicable since the 
Company has no debt or equity instruments traded in an active market.  The management of these risks 
is discussed as follows: 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates would unfavorably affect future 
cash flows from financial instruments.  The Company’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest 
rates relates to loans payable, cash in banks, short-term placements, and lease liabilities. 
 
The Company’s exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates primarily relates to loans payable 
with fixed interest rate which was assumed by the Parent Company effective May 4, 2021. Management 
believes that the related interest rate risk on this instrument is relatively insignificant having fixed 
interest rate. 
 
The Company has no outstanding loans payable as at December 31, 2021 (2020 - P1.04 billion) (Note 10).   
 
Management believes that the related cash flow and interest rate risk on cash in banks and short-term 
placements is relatively low due to immaterial changes on interest rates within the duration of these 
financial instruments. 
 
The Company is also exposed to fixed-rate interest rate risk related to its lease liabilities. The interest 
rate risk is deemed to have a diminishing impact on the Company over the term of the lease. 
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(b) Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily 
with respect to U.S. Dollar.  Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions, and 
recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Company’s functional 
currency.  Among others, management monitors the timing of settlements/payments to ensure that the 
Company is not unfavorably exposed to fluctuations of foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary liability as at December 31, 2021 refers to a 
portion of lease liabilities amounting to US$20,052 (2020 - US$20,392) with Philippine Peso equivalent 
of P1.02 million (2020 - P0.98 million). 
 
Details of foreign exchange losses, net for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Note 2021 2020 2019 

Unrealized losses, net  55,318 11,175 60,375 
Realized losses, net  174 4,146 - 

 18 55,492 15,321 60,375 

 
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is not significant due to the absence of material 
transactions and balances denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency.   
 
22.1.2 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a 

financial loss to the Company.  The Company’s credit risk arises primarily from its cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, electric utility deposits, security deposits and restricted cash. 

Exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amounts of these financial assets.  The Company uses internal ratings to determine the 
quality of its financial assets.  The Company determined that its financial assets are all considered high 
grade financial assets except for those that were fully provided for.   
 
The maximum exposures to credit risk, pertaining to financial assets as at December 31 are as follows: 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents* 3 48,949,348 71,702,473  47,033,583  
Trade and other receivables 4 129,818,895 260,849,329 128,630,106 
Electric utility deposits 7 6,580,541 6,580,541 6,580,541 
Security deposits 7 5,279,310 1,779,310 1,779,310 
Restricted cash 7 905,831 615,197 308,357 

  191,533,925 341,526,850 184,331,897 
*excluding cash on hand 

 
Credit quality of financial assets 
 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash in bank 
 
Cash deposited/placed in banks are considered stable as the banks qualify as universal and commercial 
banks as defined by the Philippine Banking System and are approved by the BOD to minimize credit risk.  
The amounts deposited in these banks are disclosed in Notes 3 and 7. The expected credit loss is 
determined to be immaterial.  Cash on hand is not subject to credit risk. 
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(ii) Trade and other receivables 
 
The Company has significant concentration of credit risk for the sale of energy segment business on its 
transactions with TransCo, its sole customer.  However, this is brought down to an acceptable level since 
credit terms on billed fees for sale of electricity are fixed as provided in formal agreements, and are 
accordingly collected in accordance with this agreement and the Company’s credit policy with no 
reported defaults and write-offs in previous years.  The expected credit loss is determined to be 
immaterial by management. 
 
Trade receivables from leasing segment include receivables from related parties.  The credit exposure on 
trade receivables from related parties is considered to be minimal as there is no history of default and 
collections are expected to be made based on the lease agreement.  In addition, the related parties are 
considered to have good financial standing and are highly liquid.  The expected credit loss is determined 
to be immaterial by management.   
 
The credit exposure on due from related parties is considered to be minimal as there is no history of 
default and collections are expected to be made within 12 months.  The balances of due from related 
parties are considered as high-grade financial assets as the related parties have good financial standing 
and are highly liquid.  The expected credit loss is determined to be immaterial by management. 
 
Other receivables pertain to refund for overpaid insurance which has been long outstanding for more 
than one (1) year.  Full provision has been recognized for this receivable as at December 31, 2021 and 
2020.   
 
(iii) Security deposits and electrical utility deposits 
 
Security deposits and electrical utility deposits include cash required from the Company in relation to its 
lease agreement and service agreement, respectively.  These deposits are assessed as high grade as there 

was no history of default and these are collectible upon termination of or at the end of the term of the 
agreements.  The expected credit loss is determined to be immaterial by management.   

22.1.3 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as these fall 
due.  The objective of the Company is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of credit lines available from related parties and local banks.  The policy of the Company 
is to first exhaust lines available from related parties before local bank lines are availed.  The Company 
also has available due from related parties which can be readily collected to settle maturing obligations.   
 
The Company seeks to manage its liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between continuity of funding 
and flexibility.  The Company regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flows.  It also continuously 
assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities. 
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The Company’s financial liabilities grouped into relevant maturity dates are as follows: 
 

 
Notes 

Payable on 
demand 

Less than 1 
year 

More than 1 
year 

December 31, 2021     
Trade payables and other liabilities* 9 - 17,673,573 - 
Due to a related party 11  56,144,929 - 68,521,747 
Interest**  - 7,579,060 85,887,552 
Lease liabilities 20 - 1,263,480 103,132,719 

  56,144,929 26,516,113 257,542,018 

December 31, 2020     
Trade payables and other liabilities* 9 - 40,101,734 - 
Loans payable 10 - 126,446,281 909,809,551 
Interest**  - 28,985,465 48,733,444 
Lease liabilities 20 - 294,139 51,060,996 

  - 195,827,619 1,009,603,991 
*excluding due to government agencies  
**expected interest on borrowings up to assignment date and on lease liabilities up to maturity date 

 
The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, except for lease liabilities, which are 
equivalent to their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.  The Company 
expects to settle the above financial liabilities within their contractual maturity date.   
 
22.2 Capital management 
 
The Company maintains a sound capital to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern to provide 
returns to shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce cost of capital. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic 
conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment 
to shareholder, pay-off existing debts, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 
 
The BOD has overall responsibility for monitoring capital in proportion to risk.  Profiles for capital ratios 
are set in the light of changes in the external environment and the risks underlying the Company’s 
business, operations and industry. 
 
The capital structure of the Company consists of equity, which comprises of issued capital, retained 
earnings and remeasurement on retirement benefits.  The Company monitors capital on the basis of net 
gearing ratio, which is calculated as total debt divided by total equity.  Total debt is defined as short-term 
and long-term bank borrowings from third parties less cash and cash equivalents, while equity is total 
equity as shown in the statements of financial position. 
 
The net debt reconciliation and gearing ratio as at December 31 are presented below: 

 

 Notes 2021 2020 

Loans payable, January 1 10 1,036,255,832 1,095,255,891 
Cash flows  (31,611,570) (61,363,636) 
Non-cash movement 10 (1,004,644,262) 2,363,577 

Loans payable, December 31 10 - 1,036,255,832 

Cash and cash equivalents 3 (49,014,348) (71,737,473) 

Net (asset) debt   (49,014,348) 964,518,359 

Total equity   1,628,046,129 565,104,724 

Net gearing ratio  (0.03):1 1.70:1 
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Non-cash movement pertains to the amortization of debt issuance cost and assignment of loans payable 
(Note 10). 
 
22.3 Fair value estimation 
 

The carrying values of the financial instrument components of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, other non-current assets, trade payables and other liabilities (excluding due to government 
agencies), due to a related party, loans payable and lease liabilities approximate their fair values, due to 
the liquidity, short-term maturities and nature of such items.  The fair values of other non-current assets, 
non-current portion of trade receivables, lease liabilities and non-current portion of loans payable are 
close to market rates.  The fair value of the non-current portion of due to a related party amounting to 
P64.99 million was determined using discounted cash flow approach by applying current market interest 
rates of 2.68% (Level 2). 
 
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company does not have financial instruments that are measured 
using the fair value hierarchy. 
 

Note 23 - Critical accounting estimates and assumptions and judgments 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires management to make 
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
the related notes.  Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 

The Company makes estimates, assumptions and judgments concerning the future.  The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates, 
assumptions and judgments that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed as follows. 
 
23.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 
(a) Impairment of trade and other receivables 
 
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates.  The Company uses estimates in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Company’s past history, existing market conditions as 
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.  Details of the key assumptions and 
inputs used are disclosed in Notes 24.3 and 24.4. 
 
In 2020, the Company provided allowance for doubtful accounts for other receivables amounting to 
P1.94 million.  This is equivalent to the full lifetime expected credit loss using the expected credit loss 
model, hence, any sensitivity analysis is no longer deemed necessary.  No additional allowance for 
doubtful accounts was made during 2021. 
 
The carrying values of the Company’s trade and other receivables are shown in Note 4. 
 
(b) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 
The Company reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the 
period over which the assets are expected to be available for use and are updated if expectations differ 
from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear or technical and commercial obsolescence.  
Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on factors that include asset 
utilization, internal technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of 
assets based on the related industry benchmark information and land lease term where the solar power 
plant is situated.  It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in 
these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned.   
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The estimated useful life used for solar plant and equipment was higher than the current land lease term 
of the Company since based on the management’s assessment, the Company can still use the solar plant 
and equipment beyond the current land lease term.   
 
In 2019, the BOD approved the change in the estimated useful life of the substation and transmission 
lines and solar plant and equipment from 23 years to 15 years and 30 years, respectively.  The net effect 
of the change in useful life is disclosed in Note 6. 
 
If the actual useful lives of these assets are prolonged or shortened by five (5) years, income before tax for 
the years ended December 31 would be as follows: 

 

 Impact on income before tax 
Increase (Decrease) 

 2021 2020 2019 

Prolonged by 5 years P 8.91 million P8.92 million P8.90 million 
Shortened by 5 years (P13.03 million) (P13.03 million) (P13.04 million) 

 
The range used was based on the management’s assessment where potential impact to operations might 
occur.  The carrying values of the Company’s property, plant and equipment are shown in Note 6.  
 
(c) Determining incremental borrowing rate 
 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company uses the government bond yield, adjusted 
for the credit spread specific to the Company and security using the right-of-use asset.  The basis of the 
discount rates applied by the Company are disclosed in Note 20.  Any change in the rates would have 
direct impact to interest expense for the period and on lease liabilities.  Higher discount rate will result in 
lower interest expense and lease liabilities and vice versa. 
 
The Company is exposed to fixed-rate interest rate risk related to its lease liabilities.  Lease liabilities are 
subject to amortization where each of the lease payments is treated partly as a payment of principal and 
partly as payment of interest.  Accordingly, the interest rate risk will have a diminishing impact on the 
Company over the term of the lease.  
 
(d) Retirement benefit obligation 
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined 
using a number of assumptions.  The assumptions used include discount rate and salary increase rate.  In 
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Company considers the interest rates of government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement benefit obligation.  Details of retirement 
benefit obligation and the related sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 13. 
 
23.2 Critical judgments in applying the Company’s accounting policies  
 
(a) Recoverability of non-financial assets 
 
The Company’s non-financial assets such as property, plant and equipment and investment properties 
are tested for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 
assets carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less cost to sell or value in use.  Management believes that there are no indications that 
the carrying amount of non-financial assets may not be recoverable. Details of property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties are disclosed in Notes 6 and 8, respectively. 
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(b) Critical judgment in determining the lease term 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.  Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).  The Company considers the factors below as the 
most relevant in assessing the options:  
 
• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Company is typically reasonably 

certain to extend (or not terminate).  
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Company is 

typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).  

• Otherwise, the Company considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs 
and business disruption required to replace the leased asset.  

 
Extension options in the Company’s lease agreements have not been included in the lease liabilities 
because the Company’s lease agreements state that extension and termination should be made upon 
mutual agreement by both parties and considering the estimated useful lives of the solar power plants of 
the related parties and the assignment of the SESC with Parent Company.  The assessment is reviewed if 
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that 
is within the control of the lessee.  
 
(c) Estimating cost of dismantling, removing or restoring items of fixed assets 
 
Determining the asset retirement obligation requires estimation of the costs of dismantling, installing 
and restoring lease properties to their original condition.  The Company determined the amount of 
obligation by obtaining estimates of dismantling costs from the proponent responsible for the operation 
of the asset, discounted at the Company’s current credit-adjusted risk-free rate depending on the life of 
the capital costs.  While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of such costs are 
reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the recorded expense or 
obligation in future periods.  
 
During 2020, the Company reversed the full amount of the provision amounting to P1.06 million as at 
December 31, 2019 as management assessed that this is no longer expected to be settled in the future 
(Note 12).  No asset retirement obligation was recognized in 2021. 
 
(d) Income taxes 
 
Significant judgment is required in determining income taxes.  There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain in the ordinary course of business.  
The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due.   
 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which 
such determination is made.  Further, recognition of deferred income taxes depends on management’s 
assessment of the probability of available future taxable income against which the temporary differences 
can be applied. The details of recognized and unrecognized deferred income taxes are shown in Note 19. 
 
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and 
reduces the amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will allow all 
or part of its deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
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(e) Distinction between investment properties and property, plant and equipment 
 
The Company determines whether a property is to be classified as an investment property or property, 
plant and equipment through the following: 
 
• Investment properties comprise land and buildings which are not occupied, substantially for use by, 

or in the operations of, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business of the Company, but are held 
primarily to earn rental income or capital appreciation; and 

• Property, plant and equipment generate cash flows that are attributable not only to them but also to 
the other assets used in the operations of the Company. 

 
In making its judgment, the Company considers whether the property generates cash flows largely 
independent of the other assets held by the Company. 
 
Some properties comprise a portion that is to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion 
that is held for use in the operation or for administrative purposes.  If these portions cannot be sold 
separately at the reporting date, the property is accounted for as an investment property only if an 
insignificant portion is held for use in the operation or for administrative purposes.  Judgment is applied 
in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an 
investment property. The Company considers each property separately in making its judgment. 
 
Note 24 - Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.   
 
24.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with PFRS.  The term PFRS 
in general includes all applicable PFRS, PAS, and interpretations of the Philippine Interpretations 
Committee (PIC), Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been approved by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council (FRSC) and adopted by the SEC. 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared using historical cost basis. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying 
the Company’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in  
Note 23. 
 
(a) New standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations adopted by the Company 
 
No new standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations, that are effective beginning 
January 1, 2021, are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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(b) New standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the 
Company 

 

A number of new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations are effective for the 
Company’s annual periods after January 1, 2021 and have not been early adopted nor applied by the 
Company in preparing these financial statements.  None of these are expected to be relevant and have an 
effect on the financial statements of the Company, while the most relevant ones are set out as follows: 
 
• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to PAS 1 (effective  

January 1, 2023).  The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities in the statement of 
financial position - not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or 
expenses, or the information that entities disclose about those items.  The amendments: 
o clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that 

are in existence at the end of the reporting period and align the wording in all affected 
paragraphs to refer to the ‘right’ to defer settlement by at least 12 months and make explicit that 
only rights in place ‘at the end of the reporting period’ should affect the classification of a 
liability;  

o clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its 
right to defer settlement of a liability; and  

o make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity 
instruments, other assets or services. 

 
The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s classification of 
liabilities.  The amendments provided clear guidance which will support the Company’s assessment. 
 

• Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendments to PAS 37 (effective  
January 1, 2022).  The amendment to PAS 37 clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract 
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly 
related to fulfilling contracts. Before recognizing a separate provision for an onerous contract, the 
entity recognizes any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract.  The 
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
No other standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations, that are effective after  
January 1, 2021, are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
24.2 Cash and cash equivalents; Restricted cash 
 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks that earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with original maturities of three (3) months or less from the date of acquisition and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts. 
 
Restricted cash is subject to regulatory restrictions and therefore not available for general use of the 
Company.  This is classified as non-current asset as this is expected to be collected more than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. 
 
Other relevant policies are disclosed in Note 24.4. 
 
24.3 Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables from Transco which have a 60-day credit term, lease receivables and other receivables 
are initially recognized and carried at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortized cost, 
less provision for impairment loss.  The fair value of trade receivables at initial recognition is equivalent 
to the original invoice amount (as the effect of discounting is immaterial).   
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The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring expected credit loss which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.  To measure expected credit loss, trade receivables have 
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.  The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is charged 
against profit or loss in the statement of total comprehensive income.   
 
When a receivable remains uncollectible after the Company has exerted all legal remedies, it is written-
off against the allowance account for receivables.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-
off are credited to profit or loss in the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
The expected loss rates on trade receivables are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of  
12 months before the beginning of each reporting period and the corresponding historical credit losses 
experience within this period.  The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables.  The Company has identified the gross domestic product and inflation to be the most 
relevant factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in this factor.  
 
Other relevant policies are disclosed in Note 24.4. 
 
24.4 Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.  The Company recognizes a financial instrument in the 
statement of financial position, when, and only when, it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. 
 
Financial assets 
 
(a) Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and amortized cost.  The 
Company did not hold financial assets under the category financial assets at FVPL and FVOCI as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.  
 
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows.  The Company’s financial assets measured at amortized cost 
comprise of cash and cash equivalents (Note 24.2), trade and other receivables (Note 24.3), security 
deposits and electric utility deposits (Note 24.7) and restricted cash in bank (Note 24.2) in the statement 
of financial position. These are included in current assets, except for those expected to be realized greater 
than 12 months after the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost.  Interest income from these financial 
assets, if any, is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.  Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognized directly in the statement of total comprehensive income and 
presented as other income or expense.  Impairment losses, if any, are presented in the statement of total 
comprehensive income within operating expenses. 
 
(b) Recognition and measurement 
 
(i) Initial recognition and measurement  
 
Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date (the date on which 
the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset).  Financial assets not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs.  
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(ii) Subsequent measurement 
 
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
(c) Impairment 
 
The Company recognizes an expected credit loss for all debt instruments not held at FVPL.  Expected 
credit losses are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of 
the original effective interest rate.  The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of 
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.  Expected credit 
losses are recognized in two stages.  For credit exposure for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are provided for credit losses that 
result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month expected credit loss).   
 
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime expected credit loss). 
 
For cash and cash equivalents, due from related parties, other receivables, security deposits and electric 
utility deposits and restricted cash, the Company applies a general approach in calculating expected 
credit losses.  The Company recognizes a loss allowance based on either 12-month expected credit losses 
or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk on these financial assets since initial recognition.  The carrying amount of the financial asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is charged against profit or 
loss in the statement of total comprehensive income.  When the financial asset remains uncollectible 
after the Company has exerted all legal remedies, it is written-off against the allowance account.  
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited to profit or loss in the statement of 
total comprehensive income.   
 
For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses.  
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance 
based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date.  The Company has established a provision 
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment.  Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in 
Note 24.3. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are past due.  However, 
in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company.  A financial 
asset is written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 
 
(d) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 
  



 

(38) 
 

Financial liabilities 
 
(a) Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (including financial liabilities held for trading and those that are designated at fair 
value); and financial liabilities at amortized cost.  The Company’s financial liabilities are limited to 
financial liabilities at amortized cost. 
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost pertain to issued financial instruments that are not classified as  fair 
value through profit or loss and contain contract obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to 
the holder or to settle the obligation other than the exchange of a fixed amount of cash.  These are 
included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting period 
which are classified as non-current liabilities. 
 
The Company’s trade payables and other liabilities (excluding due to government agencies) (Note 24.11), 
due to a related party (Note 24.19), loans and interest payables (Note 24.15) and lease liabilities  
(Note 24.18) are classified under financial liabilities at amortized cost. 
 
(b) Recognition and measurement  
 
(i) Initial recognition 
 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value less transaction costs. 
 
(ii) Subsequent measurement  
 
Financial liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
(c) Derecognition 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized when extinguished, i.e., when the obligation is discharged or is 
cancelled, expires, or paid. 
 
Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The legally 
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course 
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.  
The details of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting are disclosed in Note 11.  
 
24.5 Fair value measurement 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The fair value of a non-financial asset is measured based on its highest and best use.  The asset’s current 
use is presumed to be its highest and best use.  The fair value of financial and non-financial liabilities 
takes into account non-performance risk, which is the risk that the entity will not fulfil an obligation. 
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The Company classifies its fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels:  
 

• quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);  
• inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
• inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs) (Level 3). 
 
The appropriate level is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the 
reporting date.  A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  The quoted 
market price used for financial assets is the current bid price.  These instruments are included in Level 1.   
 
The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.  These valuation techniques maximize 
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates.  If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the asset or 
liability is included in Level 2.  If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market 
data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.  The Company uses specific valuation technique such as 
discounted cash flow analysis to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 
 
The Company does not hold financial and non-financial assets and liabilities at fair value as at  
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
24.6 Input value-added tax 
 
Input VAT is stated at historical cost less provision for impairment, if any.  Provision for unrecoverable 
input VAT, if any, is maintained by the Company at a level considered adequate to provide for potential 
uncollectible portions of the claims.  The Company, on a continuing basis, makes a review of the status of 
the claims designed to identify those that may require provision for impairment losses. Input VAT is 
derecognized once applied against output VAT or claimed for refund. 
 
24.7 Prepayments and other assets 
 
Prepayments and other assets are expenses paid in cash and recorded as assets before these are used or 
consumed, as the services or benefits will be received in the future.  Prepayments and other assets expire 
and are recognized as expense either with the passage of time or through use or consumption. 
 
Prepayments and other assets are carried at cost and are included in current assets, except when the 
related goods or services are expected to be received and rendered more than 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period, in which case, these are classified as non-current assets.   
 
Security deposits and electrical utility deposits pertain to advances to lessor relating to rent and service 
providers, respectively, which will be refunded at the end of the service periods, as determined in the 
contract agreements.  Other relevant policies are disclosed in Note 24.4. 
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24.8 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items, which comprises its purchase 
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the statement of total comprehensive income within cost of services or operating expenses 
whichever is applicable during the financial period in which these are incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values 
over their estimated useful lives (in years), as follows: 
 

Solar plant and equipment 30 
Substation and transmission lines 15 
Computer equipment 3 
Service vehicle 5 

 
The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and estimated useful lives are reviewed periodically, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.   

 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 24.10). 
 
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal at which time the cost and related accumulated 
depreciation is removed from the accounts.  Gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognized under other income or expense in the statement of total comprehensive income.  
 
24.9  Investment properties 
 
Investment properties are properties (land or building - or part of a building - or both) held by the owner 
or by lessee under a lease to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for use in the 
operations or for administrative purposes; or sale in the ordinary course of business.   
 
The initial cost of the investment properties consists of its purchase price, including non-refundable 
purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 
location for its intended use.  After initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost and 
accounted in accordance with PAS 16, “Property, plant and equipment”.  Land is not depreciated. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized upon disposal or when the investment properties are 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.   
 
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment properties are determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized 
under other operating income or expense in the statement of total comprehensive income in the period of 
the retirement or disposal. 
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Investment properties acquired through equity-settled transactions are measured in reference to the fair 
value of investment properties, unless the fair value cannot be estimated reliably.  If the Company cannot 
estimate reliably the fair value of the investment properties received, the entity shall measure the value of 
the investment properties, and the corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instrument. 
 
Other relevant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 24.8. 
 
24.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life such as investment properties (related to land) not subject to 
amortization is evaluated annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.   
 
Assets that have definite useful lives and are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.   
 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that are previously impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date.  Subsequent reversals are credited to other income in the statement of total 
comprehensive income. 
 
24.11 Trade payables and other liabilities 

Trade payables and other liabilities are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers with average credit terms of 30 days.  Trade payables and 
other liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less.  If not, these 
are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Trade payables and other liabilities are recognized initially at transaction price and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Trade payables and other liabilities are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged 
or cancelled, or has expired.  Where an existing liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of total 
comprehensive income within other income or expense. 
 
Due to government agencies are not considered financial liabilities but are derecognized similarly. 
 
Other relevant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 24.4. 
 
24.12 Provisions and contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.  Where 
there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognized even if the 
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be 
small. 
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
finance cost in the statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.  If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision shall be reversed and derecognized in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements.  These are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not 
recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefit is probable.  If it 
becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related income 
are recognized in the financial statements. 
 
24.13 Equity 
 
(a) Share capital 
 
The Company’s share capital is composed of common and preferred shares at par value.  The amount of 
proceeds from the issuance or sale of common and preferred shares representing the aggregate par value 
is credited to share capital.   
 
Proceeds in excess of par value of shares issued or additional capital contribution without corresponding 
issuance of shares are credited to share premium.   
 
Redeemable preference shares are classified as equity if the redemption is at the option of the Company.  

However, if redeemable at the option of the holder, these are classified as liabilities.   

 
After initial measurement, share capital and share premium, if any, are carried at historical cost and are 
classified as equity in the statement of financial position. 
 
(b) Retained earnings (Deficit) 
 
Retained earnings (Deficit) includes current and prior years’ results of operations, net of transactions 
with shareholder and dividends declared, if any. 
 
(c) Dividend distribution 
 
Dividend distribution to Company’s shareholder is recognized as a liability in its financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved and declared by the BOD. 
 
(d) Share issuance costs 
 
Share issuance costs are incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance or subscription of new 
shares.  Share issuance costs which might be incurred in anticipation of an issuance of shares are 
recorded as an asset and deferred in the statement of financial position until the shares are issued.  Upon 
issuance of shares, the deferred costs are charged to share premium or retained earnings, if no available 
share premium.  If the shares are not subsequently issued, the transaction costs are recognized as 
expense under both approaches. 
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24.14 Revenue and cost recognition 
 
(i) The following is a description of principal activities from which the Company generates its revenue. 
 
(a) Sale of solar energy 
 
The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customer which pertains to generation of 
electricity at a point in time when control of the goods or services are transferred to the customers at 
transaction price that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be settled in exchange 
for the services. 
 
The Company’s generation of electricity from solar power energy is assessed by management as a single 
performance obligation.  Sale of electricity is recognized whenever the electricity generated by the 
Company is transmitted through the transmission line designated by the buyer for a consideration. 
 
Revenue from sale of electricity is based on the applicable FIT rate as transaction price as approved by 
the ERC.  Revenue from sale of electricity is recognized monthly based on the actual energy delivered. 
 
(b) Rental income 
 
Rental income arising from operating lease agreements on its investment properties is recognized as 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term or based on a certain percentage of the earnings of the 
lessees plus any variable component which are measured based on the actual results of operations of the 
lessees, as provided under the terms of the lease contract.   
 
Other relevant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 24.18. 

(ii) Interest income 
 
Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis by reference to the outstanding principal and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. Interest income is recognized 
using the effective interest method. 
 
(iii) Costs and expenses 
 
Costs and expenses are recognized in the statement of total comprehensive income when decrease in 
future economic benefit related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be 
measured reliably.  Costs and expenses are recognized on the basis of a direct association between the 
costs incurred and the earning of specific items of income; on the basis of systematic and rational 
allocation procedures when economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and 
the association with income can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or immediately when an 
expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, and to the extent that, future economic 
benefits do not qualify or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statement of financial position as an 
asset. 
 
Costs and expenses in the statement of total comprehensive income are presented using the function of 
expense method.  Costs of services are expenses incurred that are associated with the services rendered. 
Operating expenses are costs attributable to administrative and other business activities of the Company. 
 
24.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs 
 
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption amount is recognized in the statement of total comprehensive income over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.   
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Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan capitalized 
as a contra liability account and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 
 
Borrowings are derecognized in the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in the statement of total 
comprehensive income under finance cost. 
 
A substantial modification of the terms of the existing borrowings or part of the borrowings is accounted 
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and a recognition of new financial liability.  The 
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, 
including any fees paid (net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate), 
is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial liability.  The resulting difference is recognized as a gain or loss under other income, net in the 
statement of total comprehensive income. 
 
Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a 
creditor to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognized as other 
income or expense in the statement of total comprehensive income, which is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.  In cases of breaches in loan 
covenants prior to the end of a reporting period, borrowings are classified as current liability, unless a 
sufficient waiver of the covenant is granted by the lender, such that the borrowings do not become 
immediately repayable.   
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset.  All other borrowing costs are recognized and charged 
under finance cost in the statement of total comprehensive income in the year in which they are incurred.   

Other relevant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 24.4. 
 
24.16 Current and deferred income tax 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income taxes.  Tax is recognized in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.   
 
The current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date where the Company operates and generates taxable income.  Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.   
 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realized, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences, unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits can be utilized. 



 

(45) 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority where there is an intention to settle the 
balances on a net basis. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are derecognized when relevant temporary differences have 
been realized and settled, respectively.  The Company reassesses at each reporting the need to recognize 
previously unrecognized deferred income tax asset. 
 
24.17 Employee benefits 
 
(a) Short-term benefits obligation 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are 
recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.   
 
(b) Retirement benefits 

 
The Company has a defined benefit plan, which is unfunded and covers substantially all of its qualified 
employees.  The defined benefit plan satisfies the minimum benefit requirements of RA No. 7641, 
otherwise known as the “Retirement Pay Law”. 
 
A defined benefit plan is a retirement plan that defines an amount of retirement benefit that an employee 

will receive on retirement, usually dependent on certain factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation. 

The retirement benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method.  The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 

interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be 
paid, and that have terms to maturity which approximate the terms of the retirement benefit obligation. 

The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statements of financial position is the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period.   
 
Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions, if material, are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period 
in which they arise. 
 
Past service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit 
obligation.  This cost is charged to profit or loss. 
 
(c) Termination benefits 
 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal 
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. 
 
The Company recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Company 
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a 
restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets” and involves the payment of termination benefits.  In the case of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees 
expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to their present value. 
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24.18 Leases  
 
Company as a lessee 
 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.  The right-of-use 
asset is amortized over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 
(a) Measurement of lease liabilities 
 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; 

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 

option. 
 
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability. 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.  If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, which is generally the case for the Company’s leases, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment 
with similar terms, security and conditions. 
 
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company: 
 
• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received; 
• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases 

held for entities which do not have recent third-party financing; and 

• makes adjustments specific to the lease (i.e. term, currency and security). 
 
Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense.  The interest expense is charged to 
the statement of total comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
 
(b) Measurement of right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
• any initial direct costs; and 
• restoration costs. 
 
Right-of-use assets are generally amortized over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term 
on a straight-line basis.  If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use asset is amortized over the underlying asset’s useful life. 
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(c) Extension and termination options 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option.  Extension 
options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).  The lease term is reassessed if an option is 
actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Company becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it.  
 
The assessment of reasonable certainty is revised only if a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee.  
 
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property is presented in the statement of 
financial position as investment property.  Other relevant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 24.9. 
 
Company as a lessor 
 
The Company determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 
 
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 
assets are classified as operating lease.  Operating lease payments received are recognized as an income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for variable rent which is recognized when earned.   
 
24.19 Related party relationships and transactions 
 
(a) Related party relationship 
 
A related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly through 
one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions.  Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities 
which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting 
enterprises and their key management personnel or directors.   
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the 
relationship, and not merely the legal form. 
 
(b) Related party transaction 
 
Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting entity and 
a related party regardless of whether a price is charged or not. 
 
24.20 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).  The financial 
statements are presented in Philippine Peso, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. 
 
(b) Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Philippine Peso using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions.  Outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at reporting date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rate of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of total 
comprehensive income through profit or loss.  
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24.21 Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Company’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Company’s various lines of business. 
 
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to 
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.  Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria. 
 
24.22 Earnings per share 
 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding, after considering impact of any share dividends, share 
splits or reverse share splits during the period.  Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the earnings and 
number of shares for the effects of dilutive potential common shares. 
 
The number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares changes as a result of a share split or reverse share 
split are applied retrospectively and adjust the calculation of basic and diluted EPS for all periods 
presented.  This applies regardless of whether the change occurred during the reporting period or after 
the end of the period before the financial statements are authorized for issue. 
 
24.23 Events after the reporting period 
 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s position at the reporting 

date (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not 
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when material. 

24.24 Reclassification and correction of errors 
 
The Company adjusted its statements of cash flows to correct cash outflow arising from interest 
payments on loans from a bank by an increase amounting to P3.57 million for the year ended  
December 31, 2019. 
 
The impact of the correction of error in the statements of cash flows for the year ended  
December 31, 2019 are as follows: 

 

 Previously 
reported balances 

 
Adjustments 

 
Adjusted balances 

Cash flows from operating activities 146,877,159 3,573,539 150,450,698 
Cash flows from financing activities (186,431,516) (3,573,539) (190,005,055) 

 
The opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 in the statement 
of financial position were not presented since the reclassification did not have any impact on the 
previously reported balances.  The reclassification also did not impact previously reported financial 
position, net income and retained earnings. 
 
Note 25 - Impact of COVID-19 
 
In the worldwide context of COVID-19 pandemic disease and unprecedented crisis that started in the 
first quarter of 2020, the Philippine Government has taken measures which caused disruptions to 
businesses and economic activities, and its impact continues to evolve.   
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In 2020, the government enacted the Republic Act No. 11649, also known as the “Bayanihan to Heal as 
One Act” providing relief to loan payments, interest and penalties thereon.  The Company availed of this 
relief which resulted in the deferral of its principal payment and interest on its loans payable to DBP.  
This, in effect, spreads the deferred principal and interest amount to the remaining payments to be made 
throughout the term of the loan. 
 
Aside from the deferral of the principal and interest on loans payable, the Company incurred additional 
expenses due to the quarantine and social distancing measures required by the Philippine Government.  
Based on the management’s assessment, the COVID-19 pandemic had no other significant impact in the 
Company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2021.   
 
The Company’s financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 have been prepared 
applying the going concern principle.  The management of the Company is not aware of any other 
significant uncertainties arising after the December 31, 2021 that would have any impact on its ability to 
continue as going concern.  The Company is continuously monitoring the situation.  
 
Note 26 - Supplementary information required by Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) 
 
The following supplementary information required by Revenue Regulation (RR) No. 15-2010 is 
presented for purposes of filing with the BIR and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
(a) Output VAT 
 
Output VAT declared and the revenues upon which the same was based consist of: 

 

 Gross amount  
of revenues Output VAT 

Zero-rated VAT sales 351,930,501 - 
Vatable sales - - 

Total 351,930,501 - 

 
Revenues presented above are based on net receipts from sale of energy for VAT reporting purposes 
while revenues in the statement of total comprehensive income are based on revenue recognition policy 
per Note 24.14. Under the Renewable Energy Act of 2008, registered developers of renewable energy 
projects in the Philippines benefit from a zero-rated VAT on the sale of electricity to off takers.  In 
addition, the gross receipts from the rental of real properties on its leasing business shall be subject to 
VAT. 
 
(b) Input VAT 
 
Movements in input VAT for the year ended December 31, 2021 follow: 

 

  Amount 

January 1  9,435,619 
Add: Current year’s domestic purchases of services  2,649,746 

December 31  12,085,365 

 
(c) Importations 
 
The Company did not have importations during the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
(d) Excise tax 
 
There were no transactions subject to excise tax for the year ended December 31, 2021.   
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(e) Documentary stamp tax 
 
Documentary stamp taxes paid for the year ended December 31, 2021 amounted to P448,783 for 
insurance and surety bond contracts and share issuance costs.  The amount is recorded as part of taxes 
and licenses account under operating expenses in the statements of total comprehensive income. 
 
(f) Withholding taxes 
 
Withholding taxes paid and accrued for the year ended December 31, 2021 consist of: 
 

 Paid Accrued Total 

Withholding tax on compensation 52,786 4,045 56,831 
Expanded withholding tax 516,715 82,484 599,199 

 569,501 86,529 656,030 

 
(g) All other local and national taxes 
 

  Amount 

License and permit fees  1,413,174 
Gross receipts tax on loan payments  643,257 
Local government tax  823,828 
Energy regulations tax  216,582 
Local business tax  26,686 

  3,123,527 

 
The above local and national taxes are lodged under taxes and licenses account in cost of services and 

operating expenses in the statements of total comprehensive income.   

(h) Tax assessments and cases 
 
The Company has received letters of authority (LOAs) from the BIR for taxable years 2018 and 2017.  
These assessments were finalized and paid during 2021 through settlement of tax deficiencies and 
interests amounting to P351,219 and P2,932,393 for taxable years 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
There are no other outstanding tax assessments and cases under preliminary investigation, litigation 
and/or prosecution in courts or bodies outside the BIR as at December 31, 2021. 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Supplementary Schedules as Required by Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Schedules Description 

A Financial Assets 
B Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and 

Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties) 
C Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated during the 

Consolidation of the Financial Statements 
D Long Term Debt 
E Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from Related Companies) 
F Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
G Share Capital 
 Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration 
 A Map Showing the Relationships between and among the Parent Company and its 

Ultimate Parent Company, Middle Parent, Subsidiaries or Co-subsidiaries and 
Associates 

 Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicator 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule A - Financial Assets 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

 
Name of issuing entity and association of each 
issue 

Principal amount 
of bonds and 

notes 

Amount shown in 
the statement of 
financial position 

Income 
received and 

accrued 

Financial assets at amortized cost    
Cash in banks    
 BDO Unibank, Inc. - 8,299,214 5,765 
 Development Bank of the Philippines - 1,790,511  12,297 
 Security Bank Corporation - 693,677 600 
Short-term placements    
 Development Bank of the Philippines -  38,165,946 228,280 
Cash on hand -  65,000 - 

Total cash and cash equivalents - 49,014,348 246,942 
    
Trade and other receivables - 127,874,799 30,136 
    
Electric utility deposits - 6,580,541 - 
    
Security deposits - 5,279,310 - 
    
Restricted cash - 905,831 - 

Total financial assets - 189,654,829 277,078 

 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule B - Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal  
   Stockholders (Other than Related Parties) 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Name and designation of debtor 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year Additions 
Amounts 
collected 

Amounts 
written- 

off Current Non-current 

Balance at 
the end of  

the year 

Advances to directors, officers, 
employees* N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
        
Due from related parties        
 Citicore Renewable  
    Energy Corporation 129,887,214 135,963,734 - - - - 265,850,948 

Citicore Power, Inc.** 87,021,747 - (87,021,747) - - - - 

Total due from related parties 216,908,961 135,963,734 (87,021,747) - - - 265,850,948 

Trade receivables        
Citicore Solar Tarlac 1, Inc. - 9,681,801 (8,195,034) - - 1,486,767 1,486,767 
Citicore Solar Tarlac 2, Inc. - 8,092,091 (7,121,860) - - 970,231 970,231 

Total trade receivables - 17,773,892 (15,316,894) - - 2,456,998 2,456,998 

Total receivables from related parties 216,908,961 153,737,626 (102,338,641)  - - 2,456,998 268,307,946 

*As required by Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code, this schedule shall be filed with respect to each person among the directors, 
officers and employees from whom an aggregate indebtedness of more than P1 million or one percent (1%) of total assets, whichever is 
less, is owed for items arising outside the ordinary course of business. There were no advances with respect to each person among the 
directors, officers and employees amounting to more than P1 million outside the ordinary course of business as at December 31, 2021. 
 
**During 2021, the Company offset the intercompany receivables (except lease receivables) with intercompany payables and 
consolidated the ending balance to the Parent Company. 

 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule C - Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during the  
   consolidation of the financial statements  
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Name and 
designation of debtor 

Balance at 
beginning of 

year Additions 
Amounts 
collected 

Amounts 
written- 

off Current Non-current 

Balance at 
the end of 

the year 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule D - Long Term Debt 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Title of Issue 
and type of 
obligation 

Amount 
authorized 

by indenture 

Amount shown 
under caption 

"Current portion of 
long-term debt" in 

related balance 
sheet 

Amount shown 
under caption 

"long-term debt" 
in related balance 

sheet Notes 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule E - Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from Related Companies) 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

 
Name of related party 

Balance at the  
beginning of the year 

Balance at the  
end of the year 

Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation - 68,521,747 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule F - Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by 
the Company for which this 
statement is filed 

Title of issue of 
 each class of 

 securities 
 guaranteed 

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding 

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is filed 

Nature of 
guarantee 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule G - Share Capital 
December 31, 2021 
 

 

Title of issue 

Number of 
 authorized 

shares 
Number of issued 
 and outstanding 

Number of shares 
 reserved for 

 options, warrants, 
 conversion, and 

 other rights 

Number of shares 
 held by 

 related parties 

Directors, 
officers, 

 and employees Others 

Common shares 15,360,000,000 5,498,182,004 N/A 5,498,181,996 8 N/A 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration 

As at December 31, 2021 
(All amounts in Philippine Peso) 

 
 

Unappropriated retained earnings, as adjusted to available for 
 dividend declaration, beginning  25,104,725 
   
Add : Net income actually earned during the period   
Net income during the period closed to retained earnings  225,879,943  
   
   
Less:  Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax   

Equity in net income of associate/joint venture -  
Unrealized foreign exchange gain - net (except those  

attributable to cash and cash equivalents) 
 

-  
Unrealized actuarial gain -  
Fair value adjustment -  
Fair value adjustment of investment property  

resulting to gain 
 

-  
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS - gain -  
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained   
 earnings as a result of certain transactions 

accounted for under the PFRS 

 
 

-  
   
Add: Non-actual losses   

Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax) -  
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS - loss -  
Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property (after tax) -  

   
Net income actually earned during the period   225,879,943 
   
Add (Less):   
 Dividends declarations during the period -  
 Appropriations of retained earnings during the period -  
 Reversal of appropriation -  
 Effect of prior period adjustments -  
 Treasury shares - - 

Unappropriated retained earnings available for dividend 
   declaration, ending  250,984,668 

 
 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
A Map Showing the Relationships between and among the Company and its 

Ultimate Parent Company, Middle Parent, Subsidiaries or Co-subsidiaries and Associates 
December 31, 2021 

 
*See Schedule A 
 

 

Citicore Holdings 
Investment, Inc. 

(Citicore)

Megawide-World Citi 
Consortium, Inc. 

(MWCCI)

Megawide Construction 
Corporation and 

Subsidiaries 
(Megawide)

Citicore-Megawide 
Consortium, Inc. 

(CMCI)

Citicore
Infrastructure 
Holdings, Inc.

Globalcore
Equipment and 
Trading Limited 

(Globalcore)

MySpace Properties, 
Inc. 

Citicore Power Inc. 
and Subsidiaries* 

(CPI) 

49% 33.3% 90% 100% 100% 100% 

100% 

51% 10% 



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 

 
A Map Showing the Relationships between and among the Company and its 

Ultimate Parent Company, Middle Parent, Subsidiaries or 
Co-subsidiaries and Associates (Schedule A) 

December 31, 2021 
 

 
 

 
 

Note: The table above is not an exclusive enumeration of the subsidiaries of CPI. 
 

   



 

 

Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
(Formerly Enfinity Philippines Renewable Resources Inc.) 
(A subsidiary of Citicore Renewable Energy Corporation) 
 
Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicator  
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
 

 

 

 
a Current assets/current liabilities 
b Cash and cash equivalents + Trade and other receivables, net/Current liabilities 
c Net operating profit after tax + depreciation and amortization/Loans payable 
d Loans payable/ Total equity 
e Total assets/ Total equity 
f Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization/Interest expense 
g Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization/Current loan payable + Interest expense + Current lease liabilities 
h Short-term and long-term bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents/Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
i Net income attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company/Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
j Total equity less Preferred Equity/Total number of shares outstanding 
k Net income attributable to owners of the Company/Average total assets 
l Net income attributable to owners of the Company/Average total equity 
mNet income/Revenue 

 2021 2020 

Current ratioa 1.33x 1.36x 
Acid test ratiob 0.84x 1.31x 
Solvency ratioc - 0.22x 
Debt-to-equity ratiod - 1.83x 
Asset-to-equity ratioe 1.17x 3.15x 
Interest rate coverage ratiof 9.61x 3.56x 
Debt service coverage ratiog 9.21x 1.19x 
Net debt/ EBITDAh (0.17)x 4.23x 
Earnings per share (Php)i 0.08 0.04 
Book value per sharej 0.30 8.06 
Return on assetsk 12.24% 6.00% 
Return on equityl 20.60% 20.29% 
Net profit marginm 64.12% 38.69% 



Citicore Energy REIT Corp. 
Aging of Receivables 
As of December 31, 2021 
 

 Current 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 91-120 
days 

121-150 
days 

151-180 
days 

Over 180 
days 

Total 

          

AR Transco 41,892,701 - - - - - - - 41,892,701 

          

Total 41,892,701 - - - - - - - 41,892,701 
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L�@�
�@�������	���@�����������I�D��C������	���������E�@��L@����CI@��@����@��C
������BLI�
F

��C�@��������������������C
�@����������I@����C������B
I�F����@�C��C������
�@���������C
@�N�C�

����
���@����H�����	����@��������������N����E��s

/����%�&��� t,�����= u��� 


	�����������������	��LI�
��	��	����������C�@�
@����� v v


I�����@�C v v

/1wxy#��.#�� #5�  �� #>���$�*���#z�����&"#��#5�&�+#/�**,����� 


�{�G��C�����������@����C�CE����N�������
�@���@���	�������������@��N�@��������


@��@�����C�CN�������D�	�@��	���@@���C���������������@�E��������@�����
�������C�@����	�

�������
��C����|G	�?@��
	����
�������C���������}E���C�������N�����D���	���@������
@��@���

��C
@�N���������	���@�	�
���C��
��������

�@��������������������������D��
@������������N�

�@���	��@���C��	���@�����	�@���	�������C�
@�
�@������@��������C|



���������	
��

��
�
���	�����������	���
�
	��������	��	�
����	����
�����
�
����	����
�

����������
��
�
��
�������
���	�����
����	��
���
�������
	����	���
�������	��	��������� �


�����
����������
	��!�
��

��	���������	�	���

�������������
�����
��!"
�!!�������	�
����


�
	���������
���

���	�
�
������
��
��
�����	���	��
��
������	�	�������
�����������
#���	���

��$	��$!�	�
�$���$����$����
	���	��
$!�
$��	��	���$���������	$��$�����$���%�
$�	
$��

��
�

��
	���
$&��������	

'()*+,-./01*2)314*2+5

6789:;8<=> ?9;=> 67@ABACD7=@AEB=CFA9;G@<9C

CD>A9<8C;H>=A8BC78IB9C7;G
8C<@FAJKLMNO

��
	���
$
�	�
!��	��� P Q

R-1S*T/15U/013-*V

6789:;8<=> W<BGC7CF XG7C8

Q��$�!$
��
	��	��	��$��������	
$��$�
����	$�
$
�
����

����	�$���$
�!�	�Y

Z [

Q��$�!$��������	
$���
�

�� Z [

\0(])*15*21*-U/4+,̂ S125*)/254S(U-/4+,̂ S125*)/3.+,/4()*+,-.)/*T1*/_-5*/*T.+(̀T/*T-/+.̀152a1*2+5b)

3+.,1S/4+,,(5241*2+5/4T155-S)/15U/̀.2-c154-/,-4T152),)/1)/_-SS/1)/4+,̂ S125*)/*T1*/_-.-/S+Ù-U/*+
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	Exhibit “1”
	PROCEDURE FOR VOTING AND PARTICIPATION VIA REMOTE COMMUNICATION

